## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

## **SCHEDULE TO**

Tender Offer Statement under Section 14(d)(1) or 13(e)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

## IMPERIAL OIL LIMITED

(Name of Subject Company (Issuer))

## IMPERIAL OIL LIMITED

(Filing Person(s) (Offeror(s))

#### Common Stock, without par value

(Title of Class of Securities)

## 453038408

(CUSIP Number of Class of Securities)

Ian Laing
Vice-President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
505 Quarry Park Boulevard S.E.
Calgary, Alberta
Canada T2C 5N1
(800) 567-3776

(Name, address and telephone number of person authorized to receive notices and communications on behalf of the filing person)

Copies to:

Patrick S. Brown
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
1888 Century Park East
21st Floor
Los Angeles, California 90067
(310) 712-6603

Check the box if the filing relates solely to preliminary communications made before the commencement of a tender offer.								
Check the appropriate boxes below to designate any transactions to which the statement relates:								
third-party tender offer subject to Rule 14d-1.								
issuer tender offer subject to Rule 13e-4.								
going-private transaction subject to Rule 13e-3.								
amendment to Schedule 13D under Rule 13d-2.								
Check the following box if the filing is a final amendment reporting the results of the tender offer:								
Check the appropriate boxes below to designate any transactions to which the statement relates:								
Rule 13e-4(i) (Cross-Border Issuer Tender Offer).								
Rule 14d-1(d) (Cross-Border Third-Party Tender Offer).								

This Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO (this "Schedule TO") relates to the offer by Imperial Oil Limited, a Canadian corporation (the "Company"), to purchase for cash up to C\$1,500,000,000 in value of shares of the Company's common stock, without par value, net to the seller in cash, without interest thereon, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Offer to Purchase dated November 4, 2022 (the "Offer to Purchase"), together with the accompanying issuer bid circular (the "Issuer Bid Circular"), and in the related Letter of Transmittal, copies of which are attached as Exhibits (a)(1)(i) and (a)(1)(ii) (which, together with any amendments or supplements thereto, collectively constitute the "Offer").

This Schedule TO is being filed on behalf of the Company. The information set forth in the Offer to Purchase, the Issuer Bid Circular and the related Letter of Transmittal is incorporated herein by reference with respect to Items 1 through 9 and 11 of this Schedule TO. The exhibits identified in Item 12 and attached hereto are incorporated herein by reference with respect to Items 5 and 11 of this Schedule TO.

#### ITEM 1. SUMMARY TERM SHEET.

The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" is incorporated herein by reference.

## ITEM 2. SUBJECT COMPANY INFORMATION.

- (a) **Name and Address**: The name of the issuer is Imperial Oil Limited. The address of the Company's principal executive offices is 505 Quarry Park Boulevard S.E., Calgary, AB, Canada T2C 5N1. The Company's telephone number is (800) 567-3776.
- (b) **Securities**: This Schedule TO relates to the Shares of the Company. As of October 31, 2022, there were 604,842,373 issued and outstanding Shares. The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "The Offer" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (c) **Trading Market and Price**: The information set forth in the section of the Issuer Bid Circular titled "Price Range of Shares" is incorporated herein by reference.

#### ITEM 3. IDENTITY AND BACKGROUND OF FILING PERSON.

(a) **Name and Address**: Imperial Oil Limited. is the filing person and issuer. The information set forth in Item 2(a) is incorporated herein by reference.

## ITEM 4. TERMS OF THE TRANSACTION.

- (a) **Material Terms**: The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" and in Section 1 ("The Offer"), Section 2 ("Purchase Price"), Section 3 ("Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders"), Section 4 ("Announcement of Results of the Offer"), Section 5 ("Procedure for Depositing Shares"), Section 6 ("Withdrawal Rights"), Section 7 ("Certain Condition of the Offer"), Section 8 ("Extension and Variation of the Offer"), Section 9 ("Taking Up and Payment for Deposited Shares") and Section 11 ("Liens and Dividends") of the Offer to Purchase and Section 9 ("Interest of Directors and Officers") Section 13 ("Income Tax Considerations") and Section 15 ("Source of Funds") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) **Purchases**: The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" is incorporated herein by reference. The information set forth in Section 1 ("The Offer") of the Offer to Purchase and Section 9 ("Interest of Directors and Officers") and Section 10 ("Arrangements Concerning Shares") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.

## ITEM 5. PAST CONTACTS, TRANSACTIONS, NEGOTIATIONS AND AGREEMENTS.

(a) **Agreements Involving the Subject Company's Securities**: The information set forth in Section 9 ("Interest of Directors and Officers") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.

## ITEM 6. PURPOSES OF THE TRANSACTION AND PLANS OR PROPOSALS.

- (a) **Purposes**: The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" and Section 3 ("Purpose and Effect of the Offer") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) Use of the Securities Acquired: The information set forth in Section 3 ("Purpose and Effect of the Offer") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.
- (c) **Plans**: The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" and in Section 7 ("Certain Conditions of the Offer"), and in Section 3 ("Purpose and Effects of the Offer"), Section 4 ("Price Range of Shares"), Section 5 ("Dividend Policy"), Section 9 ("Interest of Directors and Officers") and Section 11 ("Material Changes in the Affairs of the Company") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.

#### ITEM 7. SOURCE AND AMOUNT OF FUNDS OR OTHER CONSIDERATION.

- (a) **Source of Funds**: The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" and in Section 15 ("Source of Funds") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) **Conditions**: The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" and in Section 7 ("Certain Conditions of the Offer") of the Offer to Purchase is incorporated herein by reference.
- (d) **Borrowed Funds**: The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" is incorporated herein by reference. The information set forth in Section 15 ("Source of Funds") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.

#### ITEM 8. INTEREST IN SECURITIES OF THE SUBJECT COMPANY.

- (a) **Securities Ownership**: The information set forth in Section 6 ("Previous Purchases of Shares"), Section 7 ("Previous Sales of Securities"), Section 8 ("Previous Distributions of Shares"), Section 9 ("Interest of Directors and Officers") and Section 10 ("Arrangements Concerning Shares") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) **Securities Transactions**: The information set forth in Section 6 ("Previous Purchases of Shares"), Section 7 ("Previous Sales of Securities"), Section 8 ("Previous Distributions of Shares"), Section 9 ("Interest of Directors and Officers") and Section 10 ("Arrangements Concerning Shares") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.

#### ITEM 9. PERSONS/ASSETS, RETAINED, EMPLOYED, COMPENSATED OR USED.

(a) The information set forth in the section of the Offer to Purchase titled "Summary" and in Section 17 ("Depositary") and Section 18 ("Fees and Expenses") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.

#### ITEM 10. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Not applicable.

#### ITEM 11. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

- (a)(1) The information set forth in Section 6 ("Previous Purchases of Shares"), Section 7 ("Previous Sales of Securities"), Section 8 ("Previous Distributions of Shares"), Section 9 ("Interest of Directors and Officers") and Section 10 ("Arrangements Concerning Shares") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.
- (a)(2) The information set forth in Section 14 ("Legal Matters and Regulatory Approvals") of the Issuer Bid Circular is incorporated herein by reference.

- (a)(3) Not applicable.
- (a)(4) Not applicable.
- (a)(5) None.

(c) The information set forth in the Offer to Purchase and the related Letter of Transmittal, copies of which are filed as Exhibits (a)(l)(i) and (a)(l)(ii) hereto, respectively, as each may be amended or supplemented from time to time, is incorporated herein by reference. The Company will amend this Schedule TO to include documents that the Company may file with the SEC after the date of the Offer to Purchase pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c) or 14 of the Exchange Act and prior to the expiration of the Offer to the extent required by Rule 13e-4(d)(2) promulgated under the Exchange Act. The information contained in all of the exhibits referred to in Item 12 below is incorporated herein by reference.

#### ITEM 12. EXHIBITS.

- (a)(1)(i) Offer to Purchase, dated November 4, 2022, together with the Issuer Bid Circular.\*(a)(1)(ii) Form of Letter of Transmittal.\*
- (a)(1)(iii) Form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.\*
- (a)(1)(iv) Form of Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.†
- (a)(1)(v) Summary Advertisement as published on November 4, 2022 in the Wall Street Journal.\*
- (a)(5)(i) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).
- (a)(5)(ii) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).
- (a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).
- (a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).
- (d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).
- (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).
- (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).
- (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).

- (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).
- (d)(vi) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (File No. 0-12014)).
- (g) None.
- (h) None.
- 99.1 Material Change Report, dated November 4, 2022.\*
- 107 Filing Fee Table.\*

## ITEM 13. INFORMATION REQUIRED BY SCHEDULE 13E-3.

Not applicable.

<sup>†</sup> Included in mailing to shareholders.

<sup>\*</sup> Filed herewith.

## **SIGNATURES**

After due inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set forth in this statement is true, complete and correct.

## **Imperial Oil Limited**

By:

/s/ Ian Laing
Name: Ian Laing Name:

Vice President, General Counsel and Title:

Corporate Secretary

Date: November 4, 2022

## **EXHIBIT INDEX**

<ul> <li>(a)(1)(i) Offer to Purchase, dated November 4, 2022, together with the Issuer Bid Circular.*</li> <li>(a)(1)(ii) Form of Letter of Transmittal.*</li> <li>(a)(1)(iii) Form of Motice of Guaranteed Delivery.*</li> <li>(a)(1)(iv) Form of Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.†</li> <li>(a)(1)(v) Summary Advertisement as published on November 4, 2022 in the Wall Street Journal.*</li> <li>(a)(5)(i) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022.</li> <li>(a)(5)(ii) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022.</li> <li>(a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022.</li> <li>(a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022.</li> <li>(d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).</li> <li>(d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).</li> <li>(d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effectiv</li></ul>	<b>Exhibit</b>	
<ul> <li>(a)(1)(iii) Form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.*</li> <li>(a)(1)(iv) Form of Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.†</li> <li>(a)(1)(v) Summary Advertisement as published on November 4, 2022 in the Wall Street Journal.*</li> <li>(a)(5)(i) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).</li> <li>(a)(5)(ii) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).</li> <li>(a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).</li> <li>(a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).</li> <li>(d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).</li> <li>(d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).</li> <li>(d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)</li></ul>	(a)(1)(i)	Offer to Purchase, dated November 4, 2022, together with the Issuer Bid Circular.*
(a)(1)(iv) Form of Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.†  (a)(1)(v) Summary Advertisement as published on November 4, 2022 in the Wall Street Journal.*  (a)(5)(i) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).  (a)(5)(ii) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).  (a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (d)(i) Promof Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).  (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by refe	(a)(1)(ii)	Form of Letter of Transmittal.*
(a)(1)(v) Summary Advertisement as published on November 4, 2022 in the Wall Street Journal.*  (a)(5)(i) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).  (a)(5)(ii) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).  (a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).  (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (	(a)(1)(iii)	Form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.*
<ul> <li>(a)(5)(i) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).</li> <li>(a)(5)(ii) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).</li> <li>(a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).</li> <li>(a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).</li> <li>(d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).</li> <li>(d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).</li> <li>(d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).</li> <li>(d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).</li> <li< td=""><td>(a)(1)(iv)</td><td></td></li<></ul>	(a)(1)(iv)	
(Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).  (a)(5)(ii) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).  (a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).  (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated	(a)(1)(v)	Summary Advertisement as published on November 4, 2022 in the Wall Street Journal.*
(Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).  (a)(5)(iii) Transcript of earnings release conference call of the Company on October 28, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).  (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).	(a)(5)(i)	(Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the
(Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (a)(5)(iv) Pre-Commencement Press Release issued by the Company on October 31, 2022 (Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).  (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(vi) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the		(Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022).
(Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the Company on Schedule TO, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2022).  (d)(i) Form of Letter relating to Supplemental Retirement Income (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).  (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the		
reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1980 (File No. 2-9259)).  (d)(ii) Deferred Share Unit Plan for Nonemployee Directors (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(vi) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the	(a)(5)(iv)	(Incorporated herein by reference to the pre-commencement communication of the
Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iii) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2011 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(vi) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the	(d)(i)	reference to Exhibit (10)(c)(3) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2012 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(iv) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(vi) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the	(d)(ii)	Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(v) Amended Short Term Incentive Program with respect to awards granted in 2016 and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(vi) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the	(d)(iii)	and subsequent years, as amended effective November 14, 2011 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 23,
subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File No. 0-12014)).  (d)(vi) Amended Restricted Stock Unit Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units granted in 2020 and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the	(d)(iv)	and subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31,
and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the	(d)(v)	subsequent years, as amended effective October 26, 2016 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9.01(c)[10(iii)(A)(1)] of the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016 (File
year ended December 31, 2020 (File No. 0-12014)).	(d)(vi)	and subsequent years, as amended effective November 24, 2020 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(iii)(A)(6) of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
99.1 Material Change Report, dated November 4, 2022.*	99.1	Material Change Report, dated November 4, 2022.*
107 Filing Fee Table.*	107	Filing Fee Table.*

Included in mailing to shareholders. Filed herewith.

This document is important and requires your immediate attention. If you are in any doubt as to how to deal with it, you should consult your investment dealer, stock broker, bank manager, lawyer or other professional advisor.

This document does not constitute an offer or a solicitation to any Person in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. The Offer (as defined below) is not being made to Shareholders (as defined below) in any jurisdiction in which the making of the Offer would not be in compliance with the laws of such jurisdiction. However, Imperial Oil Limited may, in its sole discretion, take such action as it may deem necessary to make the Offer in any such jurisdiction and to extend the Offer to Shareholders in such jurisdiction.

This Offer has not been approved by any securities regulatory authority nor has any securities regulatory authority passed upon the fairness or merits of the Offer or upon the adequacy of the information contained in this document. Any representation to the contrary is an offense.

For U.S. Shareholders: The Offer is made by a Canadian issuer, for its own Shares (as defined below), and while the Offer is subject to the disclosure requirements of the province of Alberta and the other provinces of Canada, U.S. Shareholders should be aware that these disclosure requirements are different from those of the United States. The enforcement by U.S. Shareholders of civil liabilities under U.S. federal and state securities laws may be adversely affected by the fact that Imperial is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act and located in Canada, and that certain of its directors and officers and the experts named in the Offer are non-residents of the United States.

November 4, 2022



# OFFER TO PURCHASE FOR CASH UP TO C\$1,500,000,000 IN VALUE OF ITS COMMON SHARES AT A PURCHASE PRICE OF NOT LESS THAN C\$72.50 AND NOT MORE THAN C\$87.00 PER COMMON SHARE

Imperial Oil Limited ("Imperial" or the "Company") hereby offers to purchase for cancellation a number of common shares of the Company (the "Shares") for an aggregate purchase price not exceeding \$1,500,000,000. The purchase price of any Share taken up by the Company (the "Purchase Price") will be determined in the manner described below but will not be less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share.

The offer by the Company is subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this offer to purchase (the "Offer to Purchase"), the accompanying issuer bid circular (the "Circular"), and the related letter of transmittal (the "Letter of Transmittal") and notice of guaranteed delivery (the "Notice of Guaranteed Delivery") (which together constitute, and are herein referred to as, the "Offer").

The Offer commences on the date hereof and expires at 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 9, 2022, or at such later time and date to which the Offer may be extended by the Company (the "**Expiration Date**"), unless withdrawn. The Offer is not conditional upon any minimum number of Shares being properly deposited under the Offer. The Offer is, however, subject to other conditions and the Company reserves the right, subject to applicable laws, to withdraw, extend or vary the Offer if, at any time prior to the payment of any Shares, certain events occur. See Section 7 of the Offer to Purchase, "Certain Conditions of the Offer".

Holders of Shares (the "Shareholders") wishing to tender to the Offer may do so pursuant to:

- auction tenders in which the tendering Shareholders specify the number of Shares being tendered at a specified price (the "Auction Price") of not less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share in increments of \$0.25 per Share (the "Auction Tenders"):
- purchase price tenders in which the tendering Shareholders do not specify a price per Share, but rather
  agree to have a specified number of Shares purchased at the Purchase Price to be determined
  pursuant to the Offer (the "Purchase Price Tenders"), understanding that if they make a Purchase
  Price Tender such Shares will be deemed to have been tendered at the minimum price of \$72.50;
- proportionate tenders in which the tendering Shareholders agree to sell to the Company, at the Purchase Price to be determined pursuant to the Offer, a number of Shares that will result in them maintaining their respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer (the "Proportionate Tenders").

Promptly following the Expiration Date, the Company will determine the Purchase Price, representing a single price per Share, which will not be less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share, taking into account the Auction Prices and the number of Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders. The Purchase Price will be the lowest price that enables the Company to purchase that number of Shares pursuant to valid Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price not to exceed an amount (the "Auction Tender Limit Amount") equal to (i) \$1,500,000,000 less (ii) the product of (A) \$1,500,000,000 and (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate number of Shares owned by Shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders, and the denominator of which is the aggregate number of Shares outstanding at the time of the Expiration Date. If the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer), the maximum number of Shares that may be purchased by the Company is 20,689,655 Shares. If the Purchase Price is determined to be \$87.00 (which is the maximum price per Share under the Offer), the maximum number of Shares that may be purchased by the Company is 17,241,379 Shares. For the purpose of determining the Purchase Price, Shares tendered pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price of \$72.50 per Share (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer). Shares tendered pursuant to a Proportionate Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price per Share equal to the Purchase Price. Shares tendered by a Shareholder pursuant to an Auction Tender will not be purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer if the price per Share specified by the Shareholder is greater than the Purchase Price. Shareholders who validly tender Shares without specifying the method in which they are tendering their shares, or who make an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. Shareholders who wish to deposit Shares without specifying a price at which such Shares may be purchased by the Company should tender Shares in a Purchase Price Tender. Under a Purchase Price Tender, Shares will be purchased, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, at the Purchase Price determined as provided herein.

Each Shareholder who has properly deposited Shares pursuant to an Auction Tender at or below the Purchase Price, a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender and who has not withdrawn such shares will receive the Purchase Price, payable in cash (subject to applicable withholding taxes, if any), for all Shares purchased upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, including the provisions relating to proration and the preferential acceptance of odd lots described herein.

The Purchase Price will be payable in Canadian dollars; however, Shareholders may elect to receive the Purchase Price in United States dollars as described in the Offer. The risk of any fluctuation in exchange rates, including risks relating to the particular date and time at which funds are converted, will be borne solely by the Shareholder wishing to receive payment in United States dollars.

If the aggregate purchase price for Shares validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to Auction Tenders at Auction Prices at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders (collectively, the "Auction Tender Purchase Amount") is less than or equal to the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price all Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders.

If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase a portion of the Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders, as follows: (i) first, the Company will purchase all Shares tendered at or below the Purchase Price by Shareholders who own fewer than 100 Shares (the "Odd Lot Holders") at the Purchase Price; and (ii) second, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price on a pro rata basis that portion of the Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price, based on the Purchase Price, equal to (A) the Auction Tender Limit Amount, less (B) the aggregate amount paid by

the Company for Shares tendered by Odd Lot Holders. Regardless of proration, the Company will always purchase at the Purchase Price, payable in cash (subject to applicable withholding taxes, if any), a number of Shares from Shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders that results in such tendering Shareholders maintaining their respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer (subject to nominal differences due to the quantity of Shares purchased from such Shareholders being rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares to avoid the purchase of fractional Shares). If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is equal to or greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will repurchase a total number of Shares having an aggregate purchase price equal to \$1,500,000,000.000. If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is less than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will repurchase a total number of Shares having an aggregate purchase price equal to the product of (i) \$1,500,000,000 and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the Auction Tender Purchase Amount, and the denominator of which is the Auction Tender Limit Amount.

If no Auction Tenders or Purchase Price Tenders are made pursuant to the Offer, no Shares will be purchased by the Company (unless all Shareholders make valid Proportionate Tenders, in which case all Shares purchased will be purchased for \$72.50 per Share).

All Auction Tenders, Purchase Price Tenders and Proportionate Tenders will be subject to adjustment to avoid the purchase of fractional Shares. All payments to Shareholders will be subject to deduction of applicable withholding taxes. See Section 3 of the Offer to Purchase, "Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders".

Certificates for all Shares not purchased under the Offer (including Shares not purchased because of proration and Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices in excess of the Purchase Price), or properly withdrawn before the Expiration Date, will be returned (in the case of certificates representing Shares all of which are not purchased) or replaced with new certificates representing the balance of Shares not purchased (in the case of certificates representing Shares of which less than all are purchased), promptly after the Expiration Date or termination of the Offer or the date of withdrawal of the Shares, without expense to the Shareholder. In the case of Shares tendered through book-entry transfer, such Shares will be credited to the appropriate account, without expense to the Shareholder.

Exxon Mobil Corporation ("ExxonMobil" or the "Principal Shareholder") is the beneficial owner of 420,969,855 Shares, which represents approximately 69.6% of all issued and outstanding Shares. The Principal Shareholder has advised the Company that it will make a Proportionate Tender.

As of October 31, 2022, there were 604,842,373 Shares issued and outstanding. The Offer would be for approximately 3.4% of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer) or approximately 2.9% of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$87.00 (which is the maximum price per Share under the Offer).

The Shares are listed and posted for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the "TSX") under the symbol "IMO" and have unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American LLC ("NYSE American") under the symbol "IMO". On October 27, 2022, the last full trading day prior to the date of announcement of the Company's intention to make the Offer, the closing price of the Shares on the TSX was \$67.47 per Share and US\$49.80 per Share on NYSE American. The lowest price that the Company may pay for Shares pursuant to the Offer is \$72.50 per Share, which is below the closing price of the Shares on the TSX of \$74.11 per Share on October 31, 2022. During the twelve months ended October 31, 2022, the closing prices of the Shares on the TSX have ranged from a low of \$41.19 to a high of \$74.11 per Share and on the NYSE American have ranged from a low of US\$32.86 to a high of US\$57.76 per Share.

In accordance with Multilateral Instrument 61-101 – *Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special Transactions*, the Company has determined that: (i) a liquid market existed for the Shares at the time of the Offer, and (ii) it is reasonable to conclude that, following the completion of the Offer in accordance with its terms, there will be a market for holders of Shares who do not tender to the Offer that is not materially less liquid than the market that existed at the time of the making of the Offer. The board of directors of Imperial (the "Board of Directors") has also obtained, on a voluntary basis, an opinion from RBC Capital Markets as of October 31, 2022 which, subject to the qualifications, assumptions and restrictions set out therein, confirms the determination of the Company with respect to market liquidity. A copy of the opinion is attached hereto as Schedule A.

The Board of Directors has approved the Offer. However, none of Imperial, the Special Committee (as defined below) or the Board of Directors (as defined below), the Dealer Manager (as defined below) or the Depositary (as defined below) makes any recommendation to any Shareholder as to whether to deposit or refrain from

depositing Shares under the Offer. Shareholders are urged to evaluate carefully all information in the Offer, consult their own financial, legal, investment and tax advisors and make their own decisions as to whether to deposit Shares under the Offer, how many Shares to deposit and whether to specify a price and, if so, at what price to deposit such Shares. No director or officer of the Company has advised the Company that he or she intends to deposit Shares under the Offer. See Section 3 "Purpose and Effect of the Offer", Section 9 "Interest of Directors and Officers – Ownership of Imperial's Securities" and Section 10 "Arrangements Concerning Shares – Acceptance of the Offer" of the Circular.

Shareholders should carefully consider the income tax consequences of having Shares being purchased under the Offer. See Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations".

Shareholders wishing to deposit all or any portion of their Shares pursuant to the Offer must comply in all respects with the delivery procedures described herein. See Section 5 of the Offer to Purchase, "Procedure for Depositing Shares".

On May 6, 2022, the Company commenced a substantial issuer bid (the "Q2 2022 SIB") pursuant to which it offered to purchase for cancellation up to \$2.5 billion of its Shares through a modified Dutch auction and proportionate tender offer. The Q2 2022 SIB expired on June 10, 2022, with the Company repurchasing and cancelling a total of 32,467,532 Shares at a price of \$77.00 per share, for a total consideration of \$2.5 billion. On June 29, 2022, the Company commenced a normal course issuer bid to repurchase up to 31,833,809 Shares during the next 12 months (the "2022 NCIB"). On July 29, 2022, the Company announced plans to accelerate Share repurchases under the 2022 NCIB, and the purchase and cancellation of all Shares available under the 2022 NCIB were completed by October 21, 2022. A total of 31,833,809 Shares were repurchased and cancelled pursuant to the 2022 NCIB for a total consideration of approximately \$1,945 million. See Sections 3 and 6 of the Circular, "Purpose and Effect of the Offer" and "Previous Purchases of Shares".

NO PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO MAKE ANY RECOMMENDATION ON BEHALF OF IMPERIAL AS TO WHETHER YOU SHOULD DEPOSIT OR REFRAIN FROM DEPOSITING SHARES PURSUANT TO THE OFFER. NO PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR TO MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH IN THIS OFFER. IF GIVEN OR MADE, ANY SUCH RECOMMENDATION OR ANY SUCH INFORMATION OR REPRESENTATION MUST NOT BE RELIED UPON AS HAVING BEEN AUTHORIZED BY IMPERIAL.

No Canadian, U.S. or foreign securities commission has approved or disapproved of this Offer or passed upon the merits or fairness of this Offer or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the information contained in this Offer. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Any questions or requests for information regarding the Offer should be directed to Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the "**Depositary**") or RBC Capital Markets (the "**Dealer Manager**") at the addresses and telephone numbers of the Depositary or the Dealer Manager set forth on the last page of the accompanying Circular.

The Offer will expire at 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 9, 2022, unless extended or withdrawn.

The Depositary for the Offer is: Computershare Investor Services Inc.

Regular Mail:
Computershare Investor Services Inc.
P.O. Box 7023
31 Adelaide Street East
Toronto, ON M5C 3H2
Attention: Corporate Actions

Registered Mail, Hand or Courier 100 University Avenue, 8<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1 Attention: Corporate Actions

For inquiries only:
Telephone (outside North America): 1 (514) 982-7555
Toll Free (within North America): 1 (800) 564-6253
Email: corporateactions@computershare.com

The Dealer Manager for the Offer is: RBC Capital Markets

Royal Bank Plaza, South Tower 200 Bay Street, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto, ON M5J 2W7

Email: ImperialSIB@rbccm.com

#### **DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE**

The following documents, which have been filed with the securities regulatory authorities in Canada and filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), are specifically incorporated by reference in this Offer:

- our material change report dated November 4, 2022 related to this Offer;
- our material change reports dated May 6, 2022 and June 15, 2022 related to the Q2 2022 SIB;
- each of our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for each of the three month periods ended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022:
- our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three, six and nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:
- our management's discussion and analysis for the three, six and nine month periods ended September 30, 2022
- · our notice of annual meeting of shareholders dated March 16, 2022;
- our management proxy circular dated March 16, 2022 related to our annual meeting of shareholders held on May 3, 2022:
- our current report on Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2022 (but only to the extent of Item 5.07 therein);
- our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021;
- our audited annual consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and the accompanying auditor's report thereon; and
- our management's discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2021.

All documents of the Company of the type referred to above (excluding confidential material change reports, if any) and business acquisition reports that it files with the securities regulatory authorities in Canada after the date of this Offer and prior to the termination of the Offer shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Offer and the Company shall file an amendment to the Schedule TO filed with the SEC in connection with the Offer to include such documents as exhibits to its Schedule TO. Any statement contained in this Offer or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purposes of this Offer to the extent that a statement contained herein, or in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, modifies or supersedes that statement. The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Offer.

You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this Offer. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different or additional information. You should not assume that the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this Offer is accurate as of any date other than the date of this Offer to Purchase or Circular.

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Information has been incorporated by reference in this Offer to Purchase and Circular from documents filed with the securities regulatory authorities in Canada and the United States. Copies of the documents incorporated by reference in this Offer to Purchase and Circular may be obtained upon written or oral request without charge upon request to the Vice-President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of the Company, Mr. I.R. (Ian) Laing, at the head office: 505 Quarry Park Boulevard S.E., Calgary, Alberta T2C 5N1.

You may also access our disclosure documents and any reports, statements or other information that we file with the securities regulatory authorities in each of the provinces of Canada through the Internet on the Canadian System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval ("SEDAR") and which may be accessed at www.sedar.com. SEDAR is the Canadian equivalent of the SEC's Electronic Document Gathering and Retrieval System ("EDGAR") and which may be accessed at www.sec.gov. In addition to our continuous disclosure obligations under the securities laws of the provinces of Canada, we are subject to the information requirements of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and, in accordance with the Exchange Act, we file with and furnish to the SEC reports and other information. We have filed with the SEC an Issuer Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with respect to the Offer pursuant to Section 13(e)(1) of the Exchange Act.

You are invited to read and copy any reports, statements or other information that the Company files with the securities regulatory authorities in each of the provinces of Canada at their respective public reference rooms. Reports and other information about us may also be available for inspection at the office of the NYSE American.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Offer and the documents incorporated by reference herein constitute "forwardlooking statements" within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws. Specific forward-looking statements in this document include, but are not limited to: statements about the Offer, including the terms and conditions of the Offer, the aggregate amount of Shares to be purchased for cancellation under the Offer, the expected expiration date of the Offer, the time by which the Company will pay for tendered Shares, the market for the Shares after completion of the Offer not being materially less liquid than the market that exists at the time of the making of the Offer, future purchases of additional Shares following expiry of the Offer, the Company's expectation that it will fund any purchases of Shares pursuant to the Offer from cash on hand, the Company continuing to have sufficient financial resources and working capital and the Offer not being expected to preclude the Company from pursuing its foreseeable business opportunities or the future growth of the Company's business, the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the Offer, the intention of the Principal Shareholder to make a Proportionate Tender and the extent to which Shareholders determine to deposit their Shares to the Offer, the intentions of the Company's officers and directors to participate in the Offer, the purchase of the Shares under the Offer being in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders, the Company's status as a reporting issuer and the continued listing of the Shares on the TSX and unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American, the receipt of exemptive relief from the SEC to allow for the proration contemplated by the Offer and the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Offer. When used in this Offer or the documents incorporated by reference herein, the words "may", "will", "would", "should", "could", "expects", "forecasts", "plans", "intends", "trends", "indications", "anticipates", "believes", "estimates", "outlook", "predicts", "projects", "likely", "potential", "propose", "goal", "seek", "target", "strategy", "schedule", "future", "continue" and similar references to future periods or the negative or other variations of these words or other comparable words or phrases, are intended to identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and, by their very nature, involve a number of inherent risks and uncertainties, some that are similar to other oil and gas companies and some that are unique to the Company. Forward-looking statements are based on the Company's current expectations, estimates, projections and assumptions, both general and specific, made by the Company in light of its experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that the Company believes are appropriate and reasonable in the circumstances. The Company cautions that there can be no assurance that such assumptions will prove to be correct or that the Company's expectations regarding this Offer or the Company's business guidance, objectives, plans and strategic priorities will be achieved.

Many factors could cause the Company's expectations regarding this Offer or the Company's actual future financial and operating results, including expectations and assumptions concerning future energy demand, supply and mix; commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and general market conditions; production rates, growth and mix across various assets; project plans, timing, costs, technical evaluations and capacities, and the company's ability to effectively execute on these plans and operate its assets; receipt of regulatory approvals on the timeline anticipated; the adoption and impact of new facilities or technologies on capital efficiency, production and reductions to greenhouse gas emissions intensity: that any required support from policymakers and other stakeholders for various new technologies such as carbon capture and storage will be provided; applicable laws and government policies, including taxation, restrictions in response to COVID-19 and with respect to climate change and greenhouse gas emissions reductions; performance of third-party service providers; refinery utilization and product sales; cash generation, financing sources and capital structure, such as dividends and shareholder returns, including the timing and amounts of share repurchases; capital and environmental expenditures; evolution of COVID-19 and its impacts on Imperial's ability to operate its assets; to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These factors include, without limitation: global, regional or local changes in supply and demand for oil, natural gas, petroleum and petrochemical products, feedstocks and other market or economic conditions and resulting demand, price, differential and margin impacts; transportation for accessing markets; political or regulatory events, including changes in law or government policy, applicable royalty rates, tax laws, and actions in response to COVID-19; the receipt, in a timely manner, of regulatory and third-party approvals; environmental risks inherent in oil and gas activities; environmental regulation, including climate change and greenhouse gas regulation and changes to such regulation; failure or delay of supportive policy and market development for emerging lower emission energy technologies; third-party opposition to company and service provider operations, projects and infrastructure; availability and allocation of capital; availability and performance of third-party service providers, including in light of restrictions related to COVID-19; unanticipated technical or operational difficulties; management effectiveness and disaster response preparedness, including business continuity plans in response to COVID-19; commercial negotiations; project management and schedules and timely completion of projects; unexpected technological developments; the results of research programs and new technologies, including with respect to greenhouse gas emissions, and the ability to bring new technologies to commercial scale on a cost-competitive basis; reservoir analysis and performance; operational hazards and risks; cybersecurity incidents; currency exchange rates; the pace of regional and global economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and the occurrence and severity of future outbreaks and variants; general economic conditions, including the occurrence and duration of economic recessions; and other factors discussed in Item 1A Risk Factors and Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated February 23, 2022 and the Company's quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for each of the three month periods ended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022, each of which is incorporated by reference in this cautionary statement.

These factors are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect the Company; however, these factors should be considered carefully. Other factors could also cause the Company's expectations regarding the Offer to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

The purpose of the forward-looking statements is to provide the reader with a description of management's expectations and may not be appropriate for other purposes; readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements made herein. Furthermore, unless otherwise stated, the forward-looking statements contained in this Offer are made as of the date of this Offer or the date of the documents incorporated herein, as applicable, and the Company has no intention and undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Offer are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. Further details and descriptions of these and other factors are disclosed in the Offer and in Imperial's public filings with provincial or state securities regulatory authorities, which may be accessed on SEDAR's website at www.sedar.com and on EDGAR's website at www.sec.gov.

#### INFORMATION FOR UNITED STATES SHAREHOLDERS

The Offer is made by Imperial, a Canadian issuer, for its own Shares, and while the Offer is subject to the disclosure requirements of the province of Alberta and the other provinces of Canada, U.S. Shareholders should be aware that these disclosure requirements are different from those of the United States.

The enforcement by Shareholders of civil liabilities under U.S. federal and state securities laws may be adversely affected by the fact that Imperial is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act and located in Canada and that certain of its directors and officers and the experts named in the Offer are non-residents of the United States and that all or a substantial portion of the assets of the Company and said Persons are located outside the United States. It may be difficult to effect service of process on the Company, its officers and directors and the experts named in the Offer. In addition, U.S. Shareholders should not assume that courts in Canada or in the countries where such directors and officers reside or in which Imperial's assets or the assets of such Persons are located (i) would enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained in actions against Imperial or such Persons predicated upon civil liability provisions of U.S. federal and state securities laws as may be applicable, or (ii) would enforce, in original actions, any asserted liabilities against Imperial, its subsidiaries or such Persons predicated upon such laws. Enforcement of any asserted civil liabilities under U.S. securities laws may be further adversely affected by the fact that some or all of the experts named in the Offer may be residents of Canada.

U.S. Shareholders should be aware that the acceptance of the Offer will have certain tax consequences under United States and Canadian law. See Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations".

#### **CURRENCY**

All dollar references in the Offer to Purchase and the Circular are expressed in Canadian dollars, except where otherwise indicated. References to "\$" are to Canadian dollars and references to "US\$" are to U.S. dollars.

On October 31, 2022, the Bank of Canada daily average exchange rate was \$1.00 = US\$0.73.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DOCU	MENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	V
WHERI	E YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	v
FORW	ARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	vi
INFOR	MATION FOR UNITED STATES SHAREHOLDERS	vii
CURRE	ENCY	vii
GLOSS	SARY	1
SUMM	IARY	5
OFFER	R TO PURCHASE	10
1.	THE OFFER	10
2.	Purchase Price	10
3.	NUMBER OF SHARES, PRORATION AND PROPORTIONATE TENDERS	11
4.	ANNOUNCEMENT OF RESULTS OF THE OFFER	13
5.	PROCEDURE FOR DEPOSITING SHARES	13
6.	WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS	17
7.	CERTAIN CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER	18
8.	EXTENSION AND VARIATION OF THE OFFER	20
9.	TAKING UP AND PAYMENT FOR DEPOSITED SHARES	21
10.	PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF MAIL SERVICE INTERRUPTION	22
11.	LIENS AND DIVIDENDS	23
12.	NOTICE	23
13.	OTHER TERMS	23
ISSUE	R BID CIRCULAR	25
1.	IMPERIAL OIL LIMITED	25
2.	AUTHORIZED CAPITAL	26
3.	PURPOSE AND EFFECT OF THE OFFER	26
4.	PRICE RANGE OF SHARES	31
5.	DIVIDEND POLICY	32
6.	Previous Purchases of Shares	32
7.	Previous Sales of Securities	33
8.	PREVIOUS DISTRIBUTIONS OF SHARES	33
9.	Interest of Directors and Officers	33
10.	ARRANGEMENTS CONCERNING SHARES	37
11.	MATERIAL CHANGES IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY	37
12.	PRIOR VALUATIONS AND BONA FIDE OFFERS	38
13.	INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	38
14.	LEGAL MATTERS AND REGULATORY APPROVALS	44
15.	SOURCE OF FUNDS	45
16.	Dealer Manager	45
17.	DEPOSITARY	45
18.	FEES AND EXPENSES	45
19.	CANADIAN STATUTORY RIGHTS	46
APPRO	OVAL AND CERTIFICATE	47
CONSE	ENT OF RBC CAPITAL MARKETS	48
CONSE	ENT OF STIKEMAN FULIOTT U.P.	40

## **ADDENDA**

SCHEDULE A LIQUIDITY OPINION OF RBC CAPITAL MARKETS

#### **GLOSSARY**

- In this document, unless the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, the following terms have the following meanings:
- "2021 NCIB" means the Company's normal course issuer bid that commenced on June 29, 2021 and pursuant to which the Company was authorized to repurchase up to 35,583,671 Shares over a period of twelve months.
- **"2022 NCIB"** means the Company's normal course issuer bid that commenced on June 29, 2022 and pursuant to which the Company was authorized to repurchase up to 31,833,809 Shares over a period of twelve months.
- "Agent's Message" means a message, transmitted by DTC, to and received by the Depositary and forming a part of a DTC book entry confirmation.
- "Allowable capital loss" has the meaning set forth in Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations" under "Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations Residents of Canada".
- "Auction Price" means the price specified by a tendering Shareholder, being not less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share and in increments of \$0.25 per Share, at which such tendering Shareholder will tender to the Offer through an Auction Tender.
- "Auction Tender" means an auction tender delivered by a Shareholder wishing to tender to the Offer in which the tendering Shareholder specifies the number of Shares being tendered at an Auction Price.
- "Auction Tender Limit Amount" means an amount equal to (i) \$1,500,000,000, less (ii) the product of (A) \$1,500,000,000 and (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate number of Shares owned by Shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders, and the denominator of which is the aggregate number of Shares outstanding at the time of the Expiration Date.
- "Auction Tender Purchase Amount" means the aggregate purchase price for Shares validly tendered, and not withdrawn, pursuant to Auction Tenders (at Auction Prices at or below the Purchase Price) and Purchase Price Tenders.
- "Board of Directors" means the board of directors of the Company.
- "Book-Entry Confirmation" means a confirmation of a book entry transfer of Shares into the Depositary's account established at CDS in accordance with the terms of the Offer.
- "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, a statutory holiday in Calgary, Alberta or Toronto, Ontario and a United States federal holiday, and for the purposes of the Exchange Act shall consist of the time period from 12:01 a.m. through 12:00 midnight Eastern time.
- "CDS" means CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc.
- "CDS Participant" means a participant in CDSX.
- "CDSX" means the book entry system administered by CDS.
- "Circular" means the attached offering circular.
- "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- "Company", "we", "us" or "Imperial" means Imperial Oil Limited.
- "CRA" means the Canada Revenue Agency.
- "Dealer Manager" means RBC Capital Markets.
- "Depositary" means Computershare Investor Services Inc.

"Deposited Shares" means Shares validly deposited pursuant to the Offer and not withdrawn.

"DRIP" means the Company's dividend reinvestment and share purchase plan.

"DTC" means the Depository Trust Company.

"EDGAR" means the SEC's Electronic Document Gathering and Retrieval System.

"Eligible Institution" means a Canadian Schedule I chartered bank, a member of the Securities Transfer Agent Medallion Program (STAMP), a member of the Stock Exchanges Medallion Program (SEMP) or a member of the New York Stock Exchange Inc. Medallion Signature Program (MSP).

"Equivalent Securities" has the meaning set forth in Section 5 of the Offer to Purchase, "Procedure for Depositing Shares" under "Prohibition on "Short" Tenders".

"Exchange Act" means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Expiration Date" means December 9, 2022 or such later date to which the Offer may be extended by the Company.

"Extension Relief" means the exemptive relief the Company has obtained from the securities regulatory authorities in Canada to permit the Company to extend the Offer, in circumstances in which all of the terms and conditions of the Offer have either been satisfied or waived by the Company, without first taking up Shares which have been deposited (and not withdrawn) before the Offer was previously scheduled to expire.

"IRS" means the Internal Revenue Service for the United States of America.

"Letter of Transmittal" means the letter of acceptance and transmittal in the form forwarded with the Circular.

"Liquidity Opinion" means the liquidity opinion prepared by RBC Capital Markets and attached as Schedule A hereto.

**"MI 61-101"** means Multilateral Instrument 61-101 — *Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special Transactions*, as amended.

"Non-Resident Shareholder" means a Shareholder who, at all relevant times for purposes of the Tax Act: (i) is not resident or deemed to be resident in Canada, (ii) does not use or hold, and is not deemed to use or hold, its Shares in connection with carrying on a business in Canada, (iii) has not, either alone or in combination with Persons with whom the Shareholder does not deal at arm's length and partnerships in which the Shareholder and any such non-arm's length Persons hold a membership interest directly or indirectly through one or more partnerships, owned (or had an option to acquire) 25% or more of the issued shares of any class or series of the capital stock of Imperial at any time within a 60-month period preceding the disposition of the Shares under the Offer, and whose Shares are not otherwise deemed to be "taxable Canadian property" (as defined in the Tax Act), (iv) deals at arm's length with Imperial and is not affiliated with Imperial, and (v) is not an insurer that carries on an insurance business in Canada and elsewhere.

"Notice of Guaranteed Delivery" means the notice of guaranteed delivery in the form forwarded with the Circular.

"NYSE American" means NYSE American LLC.

"Odd Lots" means, for purposes of the Offer, all Shares validly tendered at or below the Purchase Price by Odd Lot Holders.

"Odd Lot Holder" means a Shareholder who owns fewer than 100 Shares.

"Offer" means the offer made to Shareholders to purchase that number of Shares having an aggregate purchase price not exceeding \$1,500,000,000, the terms and conditions of which are set forth in the Offer to Purchase, the Circular, the Letter of Transmittal and the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.

"Offer to Purchase" means the attached offer to purchase.

- "Person" means and includes any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, unincorporated association, unincorporated syndicate, unincorporated organization, trust, body corporate, a trustee, executor, administrator or other legal representative and any governmental authority or any agency or instrumentality thereof.
- "PFIC" means a passive foreign investment company.
- "Principal Shareholder" or "ExxonMobil" means Exxon Mobil Corporation.
- "Proportionate Take Up Relief" means the exemptive relief the Company has obtained from the securities regulatory authorities in Canada for relief from the proportionate take up and related disclosure requirements in order to permit Proportionate Tenders to be made pursuant to the Offer.
- "Proportionate Tender" means a deposit (or deemed deposit) where a tendering Shareholder does not specify a price or a number of Shares for the purchase by the Company but rather agrees to sell at the Purchase Price as determined pursuant to the Offer a number of Shares that will result in it maintaining its proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer.
- "Proposed Amendments" means all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act and the regulations thereunder publicly announced by the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof.
- "Public float" has the meaning set forth in Section 3 of the Circular, "Purpose and Effect of the Offer" under "Liquidity of Market".
- "Purchase Price" means the price per Share (being not less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share) that Imperial will pay for Deposited Shares, determined in accordance with the process described in Section 2 of this Offer to Purchase.
- "Purchase Price Tender" means a deposit (or deemed deposit) where tendering Shareholders do not specify a price per Share, but rather agree to have a specified number of Shares purchased at the Purchase Price as determined under the Offer, it being understood that, for the purposes of determining the Purchase Price, Shares that are the subject of Purchase Price Tenders will be deemed to have been tendered at the minimum price of \$72.50 per Share.
- "Q2 2022 SIB" means the Company's substantial issuer bid that commenced on May 6, 2022 and pursuant to which the Company was authorized to repurchase up to \$2.5 billion of its Shares through a modified Dutch auction and proportionate tender offer, which expired on June 10, 2022.
- "RBC Capital Markets" means RBC Dominion Securities Inc., a member company of RBC Capital Markets.
- "Resident Shareholder" means a Shareholder who, at all relevant times for the purposes of the Tax Act (i) is or is deemed to be a resident of Canada, (ii) deals at arm's length with Imperial and is not affiliated with Imperial, (iii) is not exempt from tax under Part I of the Tax Act, and (iv) holds its Shares as capital property.
- "SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
- "Section 302 Tests" has the meaning set forth in Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations" under "Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations Section 302 Tests Determination of Sale or Distribution Treatment".
- "Securities Regulatory Relief" means the Extension Relief and the Proportionate Take Up Relief.
- "SEDAR" means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval of the Canadian Securities Administrators.
- "Shareholder" means a registered or beneficial holder of outstanding Shares, as the context requires.
- "Shares" means common shares in the capital of the Company.

"Special Committee" means a special committee of the Board of Directors composed of independent directors, namely David W. Cornhill (Chair), Krystyna T. Hoeg, Miranda C. Hubbs, Jack M. Mintz and David S. Sutherland, mandated to explore the possibility of implementing a substantial issuer bid.

"Taxable capital gain" has the meaning set forth in Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations" under "Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations – Residents of Canada".

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended.

"Transfer Agent" means TSX Trust Company, the registrar and transfer agent of the Shares.

"Treasury Regulations" has the meaning set forth in Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations".

"TSX" means the Toronto Stock Exchange.

#### SUMMARY

This summary is provided for your convenience. It highlights certain material information relating to the Offer, but you should understand that it does not describe all of the details of the Offer to the same extent as described elsewhere herein. The Company therefore urges you to read the entire Offer to Purchase, Circular, Letter of Transmittal and Notice of Guaranteed Delivery because they each contain important information. References have been included to certain sections of the Offer where you will find a more complete discussion.

#### Purpose of the Offer

The Board of Directors believes that the purchase of Shares by the Company is in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

The Offer will allow the Company to return up to an additional \$1,500,000,000 of capital to Shareholders who elect to tender their shares while at the same time increasing the Share ownership of Shareholders who elect not to tender.

See Section 3 of the Circular, "Purpose and Effect of the Offer".

#### **Expiration Date**

The Offer expires at 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 9, 2022 or at such later time and date to which the Offer may be extended by the Company, unless withdrawn. See Section 1 of the Offer to Purchase, "The Offer".

#### **Payment Date**

The Company will comply with both Canadian and U.S. regulations governing the timing for acceptance of and payment for Shares. Under Canadian regulations, Imperial must take up the Shares to be purchased pursuant to the Offer as soon as reasonably practicable after the Expiration Date and in any event not later than 10 days after the Expiration Date, provided that the conditions of the Offer (as the same may be varied) have been satisfied or waived. Any Shares taken up will be paid for as soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event no later than three (3) Business Days after they are taken up in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws. See Section 9 of the Offer to Purchase, "Taking Up and Payment for Deposited Shares". Under U.S. regulations, Imperial is required to promptly accept for payment and promptly thereafter pay for all Shares validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Date pursuant to the Offer.

The Company currently expects to accept and pay for Shares validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Date on December 14, 2022, the 3<sup>rd</sup> Business Day following the Expiration Date (assuming the Expiration Date is not extended beyond December 9, 2022).

#### **Currency of Payment**

The Purchase Price will be denominated in Canadian dollars and payments of amounts owing to Shareholders whose Shares are taken up will be made in Canadian dollars. However, Shareholders may elect to receive the Purchase Price in United States dollars as described in the Offer. In such case, the risk of any fluctuation in exchange rates, including risks relating to the particular date and time at which funds are converted, will be borne solely by the Shareholder. See Section 2 of the Offer to Purchase, "Purchase Price".

#### **Methods of Tender**

Shareholders wishing to tender to the Offer may do so pursuant to:

- Auction Tenders in which the tendering Shareholders specify the number of Shares being tendered and specify an Auction Price of not less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share in increments of \$0.25 per Share;
- · Purchase Price Tenders in which the tendering Shareholders do

not specify a price per Share, but rather agree to have a specified number of Shares purchased at the Purchase Price to be determined pursuant to the Offer; or

 Proportionate Tenders in which the tendering Shareholders agree to sell to the Company, at the Purchase Price to be determined pursuant to the Offer, a number of Shares that will result in them maintaining their respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer.

**Purchase Price** 

The Purchase Price will be determined in the manner described in the Offer but will be not less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share, taking into account the Auction Prices and the number of Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders. The Purchase Price will be the lowest price that enables the Company to purchase that number of Shares pursuant to valid Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price not exceeding the Auction Tender Limit Amount.

All Shares purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer (including Shares tendered at Auction Prices below the Purchase Price) will be purchased at the same Purchase Price.

A Shareholder making an Auction Tender may deposit different Shares at different prices, but a Shareholder cannot deposit the same Shares pursuant to more than one method of tender or pursuant to an Auction Tender at more than one price. Shareholders may deposit different Shares pursuant to Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders but cannot make an Auction Tender or Purchase Price Tender as well as a Proportionate Tender.

The Company will return all Shares not purchased under the Offer, including Shares not purchased as a result of proration or invalid tender or Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices in excess of the Purchase Price, promptly after the Expiration Date. See Section 2 of the Offer to Purchase, "Purchase Price".

Number of Shares to be Purchased

Imperial will purchase Shares under the Offer to a maximum aggregate amount of \$1,500,000,000. Since the Purchase Price will only be determined after the Expiration Date, the number of Shares that will be purchased will not be known until after the Expiration Date. If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is equal to or greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will repurchase a total number of Shares having an aggregate value equal to \$1,500,000,000. If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is less than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will repurchase a total number of Shares having an aggregate purchase price equal to the product of (i) \$1,500,000,000, and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the Auction Tender Purchase Amount, and the denominator of which is the Auction Tender Limit Amount. See Section 3 of the Offer to Purchase, "Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders".

**Proration** 

If the aggregate purchase price for Shares validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to Auction Tenders at Auction Prices at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders is less than or equal to the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price all Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders.

If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase a portion of the Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders, as follows: (i) first, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price all Shares tendered by Odd Lot Holders at or below the Purchase Price; and (ii) second, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price on a pro rata basis that portion of the Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price, based on the Purchase Price, equal to (A) the Auction Tender Limit Amount, less (B) the aggregate amount paid by the Company for Shares tendered by Odd Lot Holders. The Company will purchase at the Purchase Price, payable in cash (subject to applicable withholding taxes, if any), a number of Shares from Shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders that results in such tendering Shareholders maintaining their respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer (subject to nominal differences due to the quantity of Shares purchased from such Shareholders being rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares to avoid the purchase of fractional Shares). See Section 3 of the Offer to Purchase, "Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders".

**Delivery Procedure** 

Each Shareholder wishing to deposit Shares pursuant to the Offer must:

- provide certificates or DRIP position for all Deposited Shares in proper form for transfer, together with a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal, in accordance with the instructions in such Letter of Transmittal, together with all other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal and must be delivered to, and received by, the Depositary at one of the addresses listed in the Letter of Transmittal by the Expiration Date;
- follow the guaranteed delivery procedure described in Section 5 of the Offer to Purchase, "Procedure for Depositing Shares"; or
- transfer Shares pursuant to a book-entry transfer, provided that a Book-Entry Confirmation through the CDSX system (in the case of Shares held in CDS) or an Agent's Message (in the case of Shares held in DTC) is received by the Depositary at its office in Toronto, Ontario prior to the Expiration Date (as such terms are defined herein).

A Shareholder who wishes to deposit Shares under the Offer and who holds such Shares through an investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee should immediately contact such nominee in order to take the necessary steps to be able to deposit such Shares under the Offer. See Section 5 of the Offer to Purchase, "Procedure for Depositing Shares".

**Brokerage Commissions** 

Shareholders depositing Shares will not be obligated to pay brokerage fees or commissions to the Company or to the Depositary. However, Shareholders are cautioned to consult with their own brokers or other intermediaries to determine whether any fees or commissions are payable to their own brokers or other intermediaries in connection with a deposit of Shares pursuant to the Offer. See Section 9 of the Offer to Purchase, "Taking Up and Payment for Deposited Shares".

**Conditions to the Offer** 

The obligation of the Company to take up and pay for any Shares deposited under the Offer is subject to the conditions described in Section 7 of the Offer to Purchase, "Certain Conditions of the Offer".

#### Withdrawal Rights

Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer may be withdrawn by the Shareholder (a) at any time if the shares have not been taken up by the Company before actual receipt by the Depositary of a notice of withdrawal in respect of such Shares, (b) at any time before the expiration of ten (10) days from the date that a notice of change or variation (unless (i) the variation consists solely of an increase in the consideration offered for those Shares pursuant to the Offer where the time for deposit is not extended for greater than ten (10) days, or (ii) the variation consists solely of the waiver of a condition of the Offer) has been given in accordance with Section 8, "Extension and Variation of the Offer", or (c) at any time if the Shares have been taken up but not paid for by the Company within three (3) Business Days of being taken up. In addition, pursuant to Rule 13e-4(f) under the Exchange Act, Shares may also be withdrawn after January 4, 2023, which is the 40th Business Day after the date of the commencement of the Offer, unless such Shares have already been accepted for payment by the Company pursuant to the Offer and not validly withdrawn.

## Position of the Company and its Directors

Neither the Company nor its Board of Directors makes any recommendation to any Shareholder as to whether to deposit or refrain from depositing Shares. Shareholders are urged to evaluate carefully all information in the Offer, consult their own investment and tax advisors and make their own decisions whether to deposit Shares under the Offer, how many Shares to deposit and whether to specify a price and, if so, at what price to deposit such Shares. See Section 1 of the Offer to Purchase, "The Offer".

#### **Interest of Principal Shareholder**

ExxonMobil, which owns approximately 69.6% of the issued and outstanding Shares, has advised the Company that it will participate in the Offer and make a Proportionate Tender in order to maintain its respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer.

#### **Directors & Officers**

No director or officer of the Company has advised the Company that he or she intends to deposit Shares under the Offer. See Section 9 "Interest of Directors and Officers – Ownership of Imperial's Securities" and Section 10 "Arrangements Concerning Shares" of the Circular.

## **Tax Considerations**

Shareholders should carefully consider the income tax consequences of having Shares being purchased under the Offer. See Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations".

## **Trading Information**

On October 27, 2022, the last full trading day prior to the public announcement of the Company's intention to make the Offer, the closing price of the Shares on the TSX was \$67.47 per Share and US\$49.80 per Share on NYSE American. *The lowest price that the Company may pay for Shares pursuant to the Offer is \$72.50 per Share, which is below the closing price of the Shares on the TSX of \$74.11 per Share on October 31, 2022.* During the 12-month period ended October 31, 2022, the closing prices of the Shares on the TSX has ranged from a low of \$41.19 to a high of \$74.11, and the closing prices of the Shares on NYSE American has ranged from a low of US\$32.86 to a high of US\$57.76. See Section 4 of the Circular, "Price Range of Shares".

#### Further Information

For further information regarding the Offer, Shareholders may contact the Depositary or the Dealer Manager or consult their own brokers. The address and telephone numbers and email of the Depositary and Dealer Manager are set forth on page iv and the back cover of the Offer.

NO PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO MAKE ANY RECOMMENDATION ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY AS TO WHETHER SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD DEPOSIT OR REFRAIN FROM DEPOSITING SHARES

MAKE ANY RE OFFER. IF G	O THE OFFER. NO EPRESENTATIONS IVEN OR MADE TION MUST NOT E	S IN CONNECTION , ANY SUCH	ON WITH THE ( RECOMMENDA	OFFER OTHER ATION OR AN	THAN AS SET F Y SUCH INFOI	ORTH IN THE
KLFKLOLKIA	TION MOST NOT L	SE RELIED OF O	V AO HAVINO D	LLIN AUTHORIZ	LD BT THE CO	MEANT.

#### **OFFER TO PURCHASE**

#### To the holders of Shares of Imperial Oil Limited:

#### 1. THE OFFER

The Company hereby offers, upon the terms and subject to the conditions described in this Offer to Purchase, the accompanying Circular, the related Letter of Transmittal and the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, to purchase for cancellation a number of Shares having an aggregate purchase price not exceeding \$1,500,000,000 pursuant to:

- Auction Tenders at an Auction Price of not less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share in increments of \$0.25 per Share, as specified by the Shareholders;
- · Purchase Price Tenders; or
- Proportionate Tenders.

The Offer will commence on November 4, 2022, the date of this Offer to Purchase, and expire at 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 9, 2022, or at such later time and date to which the Offer may be extended by Imperial, unless withdrawn. Beneficial owners should be aware that their broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee may establish its own earlier deadlines for participation in the Offer.

THE OFFER IS NOT CONDITIONAL UPON ANY MINIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES BEING DEPOSITED. THE OFFER IS, HOWEVER, SUBJECT TO CERTAIN OTHER CONDITIONS. SEE SECTION 7 OF THE OFFER TO PURCHASE, "CERTAIN CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER".

Each Shareholder who has properly deposited Shares pursuant to an Auction Tender at or below the Purchase Price, a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender and who has not withdrawn such shares will receive the Purchase Price, payable in cash (subject to applicable withholding taxes, if any), for all Shares purchased upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, including the provisions relating to proration and the preferential acceptance of odd lots described herein.

Imperial will return all Shares not purchased under the Offer (including Shares not purchased because of proration or invalid tenders and Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices in excess of the Purchase Price), or properly withdrawn before the Expiration Date.

None of Imperial, its Special Committee or its Board of Directors, the Dealer Manager or the Depositary makes any recommendation to any Shareholder as to whether to deposit or refrain from depositing Shares. Shareholders must make their own decisions as to whether to deposit Shares under the Offer, how many Shares to deposit and whether to specify a price and, if so, at what price to deposit such Shares. Shareholders should carefully consider the income tax consequences of having Shares being purchased under to the Offer. See Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations".

The accompanying Circular, Letter of Transmittal and Notice of Guaranteed Delivery contain important information and should be read carefully before making a decision with respect to the Offer.

#### 2. PURCHASE PRICE

#### Purchase Price

Promptly following the Expiration Date, the Company will determine the Purchase Price, representing a single price per Share, which will not be less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share taking into account the Auction Prices and the number of Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders. The Purchase Price will be the lowest price that enables the Company to purchase that number of Shares pursuant to valid Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders at the Auction Tender Limit Amount equal to (i) \$1,500,000,000 less (ii) the product of (A) \$1,500,000,000 and (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate number of Shares owned by Shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders, and the denominator of which is the aggregate number of Shares outstanding at the time of the Expiration Date. If the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer), the maximum number of Shares that may be purchased by

the Company is 20,689,655 Shares. If the Purchase Price is determined to be \$87.00 (which is the maximum price per Share under the Offer), the maximum number of Shares that may be purchased by the Company is 17,241,379 Shares. For the purpose of determining the Purchase Price, Shares tendered pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price of \$72.50 per Share (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer). Shares tendered pursuant to a Proportionate Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price per Share equal to the Purchase Price. Shares tendered by a Shareholder pursuant to an Auction Tender will not be purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer if the price per Share specified by the Shareholder is greater than the Purchase Price. Shareholders who validly tender Shares without specifying the method in which they are tendering their shares, or who make an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. Shareholders who wish to deposit Shares without specifying a price at which such Shares may be purchased by the Company should tender Shares in a Purchase Price Tender. Under a Purchase Price Tender, Shares will be purchased, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, at the Purchase Price determined as provided herein.

Shareholders should be aware that Shares tendered in Purchase Price Tenders will be deemed to have been tendered at the minimum price of \$72.50 per Share and such tenders may result in a lower Purchase Price than might otherwise have been determined.

As promptly as practicable after determining the Purchase Price, Imperial will publicly announce the Purchase Price and all Shareholders who have validly deposited and not withdrawn their shares pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price or pursuant to Purchase Price Tenders or Proportionate Tenders will receive the Purchase Price, payable in cash, for all Shares purchased upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, including the provisions relating to proration and the preferential acceptance of odd lots described herein. See Section 3 of this Offer, "Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders".

All Shares purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer (including Shares at Auction Prices below the Purchase Price) will be purchased at the Purchase Price. All Auction Tenders, Purchase Price Tenders and Proportionate Tenders will be subject to adjustment to avoid the purchase of fractional Shares. Imperial will return all Shares not purchased under the Offer, including Shares not purchased because of proration or invalid tenders or Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices in excess of the Purchase Price, or properly withdrawn before the Expiration Date. All payments to Shareholders will be subject to deduction of applicable withholding taxes.

No alternative, conditional or contingent tenders will be accepted.

#### Currency

Each registered Shareholder who has tendered Shares under the Offer will receive payment of the Purchase Price for purchased Shares in Canadian dollars, unless such Shareholder exercises the applicable election in the Letter of Transmittal and Notice of Guaranteed Delivery to use the Depositary's currency exchange services to convert payment of the Purchase Price of the tendered Shares into United States dollars as described below. There is no additional fee payable by Shareholders who elect to use the Depositary's currency exchange services.

Each non-registered or beneficial Shareholder who has tendered Shares under the Offer will receive payment of the Purchase Price for purchased Shares in Canadian dollars, unless such non-registered Shareholder contacts the intermediary in whose name such Shareholder's shares are registered and requests that the intermediary make an election on its behalf to receive the Purchase Price in United States dollars as described below.

The exchange rate that will be used to convert payments from Canadian dollars into United States dollars will be the rate available from Computershare Trust Company of Canada, in its capacity as foreign exchange service provider, on the date on which the funds are converted, which rate will be based on the prevailing market rate on such date. The risk of any fluctuations in such rates, including risks relating to the particular date and time at which funds are converted, will be borne solely by the Shareholder. Computershare Trust Company of Canada will act as principal in such currency conversion transactions.

## 3. Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders

We will purchase, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, at the Purchase Price, Deposited Shares up to a maximum aggregate purchase price of \$1,500,000,000. The number of Shares that the Company will purchase pursuant to the Offer and the aggregate purchase price will vary depending on whether the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is less than or equal to the Auction Tender Limit Amount. If the Auction Tender

Purchase Amount is less than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase proportionately fewer Shares and the aggregate purchase price therefor will be proportionately less. If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is equal to the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase 17,241,379 Shares if the Purchase Price is \$87.00 per Share (the maximum price per Share under the Offer) and 20,689,655 Shares if the Purchase Price is \$72.50 per Share (the minimum price per Share under the Offer), in both cases for an aggregate purchase price of \$1,500,000,000. The Offer is not conditional upon any minimum number of Shares being properly deposited under the Offer.

As of October 31, 2022, there were 604,842,373 Shares issued and outstanding. Accordingly, the Offer is for approximately 3.4% of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (which is the minimum price per Share pursuant to the Offer) or approximately 2.9% of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$87.00 (which is the maximum price per Share pursuant to the Offer).

If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is less than or equal to the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price all Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders. If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase a portion of the Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders, as follows: (i) first, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price all Shares tendered by Odd Lot Holders at or below the Purchase Price; and (ii) second, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price on a pro rata basis that portion of the Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price, and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price, based on the Purchase Price, equal to (A) the Auction Tender Limit Amount, less (B) the aggregate amount paid by the Company for Shares tendered by Odd Lot Holders. The pro-ration percentage for each individual Shareholder other than Odd Lot Holders within the Auction Tender/Purchase Price Tender pool will be calculated as (1) the number of Shares such Shareholder has tendered at or below the Purchase Price, divided by (2) the total number of Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders (at prices at or below the Purchase Price) and Purchase Price Tenders. Shares that are tendered above the Purchase Price will not be taken into account and will therefore be excluded from the pro-ration calculation.

As set out above, Odd Lots will be accepted for purchase before any proration. In order to qualify for this preference, an Odd Lot Holder must properly tender, pursuant to an Auction Tender at a price at or below the Purchase Price or pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender, all Shares beneficially owned by such Odd Lot Holder. Partial tenders will not qualify for this preference. This preference is not available to holders of 100 or more Shares even if holders have separate share certificates for fewer than 100 Shares or hold fewer than 100 Shares in different accounts. Any Odd Lot Holder wishing to tender all Shares beneficially owned, without proration, must complete the appropriate box on the Letter of Transmittal and, if applicable, on the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery. Shareholders owning an aggregate of fewer than 100 Shares whose Shares are purchased pursuant to the Offer not only will avoid the payment of brokerage commissions, but will also avoid any odd lot discounts, each of which may be applicable on a sale of their Shares in a transaction on the TSX or NYSE American.

Regardless of proration, the Company will always purchase at the Purchase Price a number of the Shares from Shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders that results in such Shareholders maintaining their respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer (subject to nominal differences due to the quantity of Shares purchased from such Shareholders being rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares to avoid the purchase of fractional Shares). Shareholders making Proportionate Tenders will be prorated in a separate proration pool from Shareholders making Auction Tenders and/or Purchase Price Tenders. Such proration will be based on the number of Shares necessary for such Shareholders to maintain their existing ownership percentages. These proration mechanics are required to permit Proportionate Tenders pursuant to the Offer and differ from the standard mechanics required under applicable securities laws in issuer bids/tender offers without Proportionate Tenders. Imperial has obtained the Proportionate Take Up Relief from the securities regulatory authorities in Canada from the proportionate take up and related disclosure requirements in order to permit Proportionate Tenders to be purchased under the Offer and has applied for exemptive relief from the SEC under Rule 13e-4(f)(3) under the Exchange Act to allow for the proration contemplated by the Offer.

If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is equal to or greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will repurchase a total number of Shares having an aggregate value equal to \$1,500,000,000. If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is less than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will repurchase a total number of Shares having an aggregate value equal to the product of (i) \$1,500,000,000, and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the Auction Tender Purchase Amount, and the denominator of which is the Auction Tender Limit Amount.

If no Auction Tenders or Purchase Price Tenders are made pursuant to the Offer, no Shares will be purchased by the Company (unless all Shareholders make valid Proportionate Tenders, in which case all Shares purchased will be purchased for \$72.50 per Share).

#### 4. ANNOUNCEMENT OF RESULTS OF THE OFFER

The Company will publicly announce the results of the Offer, including the Purchase Price, the number of Shares validly tendered to the Offer and the aggregate purchase price of the Shares to be purchased for cancellation pursuant to the Offer, as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Expiration Date.

#### 5. PROCEDURE FOR DEPOSITING SHARES

## **Proper Deposit of Shares**

Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer may do so by making Auction Tenders, Purchase Price Tenders or Proportionate Tenders. In accordance with Instruction 4 of the Letter of Transmittal, each Shareholder desiring to deposit Shares pursuant to the Offer must indicate (a): in Box A captioned "Type of Tender" on such Letter of Transmittal and, if applicable, the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, whether Shares are deposited pursuant to an Auction Tender, Purchase Price Tender, or Proportionate Tender; (b) in Box G, if an Auction Tender is made, the price (in increments of \$0.25 per Share) at which such Shares are being deposited; (c) in Box B, if a Proportionate Tender is made, the total number of Shares the participating Shareholder owns; and (d) in Box E, if applicable, whether the Shareholder is making an Odd Lot deposit in accordance with Instruction 7 of the Letter of Transmittal.

A Shareholder who wishes to make an Auction Tender will be required to specify, among other things, the number of Shares that it wishes to sell and the price per Share (not less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share and in increments of \$0.25 per Share) at which it is prepared to sell those Shares. A Shareholder may make multiple Auction Tenders but not in respect of the same shares (i.e., Shareholders may deposit different Shares at different prices but cannot deposit the same Shares at different prices). A Shareholder may also make an Auction Tender in respect of certain Shares and a Purchase Price Tender in respect of other Shares. Shareholders who make an Auction Tender or Purchase Price Tender may not make a Proportionate Tender. Odd Lot Holders making an Auction Tender or a Purchase Price Tender will be required to tender all Shares owned by the Shareholder. Proportionate Tenders or partial tenders will not be accepted from Odd Lot Holders.

A Shareholder who wishes to make a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender may not specify an Auction Price. A Shareholder who makes a Proportionate Tender will be deemed to have agreed to sell to the Company at the Purchase Price a number of Shares that will result in the Shareholder maintaining its, his or her respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer. Registered Shareholders may make a Proportionate Tender and non-registered Shareholders may instruct their nominees to make a Proportionate Tender. All Shareholders who make a Proportionate Tender must state how many Shares they own in the Letter of Transmittal or instruction to their nominee, as the case may be. A registered Shareholder who makes a Proportionate Tender must deposit either all of its Shares or a sufficient number of Shares to satisfy the Shareholder's Proportionate Tender. The Letter of Transmittal provides guidance on how a registered Shareholder can calculate the minimum number of Shares that would need to be deposited. A non-registered Shareholder who wishes its nominee to make a Proportionate Tender must deposit all of its Shares. If a non-registered Shareholder wishes to become a registered Shareholder in order to make a Proportionate Tender by depositing only a sufficient number of Shares, the Shareholder should immediately contact its investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee in order to take the necessary steps to have its Shares registered in the Shareholder's name prior to tendering Shares pursuant to the Offer. A Shareholder who makes an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. Shareholders who make a Proportionate Tender may not make an Auction Tender or a Purchase Price Tender.

Shares deposited pursuant to an Auction Tender in compliance with the procedures set forth herein will be taken up only if the Auction Price specified in the Auction Tender is equal to or less than the Purchase Price.

Shareholders who tender Shares without making a valid Auction Tender, Purchase Price Tender or Proportionate Tender will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. A shareholder who makes an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. If multiple boxes are checked in the same Letter of Transmittal indicating that Shares are being deposited pursuant to an Auction Tender, Purchase Price Tender, and/or Proportionate Tender, all Shares identified will be deemed to have been tendered pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender.

A shareholder desiring to deposit Shares in separate lots at a different price for each lot must complete a separate Letter of Transmittal (and, if applicable, a separate Notice of Guaranteed Delivery) for each price at which the Shareholder is depositing Shares. The same Shares cannot be deposited pursuant to different tender methods or pursuant to an Auction Tender at more than one price.

#### **Holders of Shares**

To deposit Shares pursuant to the Offer, holders of Shares must (a) provide certificates or DRIP position for all Deposited Shares in proper form for transfer, together with a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or a manually executed photocopy thereof), in accordance with the instructions in such Letter of Transmittal, together with all other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal and must be delivered to, and received by, the Depositary at one of the addresses listed in the Letter of Transmittal by the Expiration Date, (b) follow the guaranteed delivery procedure described below, or (c) transfer Shares pursuant to the procedures for book-entry transfer, provided that the Depositary receives at its office in Toronto, Ontario prior to the Expiration Date, (i) in the case of Shares held by CDS, a Book-Entry Confirmation of transfer of Shares into the Depositary's account established at CDS in accordance with the terms of the Offer, through the CDSX book-entry system administered by CDS, or (ii) in the case of Shares held in DTC, a message, transmitted by DTC, to and received by the Depositary and forming a part of a DTC book-entry confirmation.

A registered Shareholder who desires to deposit a DRIP position under the Offer must deposit their entire DRIP position, the Shares for which will be removed from the DRIP in connection with such tender, excluding fractions. To the extent a registered Shareholder desires to deposit only a portion of their DRIP position, such Shareholder must withdraw that portion of their DRIP position that they intend to deposit from the DRIP and submit the certificate received in respect thereof, together with a Letter of Transmittal. Shareholders should contact the DRIP plan agent, TSX Trust Company, in such circumstance to arrange the withdrawal.

A non-registered Shareholder who desires to deposit Shares under the Offer should immediately contact such Shareholder's investment dealer, stock broker, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee in order to take the necessary steps to be able to deposit such Shares under the Offer.

If an investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee holds Shares for a Shareholder, it is likely the nominee has established an earlier deadline for that Shareholder to act to instruct the nominee to accept the Offer on its behalf. A Shareholder should immediately contact the Shareholder's investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee to find out the nominee's deadline.

Participants of CDS or DTC should contact CDS or DTC, as applicable, to obtain instructions as to the method of depositing Shares under the terms of the Offer. CDS and DTC will be issuing instructions to their respective participants as to the method of depositing Shares under the terms of the Offer.

#### Imperial Savings Plan Participants

Employee and retiree participants in the Company and select affiliates' Savings Plan (the "Savings Plan") who beneficially own Shares under the Savings Plan and who wish to have the Savings Plan administrator tender such Shares should complete the election form available on the participant's online Savings Plan member website in accordance with the election instructions included with the letter furnished to such participants. The administrator of the Savings Plan will tabulate the results of all such Savings Plan elections and will, or will cause the Savings Plan custodian to, deposit to the Offer one or more Letters of Transmittal reflecting the participants' elections. The participants in the Savings Plan may not use the Letter of Transmittal to direct the tender of the Savings Plan Shares, but must use the separate election form for participants in the Savings Plan. Savings Plan participants are urged to read the separate election form, the election instructions and related materials carefully. Any Savings Plan Shares tendered but not purchased will be retained in the participant's Savings Plan account.

Participants in the Savings Plan should carefully consider the income tax consequences of having Shares in the Savings Plan purchased under the Offer, which consequences may differ from those that other Shareholders may realize and which consequences may further differ depending upon the Savings Plan account from which such Shares are tendered.

#### Signature Guarantees

No signature guarantee is required on the Letter of Transmittal if (a) the Letter of Transmittal is signed by the registered holder of the Shares exactly as the name of the registered holder appears on the DRIP position or the share certificate deposited therewith, and payment is to be made directly to such registered holder, or (b) shares are deposited for the account of an Eligible Institution. In all other cases, all signatures on the Letter of Transmittal must be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution. See the appropriate instructions in the Letter of Transmittal.

If a certificate or DRIP position representing Shares is registered in the name of a Person other than the signatory to a Letter of Transmittal, or if payment is to be made, or certificates or DRIP positions representing Shares not purchased are to be issued, to a Person other than the registered holder, the certificate or DRIP position must be endorsed or accompanied by an appropriate stock power, in either case, signed exactly as the name of the registered holder appears on the certificate or DRIP position with the signature on the certificate or stock power signature guaranteed by an Eligible Institution.

## **Book-Entry Transfer Procedures**

An account with respect to the Shares will be established at CDS for purposes of the Offer. Any financial institution that is a participant in CDS may make book-entry delivery of the Shares through CDSX by causing CDS to transfer such Shares into the Depositary's account in accordance with CDS's procedures for such transfer. Delivery of Shares to the Depositary by means of a book-entry transfer through CDSX will constitute a valid tender under the Offer.

Shareholders may accept the Offer by following the procedures for a book-entry transfer established by CDS, provided that a Book-Entry Confirmation through CDSX is received by the Depositary at its Toronto, Ontario office address set forth on the back-cover page of this Offer to Purchase and Circular prior to the Expiration Date. Shareholders, through their respective CDS Participants, who utilize CDSX to accept the Offer through a book-entry transfer of their holdings into the Depositary's account with CDS shall be deemed to have completed and submitted a Letter of Transmittal and to be bound by the terms thereof and, therefore, such instructions received by the Depositary are considered a valid tender in accordance with the terms of the Offer. **Delivery of documents to CDS does not constitute delivery to the Depositary.** 

Shareholders who have an account maintained by DTC may accept the Offer by following the procedures for book-entry transfer established by DTC, provided that a book-entry confirmation, together with an Agent's Message in respect thereof, or a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal and any other required documents, are received by the Depositary at its office specified in the Letter of Transmittal prior to the Expiration Date of the Offer. If necessary, the Depositary will establish an account at DTC for the purpose of the Offer. Any financial institution that is a participant in DTC's systems may cause DTC to make a book-entry transfer of a Shareholder's Shares into the Depositary's account in accordance with DTC's procedures for such transfer. However, as noted above, although delivery of Shares may be effected through book-entry transfer at DTC, either a Letter of Transmittal (or a manually signed facsimile copy thereof), properly completed and duly executed, together with any required signature guarantees, or an Agent's Message in lieu of a Letter of Transmittal, and any other required documents, must, in any case, be received by the Depositary, at its office specified in the Letter of Transmittal prior to the Expiration Date. Delivery of documents to DTC in accordance with its procedures does not constitute delivery to the Depositary.

## Method of Delivery

The method of delivery of certificates representing Shares and all other required documents is at the option and risk of the depositing Shareholder. If certificates representing Shares are to be sent by mail, registered mail that is properly insured is recommended and it is suggested that the mailing be made sufficiently in advance of the Expiration Date to permit delivery to the Depositary on or prior to such date. Delivery of a share certificate representing Shares will only be made upon actual receipt of such share certificate representing Shares by the Depositary.

## Lost or Stolen Certificates

If any certificate representing Shares has been lost or destroyed, the Shareholder should promptly notify the Transfer Agent at the phone number or address set forth on the back cover page of this document. The Shareholder will then be instructed as to the steps that must be taken in order to replace the certificate(s). The Letter of Transmittal and related documents cannot be processed until the procedures for replacing lost or destroyed

certificates have been followed, and in such circumstances, a longer period of time may be needed to complete a tender of Shares. Shareholders are urged to contact the Depositary immediately in order to permit timely processing of this documentation.

## Procedure for Guaranteed Delivery

If a Shareholder wishes to deposit Shares pursuant to the Offer and cannot deliver certificates for such Shares, or the book-entry transfer procedures described above cannot be completed, prior to the Expiration Date, or time will not permit all required documents to reach the Depositary by the Expiration Date, such Shares may nevertheless be deposited if all of the following conditions are met:

- (a) such deposit is made by or through an Eligible Institution, except for any tender by the administrator of the Savings Plan;
- (b) a properly completed and duly executed Notice of Guaranteed Delivery substantially in the form provided by the Company through the Depositary is received by the Depositary, at its Toronto office listed in the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, by the Expiration Date; and
- the share certificates for all Shares proposed to be taken up in proper form for transfer, together with a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or a manually executed photocopy thereof) or, in the case of a book-entry transfer, a Book-Entry Confirmation through CDSX (in the case of Shares held in CDS) or an Agent's Message (in the case of Shares held in DTC), and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal, are received by the Toronto office of the Depositary, before 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on or before the second trading day on the TSX after the Expiration Date.

The Notice of Guaranteed Delivery may be hand delivered, couriered, mailed or transmitted by electronic mail transmission to the Toronto office of the Depositary listed in the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, and must include a guarantee by an Eligible Institution in the form set forth in the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, payment for Shares accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer will be made only after timely receipt by the Depositary of the share certificates for all Shares proposed to be taken up in proper form for transfer, together with a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or a manually executed photocopy thereof) or Book-Entry Confirmation in lieu thereof relating to such Shares, with signatures that are guaranteed if so required in accordance with the Letter of Transmittal, and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal.

The tender information specified in a Notice of Guaranteed Delivery by a Person completing such Notice of Guaranteed Delivery will, in all circumstances, take precedence over the tender information that is specified in the related Letter of Transmittal that is subsequently deposited.

#### Return of Unpurchased Shares

All tendered Shares not purchased, including all Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices greater than the Purchase Price, Shares not purchased due to pro-ration and Shares not accepted for purchase, will be returned to the tendering Shareholder promptly after the Expiration Date or termination of the Offer without expense to the tendering Shareholder.

In the case of Shares tendered through book-entry transfer into the Depositary's account at DTC or CDS, the Shares will be credited to the appropriate account maintained by the tendering Shareholder at DTC or CDS, as applicable, without expense to the Shareholder.

#### Determination of Validity, Rejection and Notice of Defect

All questions as to the number of tenders to be accepted, the form of documents and the validity, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance for payment of any Shares will be determined by the Company, in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding on all parties. Imperial reserves the absolute right to reject any deposits of Shares determined by it not to be in proper form or completed in accordance with the instructions herein and in the Letter of Transmittal or the acceptance for payment of or payment for which may, in the opinion of the Company's counsel, be unlawful. Imperial also reserves the absolute right to waive any of the conditions of the

Offer or any defect or irregularity in the deposit of any particular Shares, and Imperial's interpretation of the terms of the Offer (including these instructions) will be final and binding on all parties. No individual deposit of Shares will be deemed to be properly made until all defects and irregularities have been cured or waived. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with deposits must be cured within such time as Imperial shall determine. None of Imperial, the Depositary, the Dealer Manager nor any other Person is or will be obligated to give notice of defects or irregularities in deposits, nor shall any of them incur any liability for failure to give any such notice. The Company's interpretation of the terms and conditions of the Offer (including the Letter of Transmittal and the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery) will be final and binding.

Under no circumstances will interest be paid by the Company or the Depositary by reason of any delay in making payment to any Person using the guaranteed delivery procedures, including without limitation any delay arising because the Shares to be delivered pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedures are not so delivered to the Depositary, and therefore payment by the Depositary on account of such Shares is not made until after the date the payment for the Deposited Shares taken up pursuant to the Offer is to be made by the Company.

#### Formation of Agreement

The proper deposit of Shares pursuant to any one of the procedures described above will constitute a binding agreement between the depositing Shareholder and the Company, effective as of the Expiration Date, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer. Such agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Alberta and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.

#### Prohibition on "Short" Tenders

It is a violation of Rule 14e-4 promulgated under the Exchange Act for a Person acting alone or in concert with others, directly or indirectly, to tender shares for such Person's own account unless at the time of tender and at the Expiration Date such Person has a "net long position" in (i) a number of shares that is equal to or greater than the amount tendered and will deliver or cause to be delivered such shares for the purpose of tendering to us within the period specified in the Offer or (ii) other securities immediately convertible into, exercisable for or exchangeable into a number of shares ("Equivalent Securities") that is equal to or greater than the number of shares tendered and, upon the acceptance of such tender, will acquire such shares by conversion, exchange, or exercise of such Equivalent Securities to the extent required by the terms of the Offer and will deliver or cause to be delivered such shares so acquired for the purpose of tender to us within the period specified in the Offer. Rule 14e-4 also provides a similar restriction applicable to the tender or guarantee of a tender on behalf of another Person. A tender of shares made pursuant to any method of delivery set forth in the Circular will constitute the tendering shareholder's acceptance of the terms and conditions of the Offer, as well as the tendering shareholder's representation and warranty to us that (i) such shareholder has a "net long position" in a number of shares or Equivalent Securities at least equal to the shares being tendered within the meaning of Rule 14e-4, and (ii) such tender of shares complies with Rule 14e-4. Our acceptance for payment of shares tendered pursuant to the Offer will constitute a binding agreement between the tendering shareholder and us upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer.

#### Further Assurances

Each Shareholder accepting the Offer covenants under the terms of the Letter of Transmittal to execute, upon request of Imperial, any additional documents, transfers and other assurances as may be necessary or desirable to complete the sale, assignment and transfer of any Shares proposed to be taken up by the Company. Each authority therein conferred or agreed to be conferred may be exercised during any subsequent legal incapacity of such Shareholder and shall, to the extent permitted by law, survive the death or incapacity, bankruptcy or insolvency of the Shareholder and all obligations of the Shareholder therein shall be binding upon the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns of such Shareholder.

#### 6. WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS

Except as otherwise provided in this Section, deposits of Shares pursuant to the Offer will be irrevocable. Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer may be withdrawn by the Shareholder (a) at any time if the Shares have not been taken up by the Company before actual receipt by the Depositary of a notice of withdrawal in respect of such shares, (b) at any time before the expiration of ten (10) days from the date that a notice of change or variation (unless (i) the variation consists solely of an increase in the consideration offered for those Shares pursuant to the Offer where the time for deposit is not extended for greater than ten (10) days, or (ii) the variation consists solely of the waiver of a condition of the Offer) has been given in accordance with Section 8, "Extension and Variation of the Offer"; or (c) at any time if the Shares have been taken up but not paid for by the Company within three (3) Business

Days of being taken up. In addition, pursuant to Rule 13e-4(f) under the Exchange Act, Shares may also be withdrawn after January 4, 2023, which is the 40<sup>th</sup> Business Day after the date of the commencement of the Offer, unless such Shares have already been accepted for payment by the Company pursuant to the Offer and not validly withdrawn.

For a withdrawal to be effective, a written or printed copy of a notice of withdrawal must be actually received by the Depositary by the applicable date specified above at the place of deposit of the relevant Shares. Any such notice of withdrawal must be signed by or on behalf of the Person who signed the Letter of Transmittal or Notice of Guaranteed Delivery in respect of the Shares being withdrawn or, in the case of shares tendered by a CDS Participant through CDSX, be signed by such participant in the same manner as the participant's name is listed on the applicable Book- Entry Confirmation or, in the case of Shares tendered by a DTC participant, be signed by such participant in the same manner as the participant's name is listed on the applicable Agent's Message, and must specify the name of the Person who deposited the shares to be withdrawn, the name of the registered holder, if different from that of the Person who deposited such shares, and the number of shares to be withdrawn. If the certificates for the Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer have been delivered or otherwise identified to the Depositary, then, prior to the release of such certificates, the depositing Shareholder must submit the serial numbers shown on the particular certificates evidencing the shares to be withdrawn and the signature on the notice of withdrawal must be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution (as defined in Section 5 of the Offer to Purchase, "Procedure for Depositing Shares"), except in the case of shares deposited by an Eligible Institution. A withdrawal of Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer may only be accomplished in accordance with the foregoing procedure. The withdrawal shall take effect only upon actual receipt by the Depositary of a written or printed copy of a properly completed and executed notice of withdrawal.

A Shareholder who wishes to withdraw Shares under the Offer and who holds Shares through an investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee should immediately contact such nominee in order to take the necessary steps to be able to withdraw such Shares under the Offer. Participants of CDS or DTC should contact these depositaries with respect to the withdrawal of Shares under the Offer.

All questions as to the form and validity (including time of receipt) of notices of withdrawal will be determined by the Company, in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding. None of the Company, the Depositary, the Dealer Manager or any other Person shall be obligated to give any notice of any defects or irregularities in any notice of withdrawal and none of them shall incur any liability for failure to give any such notice.

Any Shares properly withdrawn will thereafter be deemed not deposited for purposes of the Offer. However, withdrawn shares may be redeposited prior to the Expiration Date by again following the procedures described in the Offer to Purchase, "Procedure for Depositing Shares".

If the Company extends the period of time during which the Offer is open, is delayed in its purchase of Shares or is unable to purchase Shares pursuant to the Offer for any reason, then, without prejudice to the Company's rights under the Offer, the Depositary may, subject to applicable law, retain on behalf of the Company all Deposited Shares, and such Shares may not be withdrawn except to the extent that depositing Shareholders are entitled to withdrawal rights as described in this Section.

#### 7. CERTAIN CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Offer, the Company shall not be required to accept for purchase, to purchase or, subject to any applicable rules or regulations, to pay for any Shares deposited, and may terminate, cancel or amend the Offer or may postpone the payment for Shares deposited, if, at any time before the Expiration Date, any of the following events shall have occurred (or shall have been determined by the Company to have occurred) which, in the Company's sole judgment, acting reasonably, in any such case, makes it inadvisable to proceed with the Offer or with such acceptance for purchase or payment:

(a) there shall have been threatened, taken or pending any action, suit or proceeding by any government or governmental authority or regulatory or administrative agency in any jurisdiction, or by any other Person in any jurisdiction, before any court or governmental authority or regulatory or administrative agency in any jurisdiction (i) challenging or seeking to cease trade, make illegal, delay or otherwise directly or indirectly restrain or prohibit the making of the Offer, the acceptance for payment of some or all of the Shares by the Company or otherwise directly or indirectly relating in any manner to or affecting the Offer, or (ii) seeking material damages or that otherwise, in the

sole judgment of the Company, acting reasonably, has or may have a material adverse effect on the Shares, or the business, income, assets, liabilities, condition or position (financial or otherwise), properties, operations, results of operations or prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole;

- (b) there shall have been any action or proceeding threatened, pending or taken or approval withheld or any statute, rule, regulation, stay, decree, judgment or order or injunction proposed, sought, enacted, enforced, promulgated, amended, issued or deemed applicable to the Offer or the Company or any of its subsidiaries by or before any court, government or governmental authority or regulatory or administrative agency or any statute, rule or regulation shall become operative or applicable in any jurisdiction that, in the sole judgment of the Company, acting reasonably, might directly or indirectly result in any of the consequences referred to in clauses (i) or (ii) of paragraph (a) above or would or might prohibit, prevent, restrict or delay consummation of the Offer;
- there shall have occurred (i) any general suspension of trading in securities on any securities (c) exchange or in the over-the-counter market in Canada or the United States, (ii) the declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments in respect of banks in Canada or the United States (whether or not mandatory), (iii) a natural disaster or the commencement of a war, armed hostilities, act of terrorism or other international or national calamity directly or indirectly involving Canada or the United States, (iv) any limitation (whether or not mandatory) by any government or governmental authority or regulatory or administrative agency or any other event that, in the sole judgment of the Company, acting reasonably, might affect the extension of credit by banks or other lending institutions, (v) a decrease in excess of 10% of the market price of the Shares on the TSX or the NYSE American since the close of business on October 31, 2022, (vi) any change in the general political, market, economic or financial conditions (including, without limitation, any change in commodity prices) that, in the sole judgment of the Company, acting reasonably, has or may have a material adverse effect on the Company's or its subsidiaries', taken as a whole, business, operations or prospects or the trading in, or value of, the Shares, including but not limited to any such changes relating to the evolving COVID-19 novel coronavirus pandemic and health crisis and governmental and regulatory actions taken in response thereto, or (vii) any decline in any of the S&P/TSX Composite Index, the Dow Jones Industrial Average or the S&P 500 Index by an amount in excess of 10%, measured from the close of business on October 31, 2022; (viii) any material change in the short-term or long-term interest rates in Canada or the United States; or (ix) in the case of any of the foregoing existing at the time of the commencement of the Offer, an acceleration or worsening thereof;
- (d) there shall have occurred any change or changes (or any development involving any prospective change or changes) in the business, earnings, assets, liabilities, properties, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, results of operations or prospects of the Company or any of its subsidiaries that, in the sole judgment of the Company, acting reasonably, has, have or may have, individually or in the aggregate, material adverse effect with respect to the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole;
- (e) any take-over bid or tender or exchange offer with respect to some or all of the securities of Imperial, or any merger, amalgamation, arrangement, business combination or acquisition proposal, disposition of assets, or other similar transaction with or involving Imperial or any of its affiliates, other than the Offer, or any solicitation of proxies, other than by management, to seek to control or influence the Board of Directors, shall have been proposed, announced or made by any individual or entity:
- (f) the Company shall have concluded, in its sole judgment, acting reasonably, that the Offer or the take up and payment for any or all of the Shares by the Company is illegal or not in compliance with applicable law, or that necessary exemptions under applicable securities legislation, including exemptions from proportionate take up and related disclosure requirements and from the obligation to take up Shares in the event that the Offer is extended in certain circumstances applied for by the Company from the securities regulatory authorities in Canada and the SEC, are not available to the Company for the Offer and, if required under any such legislation, the Company shall not have received the necessary exemptions from or waivers of the appropriate courts or securities regulatory authorities in respect of the Offer, including the Securities Regulatory Relief, or such exemptions or waivers are rescinded or modified in a manner that is not in form and substance satisfactory to the Company;

- (g) any changes shall have occurred or been proposed to the Tax Act or the Code, to the publicly available administrative policies or assessing practices of the CRA or the IRS or to relevant tax jurisprudence that, in the sole judgment of the Company are detrimental to Imperial or its affiliates taken as a whole or any one or more Shareholders, or with respect to making the Offer or taking up and paying for Shares deposited under the Offer;
- (h) RBC Capital Markets shall have withdrawn or amended the Liquidity Opinion provided by it in connection with the Offer:
- (i) the Company reasonably determines that the completion of the Offer and the purchase of the Shares may (i) cause the Shares to be delisted from the TSX or lose unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American, or to be eligible for deregistration under the Exchange Act; or (ii) constitute a "Rule 13e-3 transaction", as such term is defined in Rule 13e-3 under the Exchange Act;
- (j) no Auction Tenders or Purchase Price Tenders will have been made pursuant to the Offer;
- (k) Standard & Poor's Global Ratings or DBRS Limited shall have downgraded or withdrawn, or shall have indicated to the Company that it is considering downgrading or withdrawing, the applicable rating accorded to the Company's securities; or
- (I) there will have occurred a material change in U.S. or any other currency exchange rates or a suspension of or limitation on the markets for such currencies that could have, in the Company's reasonable judgment, a material adverse effect on the business, properties, assets, liabilities, capitalization, shareholders' equity, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, results of operations or prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or on the trading in the Shares.

The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of the Company and may be asserted by the Company in its sole discretion, acting reasonably, or may be waived by the Company, in its sole discretion, in whole or in part at any time, provided that the conditions listed in clause (i) above are not waivable by the Company. Any determination by the Company concerning the events described in this Section 7 shall be final and binding on all parties.

Any waiver of a condition or the withdrawal of the Offer by Imperial shall be deemed to be effective on the date on which notice of such waiver or withdrawal by the Company is delivered or otherwise communicated to the Depositary. Imperial, after giving notice to the Depositary of any waiver of a condition or the withdrawal of the Offer, shall immediately make a public announcement of such waiver or withdrawal and provide or cause to be provided notice of such waiver or withdrawal to the TSX, NYSE American and the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authorities. If the Offer is withdrawn, the Company shall not be obligated to take up, accept for purchase or pay for any Shares deposited under the Offer, and the Depositary will return all certificates or DRIP positions for Deposited Shares, Letters of Transmittal and Notices of Guaranteed Delivery and any related documents to the parties by whom they were deposited.

#### 8. EXTENSION AND VARIATION OF THE OFFER

Subject to applicable law, the Company expressly reserves the right, in its sole discretion, and regardless of whether or not any of the conditions specified in Section 7 of this Offer to Purchase. "Certain Conditions of the Offer" shall have occurred, at any time or from time to time, to extend the period of time during which the Offer is open or to vary the terms and conditions of the Offer by giving written notice, or oral notice to be confirmed in writing, of extension or variation to the Depositary and by causing the Depositary to provide to all Shareholders, where required by law, as soon as practicable thereafter, a copy of the notice in the manner set forth in Section 12 of this Offer to Purchase, "Notice". Promptly after giving notice of an extension or variation to the Depositary, but, in the case of an extension, no later than 9:00 a.m. (Calgary time) on the next Business Day following the last previously scheduled or announced Expiration Date, the Company will make a public announcement of the extension or variation and provide or cause to be provided notice of such extension or variation to the TSX, NYSE American and the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authorities. Any notice of extension or variation will be deemed to have been given and be effective on the day on which it is delivered or otherwise communicated to the Depositary at its principal office in Calgary, Alberta.

If we make a material change in the terms of the Offer or the information concerning the Offer or if we waive a material condition of the Offer, we will disseminate additional tender offer materials and extend the Offer if and to the extent required by applicable Canadian securities laws, the rules of the SEC under the Exchange Act and the

interpretations thereunder. Pursuant to applicable United States securities laws, the minimum period during which an offer must remain open following material changes in the terms of an offer or information concerning an offer, other than a change in price or a change in percentage of securities sought, will depend upon the facts and circumstances, including the relative materiality of the terms or information changes and the appropriate manner of dissemination. In a published release, the SEC has stated that, in its view, an offer should remain open for a minimum of five business days from the date the material change is first published, sent or given to security holders, and that if material changes are made with respect to information that approaches the significance of price and the percentage of securities sought, a minimum period of ten business days may be required to allow for adequate dissemination to security holders and investor response. During any such extension or in the event of any variation, all Shares previously deposited and not taken up or withdrawn will remain subject to the Offer and may be accepted for purchase by the Company in accordance with the terms of the Offer, subject to Section 6 of this Offer to Purchase, "Withdrawal Rights". An extension of the Expiration Date or a variation of the Offer does not constitute a waiver by the Company of its rights in Section 7 of this Offer to Purchase, "Certain Conditions of the Offer".

If the Company makes a material change in the terms of the Offer or the information concerning the Offer, the Company will extend the time during which the Offer is open to the extent required under applicable Canadian and United States securities laws and regulations.

In order to facilitate the availability of Proportionate Tenders pursuant to the Offer, Imperial has obtained the Extension Relief to permit Imperial to extend the Offer, in circumstances in which all of the terms and conditions of the Offer have either been satisfied or waived by Imperial, without first taking up Shares which have been deposited (and not withdrawn) before the Offer was previously scheduled to expire. Accordingly, in the event that Imperial elects to extend the Offer, Imperial will not take up or pay for any Shares until the expiry of such extension.

The Company also expressly reserves the right, in its sole discretion, (a) to terminate the Offer and not take up and pay for any Shares not theretofore taken up and paid for upon the occurrence of any of the conditions specified in Section 7 of this Offer to Purchase, "Certain Conditions of the Offer", and/or (b) at any time or from time to time, to vary the Offer in any respect, including increasing or decreasing the aggregate purchase price for Shares that the Company may purchase or the range of prices it may pay pursuant to the Offer, subject to compliance with applicable Canadian and United States securities laws and regulations.

Any such extension, delay, termination or variation will be followed as promptly as practicable by a public announcement. Without limiting the manner in which the Company may choose to make any public announcement, except as provided by applicable law, the Company shall have no obligation to publish, advertise or otherwise communicate any such public announcement other than by making a release through a widely circulated news wire service.

#### 9. TAKING UP AND PAYMENT FOR DEPOSITED SHARES

The Company will comply with both Canadian and U.S. regulations governing the timing for acceptance of and payment for Shares. Under Canadian regulations, upon the terms and provisions of the Offer (including proration) and subject to and in accordance with applicable securities laws, the Company is required to take up and pay for Shares properly deposited and not withdrawn under the Offer in accordance with the terms thereof as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date, but in any event not later than ten days after the Expiration Date, provided that the conditions of the Offer (as the same may be varied) have been satisfied or waived. Any Shares taken up must be paid for as soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event no later than three (3) Business Days after they are taken up in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws. Pursuant to Rule 14e-1(c) under the Exchange Act, the Company is required to promptly accept for payment and promptly thereafter pay for all Shares validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Date pursuant to the Offer.

The Company currently expects to accept and pay for Shares validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Date on December 14, 2022, the 3<sup>rd</sup> Business Day following the Expiration Date (assuming the Expiration Date is not extended beyond December 9, 2022).

For the purpose of the Offer, the Company will be deemed to have taken up and accepted for payment validly tendered Shares having an aggregate Purchase Price not exceeding \$1,500,000,000 if, as and when the Company gives written notice or other communication confirmed in writing to the Depositary to that effect.

The Company reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to delay taking up or paying for any Shares or to terminate the Offer and not take up or pay for any Shares upon the occurrence of any of the conditions specified in Section 7 of this Offer to Purchase by giving written notice thereof or other communication confirmed in writing to the

Depositary. The Company also reserves the right, in its sole discretion and notwithstanding any other condition of the Offer, to delay taking up and paying for Shares in order to comply, in whole or in part, with any applicable law or as permitted pursuant to the Extension Relief.

In the event of proration of Shares deposited pursuant to the Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders, the Company will determine the proration factor and pay for those Deposited Shares accepted for payment as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date. However, the Company does not expect to be able to announce the final results of any such proration until approximately three (3) Business Days after the Expiration Date.

Certificates for all Shares not purchased, including Shares not purchased due to proration and Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices in excess of the Purchase Price, will be returned (in the case of certificates representing Shares all of which are not purchased), or replaced with new certificates representing the balance of Shares not purchased (in the case of certificates representing Shares of which less than all are purchased), as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date or termination of the Offer without expense to the depositing Shareholder. DRIP positions not purchased, including DRIP positions not purchased due to proration and DRIP positions deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices in excess of the Purchase Price, will be returned to the DRIP account as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date or termination of the Offer without expense to the depositing Shareholder.

The Company will pay for Shares taken up under the Offer by providing the Depositary with sufficient funds (by bank transfer or other means satisfactory to the Depositary) for transmittal to depositing Shareholders. **Under no circumstances will interest accrue or be paid by the Company or the Depositary on the Purchase Price of the Shares purchased by the Company, regardless of any delay in making such payment or otherwise.** 

Depositing Shareholders will not be obligated to pay brokerage fees or commissions to the Company or the Depositary. However, Shareholders are cautioned to consult with their own brokers or other intermediaries to determine whether any fees or commissions are payable to their brokers or other intermediaries in connection with a deposit of Shares pursuant to the Offer. Imperial will pay all fees and expenses of the Dealer Managers (in their capacity as such) and the Depositary in connection with the Offer.

The Depositary will act as agent of Persons who have properly deposited Shares under the Offer and have not properly withdrawn them, for the purposes of receiving payment from the Company and transmitting payment to such Persons. Receipt by the Depositary from Imperial of payment for such Shares will be deemed to constitute receipt of payment by Persons depositing Shares. Under no circumstances will interest accrue or be paid by the Company or the Depositary on the Purchase Price to any Person depositing Shares regardless of any delay in making payment, including any delay in making payment to any Person using the guaranteed delivery procedures.

Unless a Shareholder elects to be paid by wire transfer, the settlement with each Shareholder who has deposited Shares under the Offer will be effected by the Depositary by forwarding a cheque, representing the cash payment (subject to applicable withholding taxes, if any) for such Shareholder's Shares taken up under the Offer. The cheque will be issued in the name of the Person as specified by properly completing the appropriate box in the Letter of Transmittal. Unless the depositing Shareholder instructs the Depositary to hold the cheque for pick-up by checking the appropriate box in the Letter of Transmittal, the cheque will be forwarded by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the payee at the address specified in the Letter of Transmittal. If no such address is specified, the cheque will be sent to the address of the depositing Shareholder as it appears in the registers maintained in respect of the Shares. Cheques mailed in accordance with this paragraph will be deemed to have been delivered at the time of mailing. Payments will be made net of any applicable withholding taxes. Alternatively, a Shareholder may request that the payment for such Shareholder's Shares taken up under the Offer be paid by wire payment by properly completing the appropriate box in the Letter of Transmittal. Wire payments will be made net of applicable banking fees.

All Shares purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer will be cancelled.

# 10. Payment in the Event of Mail Service Interruption

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Offer, cheques in payment for Shares purchased under the Offer and certificates for any Shares to be returned will not be mailed if the Company determines that delivery by mail may be delayed. Persons entitled to cheques or certificates that are not mailed for this reason may take delivery at the office of the Depositary at which the deposited certificates for the Shares were delivered until the Company has determined that delivery by mail will no longer be delayed. Imperial will provide notice, in accordance with Section 12 of this Offer

to Purchase, of any determination not to mail under this Section 10 as soon as reasonably practicable after such determination is made.

## 11. LIENS AND DIVIDENDS

Shares acquired pursuant to the Offer shall be acquired by the Company free and clear of all liens, charges, encumbrances, security interests, claims, restrictions and equities whatsoever, together with all rights and benefits arising therefrom, provided that any dividends or distributions that may be paid, issued, distributed, made or transferred on or in respect of such Shares to Shareholders of record on or prior to the date upon which the Shares are taken up and paid for under the Offer shall be for the account of such Shareholders. Each Shareholder of record on that date will be entitled to receive that dividend or distribution whether or not such Shareholder deposits Shares pursuant to the Offer.

#### 12. NOTICE

Without limiting any other lawful means of giving notice, any notice to be given by the Company or the Depositary under the Offer will be deemed to have been properly given if it is mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the registered holders of Shares at their respective addresses as shown on the share registers maintained in respect of the Shares and will be deemed to have been received on the first Business Day following the date of mailing. These provisions apply despite (i) any accidental omission to give notice to any one or more Shareholders, and (ii) an interruption of mail service following mailing. In the event of an interruption of mail service following mailing, the Company will use reasonable efforts to disseminate the notice by other means, such as publication. If post offices are not open for deposit of mail, or there is reason to believe there is or could be a disruption in all or any part of the postal service, any notice which the Company or the Depositary may give or cause to be given under the Offer will be deemed to have been properly given and to have been received by Shareholders if it is issued by way of a news release and if it is published once in The Globe and Mail or the National Post and in a French language daily newspaper of general circulation in the Province of Québec and in The Wall Street Journal.

#### 13. OTHER TERMS

No broker, dealer or other Person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation on behalf of the Company other than as contained in the Offer, and, if any such information or representation is given or made, it must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company.

It is a term of the Offer that for the purposes of subsection 191(4) of the Tax Act, the "specified amount" in respect of each Share shall be an amount equal to the closing trading price for the Shares on the TSX on the Expiration Date. The Company will publicly announce the specified amount when the Company announces the Purchase Price as promptly as practicable following the Expiration Date.

Shareholders should carefully consider the income tax consequences of accepting the Offer. See Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations".

The Offer and all contracts resulting from the acceptance thereof shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Alberta and the laws of Canada applicable therein.

The Company, in its sole discretion, shall be entitled to make a final and binding determination of all questions relating to the interpretation of the Offer, the validity of any acceptance of the Offer and the validity of any withdrawals of Shares. The Offer is not being made to Shareholders residing in any jurisdiction in which the making of the Offer or the acceptance thereof would not be in compliance with the laws of such jurisdiction.

Imperial has applied for the Securities Regulatory Relief in order to facilitate the availability of Proportionate Tenders pursuant to the Offer and to permit the Company to extend the Offer without first taking up validly deposited Shares in certain circumstances.

The accompanying Circular, together with this Offer to Purchase, constitutes the issuer bid circular required under Canadian provincial securities legislation applicable to Imperial with respect to the Offer.

The accompanying Circular contains additional information relating to the Offer.

Imperial has filed with the SEC an Issuer Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO which contains additional information with respect to the Offer. The Schedule TO, including any amendments and supplements thereto, may be examined, and copies may be obtained, at the same places and in the same manner as is set forth in the Circular under Section 1 "Imperial Oil Limited – Additional Information" with respect to information concerning the Company. In any U.S. jurisdiction where the securities, "Blue Sky" or other laws require the Offer to be made by a licensed broker or dealer, the Offer will be deemed to be made on the Company's behalf by RBC Capital Markets, LLC, or one or more registered brokers or dealers licensed under the laws of the applicable jurisdiction.

DATED this 4<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2022, at Calgary, Alberta.

# Imperial Oil Limited

By: /s/ Bradley W. Corson

Bradley W. Corson Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

#### **ISSUER BID CIRCULAR**

This Circular is being furnished in connection with the Offer by Imperial to purchase for cancellation a number of Shares for an aggregate purchase price not exceeding \$1,500,000,000 at a Purchase Price of not less than \$72.50 per Share and not more than \$87.00 per Share. Terms defined in the Offer to Purchase and not otherwise defined herein have the same meaning in this Circular. The terms and conditions of the Offer to Purchase, Letter of Transmittal and the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery are incorporated into and form part of this Circular. Reference is made to the Offer to Purchase for details of its terms and conditions.

#### 1. IMPERIAL OIL LIMITED

Imperial Oil Limited was incorporated under the laws of Canada in 1880 and was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act by certificate of continuance dated April 24, 1978. The head and principal office of the company is located at 505 Quarry Park Boulevard S.E., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2C 5N1.

The Company is one of Canada's largest integrated oil companies. It is active in all phases of the petroleum industry in Canada, including the exploration for, and production and sale of, crude oil and natural gas. In Canada, it is a major producer of crude oil, the largest petroleum refiner and a leading marketer of petroleum products and a major producer of petrochemicals. The Company also pursues lower-emission business opportunities, including carbon capture and storage and biofuels. It is also a major producer of petrochemicals. The Company's operations are conducted in three main segments: Upstream, Downstream and Chemical.

## Upstream

Upstream operations include the exploration for, and production of, crude oil, natural gas, synthetic oil and bitumen. The Company's principal operations in the upstream segment relate to three projects:

- (a) Kearl. Kearl is a joint venture established to recover shallow deposits of oil sands using open-pit mining methods to extract the crude bitumen, which is processed through extraction and froth treatment trains. The Company holds a 70.96 percent participating interest in the joint venture and ExxonMobil Canada Properties holds the other 29.04 percent. The product, a blend of bitumen and diluent, is typically shipped to the Company's refineries, ExxonMobil refineries and to other third parties.
  - During 2021, the Company's share of Kearl's net bitumen production was approximately 178,000 barrels per day and gross production was approximately 186,000 barrels per day.
- (b) <u>Cold Lake</u>. Cold Lake is an in-situ heavy oil bitumen operation. The product, a blend of bitumen and diluent, is typically shipped to the Company's refineries, ExxonMobil refineries and to other third parties.
  - During 2021, net bitumen production at Cold Lake was approximately 114,000 barrels per day and gross production was approximately 140,000 barrels per day.
- (c) <u>Syncrude</u>. Syncrude is a joint venture established to recover shallow deposits of oil sands using open-pit mining methods to extract crude bitumen, and then upgrade it to produce a high-quality, light (32 degrees API), sweet, synthetic crude oil. The Company holds a 25 percent participating interest in the joint venture. The produced synthetic crude oil is typically shipped to the Company's refineries, ExxonMobil refineries and to other third parties.

During 2021, the Company's share of Syncrude's net production of synthetic crude oil was approximately 62,000 barrels per day and gross production was approximately 71,000 barrels per day.

#### Downstream

Downstream operations consist of:

- (a) <u>Supply and Trading</u>. The Company supplements its own production of crude oil, condensate and petroleum products with substantial purchases from a number of other sources at negotiated market prices, in addition to undertaking trading activities.
- (b) <u>Transportation</u>. Imperial currently transports the Company's crude oil production and third-party crude oil required to supply refineries by contracted pipelines, common carrier pipelines and rail.
- (c) Refining. The Company owns and operates three refineries, which process predominantly Canadian crude oil. The Company purchases finished products to supplement its refinery production.
- (d) <u>Distribution</u>. The Company maintains a nationwide distribution system, to move petroleum products to market by pipeline, tanker, rail and road transport. The Company owns and operates fuel terminals across the country, as well as natural gas liquids and products pipelines in Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario and has interests in the capital stock of two products pipeline companies.
- (e) Marketing. The Company markets petroleum products throughout Canada under well-known brand names, most notably Esso and Mobil, to all types of customers. Imperial supplies petroleum products to the motoring public through Esso and Mobil-branded sites and independent marketers. Imperial also sells petroleum products, including fuel, asphalt and lubricants, to large industrial and transportation customers, independent marketers, resellers, as well as other refiners. The Company serves agriculture, residential heating and commercial markets through branded fuel and lubricant resellers.

#### Chemical

The Company's chemical operations manufacture and market benzene, aromatic and aliphatic solvents, plasticizer intermediates and polyethylene resin. Its petrochemical and polyethylene manufacturing operations are located in Sarnia, Ontario, adjacent to the Company's petroleum refinery.

## Additional Information

Imperial is subject to the information and reporting requirements of Canadian provincial and territorial securities laws, and the rules of the TSX, as well as information requirements of the Exchange Act, and in accordance therewith files periodic reports and other information with securities regulatory authorities in Canada, the TSX and the SEC, relating to its business, financial condition and other matters. Shareholders may access documents on SEDAR's website at www.sedar.com and on the SEC's EDGAR website at www.sec.gov.

Imperial has filed with the SEC an Issuer Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO which contains additional information with respect to the Offer. The Offer, which constitutes a part of the Schedule TO, does not contain all of the information set forth in the Schedule TO.

## 2. AUTHORIZED CAPITAL

The Company's authorized share capital consists of 1,100,000,000 Shares. As at October 31, 2022, 604,842,373 Shares were issued and outstanding.

#### 3. Purpose and Effect of the Offer

The Board of Directors believes that the purchase of Shares by the Company is in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

The Offer will allow the Company to return up to an additional \$1,500,000,000 of capital to Shareholders who elect to tender their shares while at the same time increasing the Share ownership of Shareholders who elect not to tender.

As of October 31, 2022, there were 604,842,373 Shares issued and outstanding. Accordingly, the Offer is for approximately 3.4% of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer) or approximately 2.9% of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$87.00 (which is the maximum price per

Share under the Offer). Assuming that the Offer is fully subscribed, the effect of the Offer would be to increase the Share ownership of each Shareholder who does not tender any Shares to the Offer by 3.5% if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer) or 2.9% if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$87.00 (which is the maximum price per Share under the Offer).

Shares acquired by the Company pursuant to the Offer will be cancelled.

Canadian securities laws prohibit the Company and its affiliates from acquiring or offering to acquire beneficial ownership of any Shares, other than pursuant to the Offer, until at least 20 Business Days after the Expiration Date or termination of the Offer, except, in the case of acquisitions during the period following the Expiration Date, pursuant to certain acquisitions effected in the normal course on a published market or as otherwise permitted by applicable law.

#### Background to the Offer

Management and the Board of Directors continually evaluate the capital allocation of the Company. Consistent with the Company's balance sheet strength, low capital requirements and strong cash generation, the Company has for a number of years implemented a share repurchase program pursuant to a normal course issuer bid through the facilities of the TSX, repurchasing over 242 million Shares for aggregate consideration of approximately \$11,386 million since the Company recommenced its normal course issuer bid program in 2017. Purchases from ExxonMobil are included in this amount, as ExxonMobil was permitted to sell Shares to the Company outside of, but concurrent with, the normal course issuer bid to maintain its proportionate share ownership interest at approximately 69.6%.

The Company's two most recent normal course issuer bids resulted in the repurchase of an aggregate of 67,417,480 Shares for total consideration of approximately \$3,474 million, as follows:

- 2021 NCIB Commenced June 29, 2021, authorizing the repurchase of up to 35,583,671 Shares over the following twelve months. On November 12, 2021, the Company announced that it intended to accelerate its Share purchases under the normal course issuer bid, and all possible purchases were completed by January 31, 2022, for total consideration of approximately \$1,529 million.
- 2022 NCIB Commenced June 29, 2022, authorizing the repurchase of up to 31,833,809 Shares over the following twelve months. On July 29, 2022, the Company announced that it intended to accelerate its Share purchases under the normal course issuer bid, and all possible purchases were completed by October 21, 2022, for total consideration of approximately \$1,945 million.

Recognizing the Company's priority to return cash to Shareholders and in addition to its normal course issuer bids, the Company also announced on April 29, 2022 its intention to launch a substantial issuer bid for up to \$2.5 billion. On May 6, 2022, the Company commenced the substantial issuer bid pursuant to which it offered to purchase for cancellation up to \$2.5 billion of its Shares through a modified Dutch auction and proportionate tender offer. The Q2 2022 SIB expired on June 10, 2022, with the Company repurchasing and cancelling a total of 32,467,532 Shares at a price of \$77.00 per share, for total consideration of \$2.5 billion. This included 22,597,379 Shares purchased from ExxonMobil by way of a proportionate tender to maintain its ownership percentage at approximately 69.6% of all issued and outstanding Shares.

The Company continually assesses its capacity to return cash to its Shareholders on an efficient basis. At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on September 20, 2022, the Board of Directors reviewed the Company's most recent update of the corporate and financing plan, which highlighted the strong cash position of the Company and projected cash flow across a variety of crude price scenarios. After giving consideration to, among other things, the capital requirements and financial resources of the Company, it was proposed that the Company consider repurchasing more of its Shares pursuant to another substantial issuer bid. In light of the interest that certain directors of the Company may have as a result of their current or prior involvement with the Principal Shareholder, the Board of Directors mandated a Special Committee composed of independent directors, namely David W. Cornhill (Chair), Krystyna T. Hoeg, Miranda C. Hubbs, Jack M. Mintz and David S. Sutherland to further explore the possibility of implementing the substantial issuer bid. Following the meeting, the Special Committee tasked management to complete further analysis and to discuss with outside advisors in order to assist the Board of Directors in making a determination regarding the feasibility and desirability of pursuing a subsequent substantial issuer bid. The Special Committee further considered the proposed substantial issuer bid and whether it would be in the best interests of the Company. Among other things, the Special Committee held discussions and meetings with management of the

Company. RBC Capital Markets was engaged to provide capital markets advice and a liquidity opinion in connection with the Offer.

At a meeting of the Special Committee held on October 14, 2022, the Special Committee further considered the possibility of pursuing the proposed substantial issuer bid in a discussion led by RBC Capital Markets, as financial advisor.

At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on October 27, 2022, RBC Capital Markets provided advice to the Board of Directors, including with respect to the trading liquidity of the Shares, and the Special Committee presented its unanimous recommendation to the Board of Directors to proceed with a substantial issuer bid based on certain price and size parameters and to authorize the announcement by the Company of its intention to make such a subsequent substantial issuer bid. At the same meeting, the Board of Directors, based on the unanimous recommendation of the Special Committee and after giving careful consideration to the factors set forth below, unanimously determined that the substantial issuer bid was in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders and approved the making of such a substantial issuer bid, including the terms, conditions and parameters of the Offer, and the delivery of the Circular to Imperial's Shareholders. Thereafter, pursuant to authority delegated by the Board of Directors, the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice-President, Finance and Administration of the Company determined the specific price range and remaining final terms of the Offer within parameters established by the Board of Directors, and RBC Capital Markets delivered its Liquidity Opinion.

In evaluating the Offer and determining that it would be in the best interests of the Company, the Special Committee and the Board of Directors gave careful consideration to a number of factors, including, without limitation, the following:

- (a) the Offer represented an opportunity for the Company to return up to \$1,500,000,000 of capital to Shareholders who elect to tender, while increasing the proportionate ownership interest of Shareholders who elect not to tender;
- (b) the deposit of Shares under the Offer is optional, the option is available to all Shareholders, and all Shareholders are free to accept or reject the Offer;
- (c) the positive impact that the purchase of Shares would have on the Company's earnings and cash flow calculated on a per Share basis, as well as on the return on equity on the Shares;
- (d) the Offer reduces the Company's Share count and therefore the Company's required cash outlay at any given dividend;
- (e) the repurchase of Shares represents an attractive investment and an appropriate and desirable use of available funds:
- (f) the Company's belief that the Offer is a prudent use of the Company's financial resources given its balance sheet strength, low capital requirements and strong cash generation;
- (g) after giving effect to the Offer, the Company will continue to have sufficient financial resources and working capital to conduct its ongoing business and operations and the Offer is not expected to preclude Imperial from pursuing its foreseeable business opportunities or the future growth of the Company's business;
- (h) the advice of the Company's financial advisor, RBC Capital Markets, in respect of the Offer, including regarding the liquidity of the market for the Shares immediately prior to and after completion of the Offer, and the advice of RBC Capital Markets that it would be in a position to render the Liquidity Opinion upon the Company's determination of the specific price range and remaining final terms of the Offer;
- (i) the fact that it is reasonable to conclude that, following the completion of the Offer in accordance with its terms, there will be a market for holders of Shares who do not tender to the Offer that is not materially less liquid than the market that existed at the time of the making of the Offer (see "Liquidity of Market" below);

- (j) the stated intention of the Principal Shareholder to make a Proportionate Tender and the implications thereof, including the fact that the number of Shares to be purchased pursuant to Proportionate Tenders will be dependent upon the number of Shares to be purchased from Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders; and the fact that the Proportionate Tenders will ensure that the public float is not disproportionately reduced as a result of the Offer;
- (k) the Offer provides Shareholders with an opportunity to realize on all or a portion of their investment in the Company should they desire liquidity in quantities and at prices which may otherwise be unavailable in the market and (i) to determine the price at which they are willing to sell their Shares if such Shares are tendered pursuant to an Auction Tender or (ii) tender their Shares without specifying a price if such Shares are deposited pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender and, in each case, to sell their Shares without incurring brokerage commissions which might otherwise be payable on a sale of their Shares in a transaction on the TSX or the NYSE American;
- (I) Shareholders wishing to tender Shares may do so pursuant to Auction Tenders, Purchase Price Tenders or Proportionate Tenders or by tendering a portion of Shares pursuant to Auction Tenders and another portion of Shares pursuant to Purchase Price Tenders;
- (m) the Offer provides Shareholders who are considering the sale of all or a portion of their Shares with the opportunity to sell such Shares for cash without the usual transaction costs associated with market sales:
- (n) the Offer is not conditional on any minimum number of Shares being deposited;
- (o) Shareholders who do not deposit their Shares under the Offer will realize an increase in their Share ownership in the Company to the extent that Shares are purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer: and
- (p) the Offer provides for equal and hence fair treatment of all Shareholders.

In connection with the Board of Directors approval at the October 27, 2022 meeting, certain directors of the Company, in accordance with subsection 120(1) of the *Canada Business Corporations Act*, notified the Company that they may have an interest in the Offer as a result of their current or prior involvement or relationship with the Principal Shareholder, namely Bradley W. Corson and Matthew R. Crocker. Accordingly, such directors abstained from voting on matters relating to the Offer at such meetings.

The foregoing summary of the factors considered by the Special Committee and the Board of Directors is not, and is not intended to be, exhaustive. In view of the variety of factors and the amount of information considered in connection with its determination to proceed with the Offer, the Special Committee and the Board of Directors did not find it practical to, and did not, quantify or otherwise attempt to assign any relative weight to each specific factor considered in reaching its conclusion.

None of Imperial, its Special Committee or its Board of Directors, the Dealer Manager or the Depositary makes any recommendation to any Shareholder as to whether to deposit or refrain from depositing Shares under the Offer. Shareholders are urged to evaluate carefully all information in the Offer, consult their own financial, legal, investment and tax advisors and make their own decisions whether to deposit Shares under the Offer, how many Shares to deposit and whether to specify a price and, if so, at what price to deposit such Shares. See Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations".

#### Liquidity of Market

As at October 31, 2022, there were 604,842,373 Shares issued and outstanding, of which 183,872,518 Shares comprise the Public float, which excludes Shares beneficially owned, or over which control or direction is exercised, by "related parties" of the Company (which includes our directors and senior officers and any of our subsidiaries as well as any Person that beneficially owns or exercises control or direction, directly or indirectly, over 10% or more of the issued and outstanding Shares) and Shares that are not "freely tradeable" (each as defined in MI 61-101) (the "**Public float**"). The maximum number of Shares that the Company is offering to purchase pursuant to the Offer, if the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (being the minimum price per Share under the Offer), represents approximately 3.4% of the Shares outstanding as of October 31, 2022. If the Company purchases such

maximum number of Shares, there will be approximately 584,152,718 Shares outstanding following completion of the Offer.

If the Company purchases such maximum number of Shares and none of the related parties deposit their Shares pursuant to the Offer, the Public float will comprise approximately 163,182,863 Shares. Assuming the Offer is fully subscribed, the minimum number of Shares that we are offering to purchase pursuant to the Offer represents approximately 2.9% of the Shares issued and outstanding as of October 31, 2022. If the Company purchases the minimum of 17,241,379 Shares pursuant to the Offer, and none of our related parties deposit their Shares pursuant to the Offer, the Public float will comprise approximately 166,631,139 Shares.

Imperial is relying on the "liquid market exemption" specified in MI 61-101 from the requirement to obtain a formal valuation applicable to the Offer. Accordingly, the valuation requirements of securities regulatory authorities in Canada applicable to issuer bids generally are not applicable in connection with the Offer.

Imperial has determined that there is a liquid market in the Shares because:

- (a) there is a published market for the Shares (the TSX and NYSE American);
- (b) during the 12 months before October 31, 2022 (the last full trading day prior to the date the Offer was publicly announced):
  - the number of issued and outstanding Shares was at all times at least 5,000,000 (excluding Shares beneficially owned, or over which control and direction was exercised, by related parties and securities that were not freely tradeable);
  - (ii) the aggregate trading volume of Shares on the TSX (the exchange on which the Shares were principally traded) was at least 1,000,000 Shares;
  - (iii) there were at least 1,000 trades in the Shares on the TSX; and
  - (iv) the aggregate value of the trades in the Shares on the TSX was at least \$15,000,000;
- (c) the market value of the Shares on the TSX, as determined in accordance with MI 61-101, was at least \$75,000,000 for September 2022 (the calendar month preceding the calendar month in which the Offer was announced).

Imperial has also obtained, on a voluntary basis, the Liquidity Opinion of RBC Capital Markets to the effect that a liquid market for the Shares existed as of October 31, 2022 and that it is reasonable to conclude that, following the completion of the Offer, there will be a market for holders of Shares who do not tender to the Offer that is not materially less liquid than the market that existed at the time of the making of the Offer. A copy of the Liquidity Opinion of RBC Capital Markets is attached hereto as Schedule A and Shareholders are encouraged to read it in its entirety. The Liquidity Opinion is not a recommendation to any Shareholder as to whether to deposit or refrain from depositing Shares.

Based on the liquid market test set out above and the Liquidity Opinion of RBC Capital Markets, the Company determined that it is reasonable to conclude that, following the completion of the Offer, there will be a market for holders of Shares who do not tender to the Offer that is not materially less liquid than the market that existed at the time of the making of the Offer.

Accordingly, the valuation requirements of securities regulatory authorities in Canada applicable to issuer bids generally are not applicable in connection with the Offer.

For further information, see the tables and information included in Section 4 of the Circular, "Price Range of Shares", Section 5 of the Circular, "Dividend Policy", and Section 6 of the Circular, "Previous Purchases of Shares".

## Additional Securities Law Considerations

Imperial is a reporting issuer (or the equivalent thereof) in each of the provinces and territories of Canada, and the Shares are listed on the TSX. Imperial believes that the purchase of Shares pursuant to the Offer will not

result in: (i) Imperial ceasing to be a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction in Canada, or (ii) the Shares being delisted from the TSX.

Imperial is a reporting issuer under the Exchange Act and the Shares are registered under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and have unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American. Imperial believes that the purchase of Shares pursuant to the Offer will not result in: (i) the Shares becoming eligible for deregistration under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act or (ii) the Shares losing their unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American. The Offer is conditioned upon, among other things, the Company having determined that the consummation of the Offer is not reasonably likely to cause the Shares to lose their unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American or to be eligible for deregistration under the Exchange Act.

The Shares are currently "margin securities" under the rules of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board. This has the effect, among other things, of allowing brokers to extend credit on the collateral of the Shares. The Company believes that, following the repurchase of Shares pursuant to the Offer, the Shares will continue to be margin securities for the purposes of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board's margin regulations.

#### 4. PRICE RANGE OF SHARES

The Shares are listed on the TSX under the symbol "IMO" and on NYSE American under the symbol "IMO". The following tables set forth the reported high and low prices per Share and total trading volume of Shares as reported by the TSX and by the NYSE American for the periods indicated:

TSX			
Month	High (\$)	<b>Low</b> (\$)	Total Volume (#)
2022			
October	75.19	60.98	29,198,626
September	65.33	55.26	27,809,172
August	68.32	53.43	32,481,826
July	62.73	52.67	26,357,795
June	72.61	57.90	30,411,757
May	72.96	59.97	28,999,833
April	66.27	57.73	23,832,501
March	60.92	52.28	49,174,414
February	57.72	51.47	27,968,151
January	53.65	46.30	32,521,564
2021			
December	45.94	41.04	29,289,313
November	45.47	40.96	34,803,995
October	45.49	40.01	24,320,821

NYSE American			
Month	High (US\$)	Low (US\$)	Total Volume (#)
2022			
October	55.20	44.20	11,374,709
September	49.96	40.20	9,561,249
August	52.55	41.37	15,039,678
July	48.83	39.95	14,980,131
June	57.89	44.60	16,039,206
May	57.63	45.96	13,484,899
April	52.54	45.18	11,981,619

NYSE American			
Month	High	Low	<b>Total Volume</b>
March	48.84	40.80	13,937,933
February	45.33	40.50	9,006,546
January	42.48	36.19	10,190,750
2021			
December	36.70	31.71	6,508,887
November	36.21	32.28	9,037,174
October	36.80	31.66	10,951,149

On October 27, 2022, the last full trading day prior to the date of the public announcement by Imperial of its intention to make the Offer, the closing price of the Shares on the TSX was \$67.47 and US\$49.80 on the NYSE American.

Shareholders are urged to obtain current market quotations for the Shares.

# 5. DIVIDEND POLICY

Date Paid	Dividend per Share (\$)
October 1, 2022	0.34
July 1, 2022	0.34
April 1, 2022	0.34
January 1, 2022	0.27
October 1, 2021	0.27
July 1, 2021	0.27
April 1, 2021	0.22
January 1, 2021	0.22
October 1, 2020	0.22

On October 28, 2022, Imperial declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.44 per Share on the outstanding Shares of the Company, payable on January 1, 2023 to shareholders of record at the close of business December 2, 2022.

The Board of Directors has determined that each of the foregoing quarterly dividends was, at the time of declaration, appropriate based on the Company's results of operations, current and anticipated cash requirements and surplus, financial condition, contractual restrictions and financing agreement covenants, solvency tests imposed by corporate law and upon other relevant factors. The payment of each future quarterly dividend remains subject to the declaration of such dividend by the Board of Directors. The actual amount, the declaration date, the record date and the payment date of each quarterly dividend are subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors.

## 6. Previous Purchases of Shares

Except for the purchase of Shares pursuant to the Q2 2022 SIB and the Company's normal course issuer bids described below, no securities of the Company have been purchased by the Company during the 12 months preceding the date of the Offer.

On June 23, 2021, the Company announced the commencement of a normal course issuer bid to repurchase for cancellation up to 35,583,671 of its Shares over the 12-month period commencing on June 29, 2021 and ending no later than June 28, 2022. This maximum amount included Shares purchased both under the normal course issuer bid and from ExxonMobil concurrent with, but outside of the normal course issuer bid. Imperial completed all possible purchases under the 2021 NCIB by January 31, 2022, resulting in a total of 35,583,671 Shares being repurchased and cancelled for a total consideration of approximately \$1,529 million. All such purchases were completed through the facilities of the TSX and other applicable marketplaces in Canada pursuant to the normal

course issuer bid and from ExxonMobil concurrent with, but outside of, the normal course issuer bid. The purchases under the normal course issuer bid were completed at the prevailing market price at the time of each purchase and, including purchases from ExxonMobil, ranged from a daily average price per Share of \$31.36 to \$52.55, with an average price per Share of \$42.97.

On June 23, 2022, the Company announced the commencement of a normal course issuer bid to repurchase for cancellation up to 31,833,809 of its Shares over the 12-month period commencing on June 29, 2022 and ending no later than June 28, 2023. This maximum amount included Shares purchased both under the normal course issuer bid and from ExxonMobil concurrent with, but outside of the normal course issuer bid. Imperial completed all possible purchases under the 2022 NCIB by October 21, 2022, resulting in a total of 31,833,809 Shares being repurchased and cancelled for a total consideration of approximately \$1,945 million. All such purchases were completed through the facilities of the TSX and other applicable marketplaces in Canada pursuant to the normal course issuer bid and from ExxonMobil concurrent with, but outside of, the normal course issuer bid. The purchases under the normal course issuer bid were completed at the prevailing market price at the time of each purchase and, including purchases from ExxonMobil, ranged from a daily average price per Share of \$53.27 to \$67.74, with an average price per Share of \$61.11.

On May 6, 2022, the company commenced a substantial issuer bid pursuant to which it offered to purchase for cancellation up to \$2.5 billion of its Shares through a modified Dutch auction and proportionate tender offer. The Q2 2022 SIB expired on June 10, 2022, with the Company taking up and paying for 32,467,532 Shares at a price of \$77.00 per Share, for an aggregate purchase of \$2.5 billion. This included 22,597,379 Shares purchased from ExxonMobil by way of a proportionate tender to maintain its ownership percentage at approximately 69.6% of issued and outstanding Shares. The Q2 2022 SIB allowed the Company to return an additional \$2.5 billion of capital to Shareholders who elected to tender their Shares while at the same time increasing the Share ownership of Shareholders who elected not to tender.

#### 7. Previous Sales of Securities

Except as described under "Previous Distributions of Shares" below, during the 12 months preceding the date of the Offer, no securities of Imperial were sold by the Company.

#### 8. Previous Distributions of Shares

The following table sets out the number of Shares that were issued by the Company on an annual basis for the five years preceding the date of the Offer upon the vesting of restricted stock units ("**RSUs**"), in each case, which were granted under Imperial's long-term incentive programs:

Average Dries nor leaved

Charas laguad on

Voca of Distribution	Exercise/Settlement	Share	Aggregate Value
Year of Distribution	(#)	(\$)	(\$)
2022 (through November 4)	0	0	0
2021	6,725	45.20	303,970
2020	6,975	24.34	169,772
2019	650	34.58	22,477
2018	2,125	34.06	72,378
2017	1,750	38.80	67,900

In addition, over the 12 months ended October 31, 2022, the number of RSUs granted was 680,720.

#### 9. Interest of Directors and Officers

## Interest of Directors and Officers

Except as set forth in the Offer, neither the Company nor, to its knowledge, any of its officers or directors, are a party to any contract, arrangement or understanding, formal or informal, with any Shareholder relating, directly or indirectly, to the Offer or with any other Person or company with respect to any securities in relation to the Offer, nor are there any contracts or arrangements made or proposed to be made between the Company and any of its directors or officers and no payments or other benefits are proposed to be made or given by way of compensation for loss of office or as to such directors or officers remaining in or retiring from office if the Offer is successful.

Except as set forth in the Offer, neither the Company nor, to its knowledge, any of its officers or directors have current plans or proposals which relate to, or would result in, any extraordinary corporate transaction involving the Company, such as a "going private transaction", a merger, a reorganization, the sale or transfer of a material amount of the Company's assets or the assets of any of the Company's subsidiaries (although Imperial from time to time may consider various acquisition or divestiture opportunities), any material change in the Company's present Board of Directors or management, any material change in the Company's indebtedness or capitalization, any other material change in its business or corporate structure, any material change in its Articles, or actions that could cause the Shares to be delisted from the TSX or lose unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American, or to become eligible for termination of registration under the Exchange Act or any actions similar to any of the foregoing.

#### Ownership of Imperial's Securities

To the knowledge of the Company, after reasonable inquiry, the following tables indicate, as at October 28, 2022, the number of securities of the Company beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised, by each director and officer of the Company, and, after reasonable inquiry, each insider of the Company (other than directors and officers) and their respective associates and affiliates, and each associate or affiliate of the Company or Person or company acting jointly or in concert with the Company in connection with the Offer.

		Sh	Shares		RSUs		DSUs	
Name	Relationship with the Company	Number of Shares	Percentage of Outstanding Shares	Number of RSUs	Percentage of Outstanding RSUs	Number of DSUs	Percentage of Outstanding DSUs	
Bradley W. Corson	Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer	-	-	234,600	5.9%	-	-	
Daniel E. Lyons	Senior Vice-President, Finance and Administration and Controller	-	-	78,000	2.0%	-	-	
David W. Cornhill	Director	12,500	<0.01%	14,900	0.4%	12,799	7.2%	
Matthew R. Crocker	Director	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Krystyna T. Hoeg	Director	-	-	17,200	0.4%	53,616	30.3%	
Miranda C. Hubbs	Director	-	-	12,300	0.3%	16,202	9.2%	
Jack M. Mintz	Director	1,000	<0.01%	17,200	0.4%	48,206	27.3%	
David S. Sutherland	Director	55,000	<0.01%	17,200	0.4%	45,961	26.0%	
Simon P. Younger	Senior Vice-President, Upstream	-	-	32,400	0.8%	-	-	
Bruce A. Jolly	Assistant Controller	12,228	<0.01%	68,600	1.7%	-	-	
Jonathan R. Wetmore	Vice-President, Downstream and Western Canada Fuels Manager	15,698	<0.01%	56,900	1.4%	-	-	
Sherri L. Evers	Vice-President, Commercial and Corporate Development	2,825	<0.01%	28,000	0.7%	-	-	
Kit Yee Kitty Lee	Treasurer	2,856	<0.01%	6,300	0.2%	-	-	
Kristi L. Desjardins	Vice-President, Human Resources	4,206	<0.01%	7,100	0.2%	-	-	
Constance D. Gemmell	Director, Corporate Tax	929	<0.01%	22,250	0.6%	-	-	
Kimberly J. Haas	Vice-President, Chemicals and Sarnia Chemical Plant Manager	-	-	-	-	-	-	
lan R. Laing	Vice-President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary	5,460	<0.01%	36,600	0.9%	-	-	

		Shares		RSUs		DSUs	
Name	Relationship with the Company	Number of Shares	Percentage of Outstanding Shares	Number of RSUs	Percentage of Outstanding RSUs	Number of DSUs	Percentage of Outstanding DSUs
Matthew K. Davie	Director and Officer of Subsidiary	2,469	<0.01%	37,800	1.0%	-	-
Christopher S. Leyerzapf	Officer of Subsidiary	781	<0.01%	3,700	0.1%	-	-
Sleiman S. Bassila	Director and Officer of Subsidiary	3,437	<0.01%	2,300	0.1%	-	-
Exxon Mobil Corporation	Shareholder	420,969,855	69.6%			-	-
	Directors of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Darren W. Woods	Director and officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Neil A. Chapman	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Kathryn A. Mikells	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	=
Jack P. Williams, Jr.	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Leonard M. Fox	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Liam M. Mallon	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Karen T. McKee	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	=
Craig S. Morford	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	=
James M. Spellings, Jr.	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Jon M. Gibbs	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-
Darrin L. Talley	Officer of majority shareholder	-	-	-	-	-	-

As of October 28, 2022, the directors and officers of the Company set forth above, as a group, beneficially owned or exercised control or direction over an aggregate of 119,389 Shares, representing approximately 0.02% of the Shares outstanding.

Based on the Company's records and on information provided to the Company by the Company's directors, officers, affiliates and subsidiaries, neither the Company nor any of the Company's directors, officers, affiliates or subsidiaries nor, to the best of the Company's knowledge, ExxonMobil or any executive officer or director of ExxonMobil, has effected any transactions involving the Shares during the 60 days prior to October 28, 2022, except for the following transactions:

Name	Transaction Date	Number of Shares	Price per Share	Transaction Description
Bruce A. Jolly	September 1, 2022	28	\$62.87	Savings plan purchase of shares
	September 16, 2022	29	\$60.61	(automatic and DRIP)
	September 30, 2022	29	\$60.29	
	October 4, 2022	64	\$59.65	
	October 17, 2022	27	\$65.13	

Name	Transaction Date	Number of Shares	Price per Share	Transaction Description
Jonathan R. Wetmore	September 1, 2022	28	\$62.87	Savings plan purchase of shares
	September 16, 2022	29	\$60.61	(automatic and DRIP)
	September 30, 2022	29	\$60.29	
	October 4, 2022	88	\$59.65	
	October 17, 2022	27	\$65.13	
Sherri L. Evers	October 4, 2022	16	\$59.65	Savings plan purchase of shares (DRIP)
Kit Yee Kitty Lee	October 4, 2022	16	\$59.65	Savings plan purchase of shares (DRIP)
Kristi L. Desjardins	October 4, 2022	23	\$59.65	Savings plan purchase of shares (DRIP)
Constance D. Gemmell	October 4, 2022	5	\$59.65	Savings plan purchase of shares (DRIP)
Ian R. Laing	September 1, 2022	8	\$62.87	Savings plan purchase of shares
	September 16, 2022	8	\$60.61	(automatic and DRIP)
	September 30, 2022	8	\$60.29	
	October 4, 2022	30	\$59.65	
	October 17, 2022	8	\$65.13	
Matthew K. Davie	October 4, 2022	13	\$59.65	Savings plan purchase of shares (DRIP)
Sleiman S. Bassila	October 4, 2022	19	\$59.65	Savings plan purchase of shares (DRIP)
Exxon Mobil Corporation	August 26, 2022	331,753	\$65.66	Disposition of shares pursuant to Imperial
	August 29, 2022	331,753	\$67.68	Oil Limited normal course issuer bid to
	August 30, 2022	331,753	\$65.44	maintain proportionate ownership
	August 31, 2022	331,753	\$64.46	
	September 1, 2022	331,752	\$62.73	
	September 2, 2022	331,753	\$64.27	
	September 6, 2022	331,753	\$63.31	
	September 7, 2022	331,753	\$61.16	
	September 8, 2022	331,752	\$61.79	
	September 9, 2022	331,753	\$63.10	
	September 12, 2022	331,753	\$63.33	
	September 13, 2022	331,753	\$62.83	
	September 14, 2022	331,752	\$63.95	
	September 15, 2022	331,753	\$61.44	
	September 16, 2022	331,753	\$60.85	
	September 19, 2022	331,753	\$61.85	
	September 20, 2022	331,752	\$61.91	
	September 21, 2022	331,753	\$60.97	
	September 22, 2022	331,753	\$60.84	
	September 23, 2022	331,753	\$57.09	
	September 26, 2022	331,753	\$55.45	
	September 27, 2022	331,752	\$57.52	
	September 28, 2022	331,753	\$60.09	
	September 29, 2022	331,753	\$60.54	
	September 30, 2022	331,753	\$59.81	
	October 3, 2022	331,752	\$62.82	
	October 4, 2022	331,753	\$64.83	
	October 5, 2022	331,753	\$64.87	
	October 6, 2022	331,753	\$65.97	
	October 7, 2022	331,752	\$64.92	
	October 11, 2022	331,753	\$62.56	
	October 12, 2022	331,753	\$63.38	
	October 13, 2022	331,753	\$66.36	
	October 14, 2022	331,752	\$64.12	
	October 17, 2022	331,753	\$64.41	
	October 18, 2022	331,753	\$64.49	
	October 19, 2022	331,753	\$67.06	

Name	Transaction Date	Number of Shares	Price per Share	Transaction Description
	October 20, 2022	331,753	\$66.85	
	October 21, 2022	331,756	\$67.84	

#### 10. ARRANGEMENTS CONCERNING SHARES

#### Acceptance of the Offer

The Principal Shareholder has advised the Company that it will make a Proportionate Tender in order to maintain its proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer. In making a Proportionate Tender, ExxonMobil allows other Shareholders to determine the Purchase Price and the aggregate number of Shares tendered in the Offer, thus eliminating any effect ExxonMobil could have on other Shareholders by making an Auction Tender or a Purchase Price Tender. ExxonMobil will receive the same consideration for its Shares on a per Share basis as all other Shareholders.

To the knowledge of the Company, after reasonable inquiry, none of the people named under Section 9 of the Circular "Interest of Directors and Officers – Ownership of Imperial's Securities", other than ExxonMobil, will be depositing any Shares pursuant to the Offer.

The intention of the Principal Shareholder, the directors and officers of the Company and their respective associates or affiliates as described above may change or, subject to compliance with applicable laws, Shares may be sold on the TSX or NYSE American during the period of the Offer depending on the change in circumstance of such parties.

## **Commitments to Acquire Shares**

Imperial has no agreements, commitments or understandings to purchase Shares other than pursuant to the Offer and other than pursuant to the Savings Plan. To the knowledge of the Company, after reasonable inquiry, no Person or company referred to in this Circular under Section 9 of the Circular "Interest of Directors and Officers – Ownership of Imperial's Securities" has any agreement, commitment or understanding to acquire securities of the Company.

## Benefits from the Offer

Except as described or referred to in the Offer, no Person or company named under Section 9 of the Circular "Interest of Directors and Officers – Ownership of Imperial's Securities" will receive any direct or indirect benefit from accepting or refusing to accept the Offer other than the Purchase Price for any Shares purchased by the Company in accordance with the terms of the Offer and any benefit available to any Shareholder who does or does not participate in the Offer. See Section 3 of the Circular, "Purpose and Effect of the Offer".

# Contracts, Arrangements or Understandings with Shareholders

Except as described or referred to in the Offer, there are no contracts, arrangements or understandings, formal or informal, made or proposed to be made between the Company and any holder of any securities of the Company in relation to the Offer.

## 11. MATERIAL CHANGES IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY

Except as described or referred to in the Offer or as otherwise publicly disclosed, the Company is not aware of any plans or proposals for material changes in the affairs of the Company, or of any undisclosed material changes, that have occurred since November 2, 2022, the date on which the Company's most recent interim financial report was filed by the Company with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities, which may be accessed on SEDAR's website at www.sec.gov.

The Company considers strategic acquisition and divestment opportunities on an ongoing basis. The Company may have proposals, letters of intent, exclusivity arrangements or other conditional commitments outstanding with respect to opportunities which may, if they proceed, be material to the Company. However, there can be no assurance that any of these discussions will result in a definitive agreement and, if they do, what the terms or timing of any acquisition, investment or disposition would be or that such acquisition, investment or disposition will be completed by the Company.

#### 12. PRIOR VALUATIONS AND BONA FIDE OFFERS

The Company is relying on the "liquid market exemption" specified in MI 61-101. Accordingly, the valuation requirements of securities regulatory authorities in Canada applicable to issuer bids generally are not applicable in connection with the Offer.

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, after reasonable inquiry, no "prior valuation" (as defined in MI 61-101) in respect of the Company has been made in the 24 months before the date hereof. No bona fide prior offer that relates to the Shares or is otherwise relevant to the Offer has been received by the Company during the 24 months preceding the date of the Offer.

#### 13. INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

#### Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations

The Company has been advised by Stikeman Elliott LLP that the following summary describes certain of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations pursuant to the Tax Act generally applicable, as at the date hereof, to a disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer.

This summary is based on the current provisions of the Tax Act, the regulations thereunder, the Proposed Amendments and counsel's understanding of the current administrative policies and assessing practices of the CRA published in writing prior to the date hereof. This summary assumes that the Proposed Amendments will be enacted in the form currently proposed. No assurances can be given that the Proposed Amendments will be enacted as currently proposed, or at all. This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law or administrative policies or assessing practices, whether by judicial, governmental or legislative decision or action, nor does it take into account provincial, territorial or foreign tax considerations, which may differ significantly from those discussed herein.

This summary is not applicable to a Shareholder: (i) that is a "financial institution", (ii) that is a "specified financial institution" or a "restricted financial institution", (iii) an interest in which is a "tax shelter investment", (iv) that reports its "Canadian tax results" in a currency other than Canadian dollars, (v) that is a partnership or a trust, or (vi) that has entered into a "derivative forward agreement" or a "dividend rental arrangement" in respect of the Shares, as each of those terms is defined in the Tax Act. This summary is also not applicable to a Shareholder that acquired Shares pursuant to the exercise of an employee stock option and who disposes of such Shares pursuant to the Offer. Such Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding their particular circumstances.

This summary is of a general nature only and is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations. This summary is not, and should not be construed as, legal or tax advice to any particular Shareholder and no representations with respect to Canadian federal income tax consequences to any particular Shareholder are made. Accordingly, Shareholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to their particular circumstances.

Having regard to the deemed dividend tax treatment (including Canadian withholding tax for non-residents of Canada) described below on a disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer as opposed to capital gains (or capital loss) treatment which would generally apply to a disposition in the market, Shareholders who wish to dispose of their Shares and who are not generally exempt from Canadian federal income tax should consult their tax advisors regarding the disposition of their Shares in the market as an alternative to disposing of their Shares pursuant to the Offer, in order that capital gains (or capital loss) treatment apply on the disposition of their Shares.

For purposes of the Tax Act, all amounts relating to the acquisition, holding or disposition or deemed disposition of Shares must be expressed in Canadian dollars. This summary assumes that at all relevant times the Shares are listed on a "designated stock exchange" as defined in the Tax Act (which currently includes the TSX).

#### Residents of Canada

This portion of the summary is applicable to a Resident Shareholder. Generally, Shares will be considered to be capital property to a Resident Shareholder provided that the Resident Shareholder does not hold the Shares in the course of carrying on a business and has not acquired the Shares in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. A Resident Shareholder whose Shares might not otherwise qualify as capital property may, in certain circumstances, make an irrevocable election under subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act to have the Shares and every other "Canadian security", as defined in the Tax Act, owned by such Resident Shareholder in the taxation year of the election and in all subsequent taxation years deemed to be capital property. Resident Shareholders are advised to consult their own tax advisors to determine if this election is appropriate in their particular circumstances.

A Resident Shareholder who disposes of Shares pursuant to the Offer will be deemed to receive a taxable dividend on a separate class of shares comprising the Shares so sold equal to the excess of the amount paid by Imperial for the Shares, being the Purchase Price, over their paid-up capital for purposes of the Tax Act. Imperial estimates that on the Expiration Date the paid-up capital per Share should not exceed \$1.75 for purposes of the Tax Act. As a result, Imperial expects that a Resident Shareholder who disposes of Shares under the Offer will be deemed to receive a taxable dividend. The exact quantum of the deemed dividend cannot be guaranteed.

Any dividend deemed to be received by a Resident Shareholder who is an individual will be subject to gross-up and dividend tax credit rules applicable to taxable dividends received by Canadian resident individuals from a taxable Canadian corporation, including the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit with respect to eligible dividend, if applicable. There may be limitations on the ability of a corporation to designate dividends as eligible dividends. Imperial intends to designate the maximum amount, as permitted without creating taxes for Imperial under the Tax Act, of the deemed dividend as an eligible dividend.

Subject to the application of subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act, as described below, any dividend deemed to be received by a Resident Shareholder that is a corporation will be included in computing such Resident Shareholder's income as a dividend, and will ordinarily be deductible in computing its taxable income subject also to all other limitations under the Tax Act. To the extent that such a deduction is available, private corporations (as defined in the Tax Act) and certain other corporations may be liable to pay tax under Part IV of the Tax Act at a rate of 38 1/3% of the amount of the deemed dividend. This additional tax may be refundable in certain circumstances.

Under subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act, a Resident Shareholder that is a corporation may be required to treat all or a portion of any deemed dividend that is deductible in computing taxable income as proceeds of disposition of capital property and not as a dividend where the Resident Shareholder would have realized a capital gain if it disposed of any Share at fair market value immediately before the disposition of Shares to Imperial, the disposition to Imperial resulted in a significant reduction in such capital gain and the dividend exceeds the "safe income" in respect of the particular Share that could reasonably be considered to contribute to such capital gain. Subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act does not apply to the portion of the taxable dividend subject to tax under Part IV of the Tax Act that is not refunded under the circumstances specified in subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act. The application of subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act involves a number of factual considerations that will differ for each Resident Shareholder and a Resident Shareholder to whom it may be relevant is urged to consult its own tax advisors concerning its application having regard to its particular circumstances.

The amount paid by Imperial under the Offer for the Shares less any amount deemed to be received by the Resident Shareholder as a dividend (after the application of subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act, if applicable, in the case of a corporate Resident Shareholder) will be treated as proceeds of disposition of the Shares. The Resident Shareholder will realize a capital gain (or capital loss) on the disposition of the Shares equal to the amount by which the Resident Shareholder's proceeds of disposition, net of any costs of disposition, exceed (or are less than) the adjusted cost base to the Resident Shareholder of the Shares sold to Imperial pursuant to the Offer.

Generally, a Resident Shareholder will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year one-half of any capital gain (a "Taxable capital gain") realized by it in that year. A Resident Shareholder must generally deduct one-half of the amount of any capital loss (an "Allowable capital loss") realized in a taxation year from Taxable capital gains realized by the Resident Shareholder in that year, and any excess may generally be applied to reduce Taxable capital gains realized by the Resident Shareholder in the three preceding taxation years or in any subsequent taxation year to the extent and under the circumstances specified in the Tax Act.

The amount of a capital loss realized on the disposition of a Share by a Resident Shareholder that is a corporation should, to the extent and under the circumstances specified in the Tax Act, be reduced by the amount of

dividends received or deemed to be received on the Shares (including any dividends deemed to be received as a result of the disposition of Shares to Imperial under the Offer). Similar rules may apply where Shares are owned by a partnership or trust of which a corporation, trust or partnership is a member or beneficiary. Resident Shareholders who may be affected by these rules are urged to consult with their own tax advisors in this regard.

A Resident Shareholder who is an individual (other than a trust) and has realized a capital loss on the disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer could have all or a portion of that loss denied under the "superficial loss" rules set out in the Tax Act. In general, these rules apply where such Resident Shareholder or a Person affiliated with such Resident Shareholder has acquired Shares in the period beginning 30 days before the disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer and ending 30 days after the disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer, and such acquired Shares are owned by such Resident Shareholder or by a Person affiliated with such Resident Shareholder at the end of such period. Resident Shareholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to the "superficial loss" rules.

A Resident Shareholder that is a corporation or trust and has realized a capital loss on the disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer could have all or a portion of that loss denied under the "stop-loss" rules set out in the Tax Act. In general, these rules apply where such Resident Shareholder or a Person affiliated with such Resident Shareholder has acquired Shares in the period beginning 30 days before the disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer and ending 30 days after the disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer, and such acquired Shares are owned by such Resident Shareholder or by a Person affiliated with such Resident Shareholder at the end of such period. Resident Shareholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to the "stop-loss" rules.

A Resident Shareholder that is a "Canadian-controlled private corporation" (as defined in the Tax Act) throughout the year may be liable to pay an additional tax on its "aggregate investment income" for the year, which is defined to include an amount in respect of Taxable capital gains. This additional tax may be refundable in certain circumstances. Proposed Amendments released by the Minister of Finance (Canada) on August 9, 2022, are intended to extend this additional tax and refund mechanism in respect of aggregate investment income to "substantive CCPCs" (as proposed to be defined in the Tax Act). Resident Shareholders are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of these Proposed Amendments in their particular circumstances.

A Resident Shareholder who is an individual or a trust (other than certain specified trusts), who realizes a capital gain or who is deemed to receive a dividend on the disposition of Shares pursuant to the Offer may be subject to alternative minimum tax under the Tax Act. Such Resident Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the alternative minimum tax rules set out in the Tax Act.

#### Non-Residents of Canada

This portion of the summary is applicable to a Non-Resident Shareholder.

A Non-Resident Shareholder who disposes of Shares pursuant to the Offer will be deemed to receive a dividend equal to the excess of the amount paid by Imperial for the Shares, being the Purchase Price, over their paid-up capital for Canadian income tax purposes. As a result, Imperial expects that Non-Resident Shareholders who disposes of Shares under the Offer will be deemed to receive a dividend. Imperial estimates that on the Expiration Date the paid-up capital per Share should not exceed \$1.75 for purposes of the Tax Act. The exact quantum of the deemed dividend cannot be guaranteed. Any such dividend will be subject to Canadian withholding tax at a rate of 25% or such lower rate as may be provided under the terms of an applicable Canadian tax treaty.

A Non-Resident Shareholder will not be subject to tax under the Tax Act in respect of any capital gain realized on the disposition of a Share pursuant to the Offer.

In view of the deemed dividend tax treatment described above on a sale of Shares pursuant to this Offer and the resulting Canadian withholding tax, Non-Resident Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding selling their Shares in the market as an alternative to selling Shares pursuant to the Offer.

#### Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following discussion describes certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Offer to Shareholders whose securities are properly tendered and accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer. Those

Shareholders who do not participate in the Offer will not incur any U.S. federal income tax liability as a result of the Offer.

This discussion is based upon the provisions of the Code, existing final and temporary regulations promulgated thereunder (the "**Treasury Regulations**"), and current administrative rulings and court decisions, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Changes in these authorities may cause the U.S. federal income tax consequences to vary substantially from those described below.

This discussion applies only to U.S. Holders (as defined below) of the Company's Shares that own the Shares as "capital assets" within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment), and does not comment on all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be important to certain Shareholders in light of their particular circumstances, such as Shareholders subject to special tax rules (e.g., banks and other financial institutions, brokers, dealers or traders in securities or commodities, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, traders that elect to mark-to-market their securities, certain expatriates or former long-term residents of the United States, personal holding companies, "S" corporations, U.S. expatriates, tax- exempt organizations, tax-qualified retirement plans, Persons that own 10% or more of the Company's voting stock, Persons who are subject to alternative minimum tax, Persons who hold Shares as a position in a "straddle" or as part of a "hedging," "conversion" or "integrated" transaction, Persons that have a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar, controlled foreign corporations, passive foreign investment companies, or Persons who acquired Shares through the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation for services). If a partnership (including any entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is a Shareholder, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partnerships or partners in a partnership holding Shares should consult their own tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of participating in the Offer.

THIS SUMMARY IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY AND IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE A COMPLETE DESCRIPTION OF ALL TAX CONSEQUENCES RELATING TO THE OFFER. SHAREHOLDERS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM (INCLUDING THE APPLICATION AND EFFECT OF ANY STATE, LOCAL AND NON-U.S. INCOME AND OTHER TAX LAWS) OF THE OFFER.

For purposes of this summary, a "U.S. Holder" is a beneficial owner of Shares that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes: (i) a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien, (ii) a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, that was created or organized under the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust that either is subject to the supervision of a court within the United States and has one or more U.S. Persons with authority to control all of its substantial decisions or has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a U.S. Person.

Characterization of the Purchase — Distribution vs. Sale Treatment

The purchase of Shares from a U.S. Holder pursuant to the Offer generally will be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a consequence of any such purchase, a U.S. Holder will, depending on the U.S. Holder's particular circumstances, be treated either as having sold its Shares or as having received a distribution in respect of such Shares. The purchase will be treated as a sale if a U.S. Holder meets at least one of the three tests discussed below (the "Section 302 tests"). The purchase will be treated as a distribution if the U.S. Holder does not satisfy any of the Section 302 tests.

Section 302 Tests — Determination of Sale or Distribution Treatment

The purchase of Shares pursuant to the Offer will be treated as a sale of the Shares by a U.S. Holder if any of the following Section 302 tests is satisfied:

- as a result of the purchase, there is a "complete redemption" of the U.S. Holder's equity interest in the Company;
- as a result of the purchase, there is a "substantially disproportionate" reduction in the U.S. Holder's equity interest in the Company; or

 the receipt of cash by the U.S. Holder is "not essentially equivalent to a dividend". These tests are described more fully below.

For purposes of the Section 302 tests, the constructive ownership rules of Section 318 of the Code generally apply. As a result, a U.S. Holder is treated as owning not only stock of the Company actually owned by such holder but also stock of the Company actually (and in some cases constructively) owned by certain related entities and individuals. Under the constructive ownership rules, a U.S. Holder will be considered to own stock of the Company owned, directly or indirectly, by certain members of the holder's family and certain entities (such as corporations, partnerships, trusts and estates) in which the U.S. Holder has an equity interest or (in the case of a U.S. Holder that is itself an entity) which have an interest in the U.S Holder, as well as certain stock of the Company which the U.S. Holder has an option to acquire or can acquire by exchange of a convertible security. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the operation of these constructive ownership rules.

The purchase of Shares pursuant to the Offer will result in a "complete redemption" of a U.S. Holder's equity interest in the Company for purposes of the Section 302 tests, if, immediately after such purchase, such U.S. Holder owns, actually and constructively, no stock of the Company. In applying the "complete redemption" test, U.S. Holders may be able to waive the application of constructive ownership through the family attribution rules, provided that such U.S. Holders comply with the provisions of Section 302(c)(2) of the Code and applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations.

U.S. Holders wishing to satisfy the "complete redemption" test through satisfaction of the special conditions set forth in Section 302(c)(2) of the Code should consult their tax advisors concerning the mechanics and desirability of those conditions.

In general, the purchase of a U.S. Holder's Shares pursuant to the Offer will be "substantially disproportionate" as to a U.S. Holder for purposes of the Section 302 tests if, immediately after the purchase, the percentage of the outstanding voting stock of the Company that the U.S. Holder actually and constructively owns is less than 80% of the percentage of the outstanding voting stock of the Company actually and constructively owned by such U.S. Holder immediately before the purchase and, immediately following the exchange, such U.S. Holder actually and constructively owns less than 50% of the total combined voting power of the Company.

The purchase of a U.S. Holder's Shares pursuant to the Offer will be treated as "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" for purposes of the Section 302 tests if it results in a "meaningful reduction" in the U.S. Holder's proportionate interest in the Company, given the U.S. Holder's particular facts and circumstances. The IRS has indicated in a published ruling that even a small reduction in the percentage interest of a Shareholder whose relative stock interest in a publicly held corporation is minimal after taking into account the constructive ownership rules of Section 318 of the Code, and who exercises no control over corporate affairs should constitute a "meaningful reduction". U.S. Holders who intend to qualify for sale treatment by demonstrating that the proceeds received from the Company are "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" should consult their tax advisors to determine the possibility of satisfying this test.

The Company cannot predict whether any particular U.S. Holder will be subject to sale or distribution treatment.

Each U.S. Holder should be aware that because proration may occur in the Offer, even if all of the Shares actually and constructively owned by a U.S. Holder are tendered pursuant to the Offer and the U.S. Holder does not actually or constructively own any other stock of the Company, fewer than all of such Shares may be purchased by the Company. Also, a tendering U.S. Holder may not be able to satisfy one of the Section 302 Tests because of contemporaneous acquisitions of shares by such U.S. Holder or a related party whose shares are attributed to such U.S. Holder. Consequently, the Company cannot provide assurances that a sufficient number of any particular U.S. Holder's Shares will be purchased to ensure that this purchase will be treated as a sale, rather than as a distribution, for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Treatment of a Distribution in Respect of Shares.

Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, if a U.S. Holder does not satisfy any of the Section 302 tests described above, the full amount received by the U.S. Holder pursuant to the Offer will be treated as a distribution to the U.S. Holder with respect to the U.S. Holder's Shares. The tax basis of the Shares that a U.S. Holder sells pursuant to the Offer will be added to the tax basis of such holder's remaining Shares. To the extent of the Company's current and accumulated earnings and profits allocated to the U.S. Holder's Shares, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles, this distribution generally will be treated as a dividend. Such a dividend would be

includible in the U.S. Holder's gross income as ordinary income without reduction for the tax basis of the Shares exchanged, and no current loss would be recognized.

Non-corporate U.S. Holders generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at a maximum rate of 20% with respect to any such dividend income, provided that (1) the shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States or the Company is eligible for benefits under a comprehensive United States income tax treaty which the IRS has approved for these purposes, (2) the Company is not a PFIC in the taxable year in which such dividends are paid or in the preceding taxable year, (3) such U.S. Holder satisfies a holding period requirement and (4) such U.S. Holder is not under an obligation (whether pursuant to a short sale or otherwise) to make payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property. The Company believes that the shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States.

A dividend received by a corporate U.S. Holder may be (1) eligible for a dividends-received deduction (subject to applicable exceptions and limitations) and (2) subject to the "extraordinary dividend" provisions of Section 1059 of the Code. Corporate shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal tax consequences of the Offer in relation to their particular facts and circumstances.

Amounts treated as a dividend will be treated as foreign source income for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Subject to various limitations, a U.S. Holder may elect to claim a foreign tax credit against its United States federal income tax liability for Canadian income tax paid with respect to any such dividend income. However, under recently finalized Treasury Regulations, it is possible that such taxes may not be creditable unless a U.S. Holder is eligible for and elects to apply the benefits of the tax treaty between the United States and Canada. Special rules apply in determining the foreign tax credit limitation with respect to dividends that are subject to the preferential tax rates. The limitation on foreign taxes eligible for credit is calculated separately with respect to specific classes of income. For this purpose, any amount treated as a dividend will generally be categorized as "passive category income" for United States foreign tax credit purposes. U.S. Holders who do not elect to claim the foreign tax credit may instead claim a deduction for Canadian income tax paid, but only for a year in which the U.S. Holder elects to do so with respect to all foreign income taxes. A deduction does not reduce the United States tax on a dollar-for-dollar basis like a tax credit. The deduction, however, is not subject to the same limitations applicable to foreign tax credits. The rules relating to the foreign tax credit determination are complex. Accordingly, U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors to determine whether and to what extent they may be entitled to the credit.

Distributions in excess of the Company's current and accumulated earnings and profits allocated to the U.S. Holder's Shares will be treated first as a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder's tax basis in its Shares and thereafter as capital gain, which will be either long-term or short-term capital gain depending upon whether the U.S. Holder has held the Shares for more than one year. See, however, the discussion of the PFIC rules below, which could materially alter this treatment.

The Company does not maintain and will not report calculations of its earnings and profits in accordance with U.S. federal income tax accounting principles. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors as to whether all or any part of the payment received from the Company should be treated as a dividend.

## Treatment of a Sale of Shares

Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, a U.S. Holder that satisfies any of the Section 302 tests described above will be treated as having sold the Shares purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer and generally will recognize capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the amount of cash received under the Offer and the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in such Shares. The gain or loss recognized generally will be treated as (i) long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder's holding period is greater than one year as of the date of the Company's purchase pursuant to the Offer and (ii) U.S. source income or loss, as applicable, for foreign tax credit purposes. However, if a U.S. Holder is eligible for the benefits of the tax treaty between the United States and Canada, the U.S. Holder may be entitled to elect to treat the portion of any such gain that is subject to Canadian tax as foreign source income for foreign tax credit purposes. If a U.S. Holder is not able to make such election, it will generally not be able to credit any Canadian tax imposed on the sale of Shares unless such credit can be applied (subject to applicable limitations) against tax due on other foreign source income. In addition, under recently finalized Treasury Regulations, a U.S. Holder will generally be precluded from claiming a foreign tax credit in respect of any such taxes unless the U.S. Holder is eligible for and elects to apply the benefits of the tax treaty between the United States and Canada.

Certain U.S. Holders, including individuals, may be eligible for preferential rates of U.S. federal income tax in respect of long-term capital gains. A U.S. Holder's ability to deduct capital losses is subject to certain limitations

(including the "wash sale" rules under the Code). A U.S. Holder must calculate gain or loss separately for each block of Shares (generally, Shares acquired at the same cost in a single transaction). A U.S. Holder may be able to designate which blocks of Shares it wishes to tender and the order in which different blocks will be purchased in the event that less than all of its Shares are tendered. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors concerning the mechanics and desirability of that designation.

#### Medicare Surtax

U.S. Holders who are individuals, estates or trusts and whose income exceeds certain thresholds will also be required to pay (in addition to U.S. federal income tax) a 3.8% Medicare surtax on net investment income, including dividends and gains from the sale or other taxable disposition of the Shares. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisers regarding whether the Medicare surtax will apply to them.

#### Reporting Requirement for Significant Holders

A U.S. Holder that is considered a "significant holder" within the meaning of U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 1.302-2(b) who exchanges Shares for cash pursuant to the Offer may be required to comply with the reporting requirements of such regulation.

#### Passive Foreign Investment Company

Generally, a PFIC is a non-U.S. corporation that, in any tax year, receives passive income in an amount equal to 75% or more of its gross income or holds assets for the production of passive income representing 50% or more of the average quarterly value of its assets determined, broadly speaking, on a consolidated basis with its subsidiaries. A company's status as a PFIC must be determined every year based on the income, assets and operations of the company for that year. Because this is a factual determination that must be made annually, no assurance can be provided that the Company will not be a PFIC in the current taxable year or that it was never a PFIC in a prior taxable year. However, based on its current and projected assets and income, the Company expects that it will not be a PFIC for its current taxable year, although there is no assurance that this will in fact be the case.

If the Company is treated as a PFIC in any year in which a U.S. Holder has held its Shares, certain adverse consequences could apply to payments made with respect to the Offer, including (1) that gain on the disposition of Shares could be treated as ordinary income and subject to additional tax in the nature of interest, (2) amounts treated as distributions on the Shares may fail to qualify for the preferential rates of taxation and (3) additional reporting requirements may apply to U.S. Holders. U.S. Holders should consult with their tax advisors as to the effect of these rules on their tender of Shares pursuant to the Offer.

## Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

The sale by a U.S. Holder of Shares pursuant to the Offer may be subject to information reporting requirements. Additionally, backup withholding may apply to the purchase price for Shares paid pursuant to the Offer to a non-corporate U.S. holder that fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number, is notified by the IRS that the holder has failed to report all interest and dividends required to be shown on the holder's federal income tax returns, or, in certain circumstances, fails to comply with applicable certification requirements. A U.S. Holder generally may obtain a refund of amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules that exceed the U.S. Holder's income tax liability by filing a refund claim with the IRS.

THIS DISCUSSION IS GENERAL IN NATURE AND DOES NOT DISCUSS ALL ASPECTS OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAXATION THAT MAY BE RELEVANT TO A PARTICULAR SHAREHOLDER IN LIGHT OF THE SHAREHOLDER'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES, OR TO CERTAIN TYPES OF SHAREHOLDERS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL TREATMENT UNDER U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAWS. YOU ARE ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH YOUR OWN TAX ADVISOR TO DETERMINE THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO YOU OF THE OFFER, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN TAX LAWS.

# 14. LEGAL MATTERS AND REGULATORY APPROVALS

Imperial is not aware of any license or regulatory permit that is material to the Company's business that might be adversely affected by the Company's acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Offer or, except as noted below, of any approval or other action by any government or governmental, administrative or regulatory authority or agency

in any jurisdiction, that would be required for the acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Offer and that has not been obtained on or before the date hereof. Should any such approval or other action be required, the Company currently contemplates that such approval will be sought or other action will be taken. Imperial cannot predict whether it may determine that it must delay the acceptance for payment of Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer pending the outcome of any such matter.

There can be no assurance that any such approval or other action, if needed, would be obtained or would be obtained without substantial conditions or that the failure to obtain any such approval or other action might not result in adverse consequences to the Company's business.

The Company is relying on the "liquid market exemption" specified in MI 61-101. Accordingly, the valuation requirements of securities regulatory authorities in Canada applicable to issuer bids generally are not applicable in connection with the Offer.

In order to facilitate the availability of Proportionate Tenders pursuant to the Offer and to permit the Company to extend the Offer without first taking up validly deposited Shares in certain circumstances, the Company has applied for the Securities Regulatory Relief. Accordingly, if the Securities Regulatory Relief is granted, in the event that Imperial elects to extend the Offer, Imperial will not take up or pay for any Shares until the expiry of such extension.

#### 15. Source of Funds

The Company expects to fund the purchase of Shares pursuant to the Offer, including all related fees and expenses, with available cash on hand.

#### 16. DEALER MANAGER

RBC Capital Markets has been retained to serve as Dealer Manager in connection with the Offer. The Dealer Manager may communicate with investment dealers, stock brokers, commercial banks, trust companies and dealers with respect to the Offer. RBC Capital Markets has also been retained as financial advisor in connection with the Offer and to provide a liquidity opinion.

The Dealer Manager and its affiliates has provided, and may in the future provide, various investment banking, commercial banking and other services to us for which it has received, or we expect it will receive, customary compensation from us.

In the ordinary course of business, including in its trading and brokerage operations and in a fiduciary capacity, the Dealer Manager and its affiliates may hold positions, both long and short, for their own accounts and for those of their customers, in our securities. The Dealer Manager may from time to time hold Shares in its proprietary accounts, and, to the extent it owns Shares in these accounts at the time of the Offer, the Dealer Managers may tender the Shares pursuant to the Offer.

## 17. DEPOSITARY

Imperial has appointed Computershare Investor Services Inc. to act as a depositary for, among other things, (a) the receipt of certificates and/or DRIP positions representing Shares and related Letters of Transmittal deposited under the Offer, (b) the receipt of Notices of Guaranteed Delivery delivered pursuant to the procedures for guaranteed delivery set forth in Section 5 of the Offer to Purchase, "Procedure for Depositing Shares", (c) the receipt from the Company of cash to be paid in consideration of the Shares acquired by the Company under the Offer, as agent for the depositing Shareholders, and (d) the transmittal of such cash to the depositing Shareholders, as agent for depositing Shareholders, including the conversion of such cash from Canadian dollars to United States dollars for depositing Shareholders who elect to receive payment of the Purchase Price for their Shares in United States dollars. The Depositary may contact Shareholders by mail, telephone or facsimile and may request brokers, dealers and other nominee Shareholders to forward materials relating to the Offer to beneficial owners. The Depositary is not an affiliate of the Company.

#### 18. FEES AND EXPENSES

RBC Capital Markets has been retained by the Company to serve as Dealer Manager and financial advisor in connection with the Offer and to deliver a liquidity opinion in connection with the Offer to the Board of Directors for

which it will receive a fee from Imperial for its services. Imperial has agreed to reimburse RBC Capital Markets for certain reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the Offer and to indemnify RBC Capital Markets against certain liabilities to which it may become subject as a result of its engagement. None of the fees payable to RBC Capital Markets are contingent upon the conclusions reached by RBC Capital Markets in the Liquidity Opinion.

Imperial has retained Computershare Investor Services Inc. to act as the Depositary in connection with the Offer. The Depositary will receive reasonable and customary compensation for its services, will be reimbursed for certain reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and will be indemnified against certain liabilities and expenses in connection with the Offer, including certain liabilities under Canadian provincial and territorial securities laws.

Imperial will not pay any fees or commissions to any broker or dealer or any other Person for soliciting deposits of Shares pursuant to the Offer. Brokers, dealers, commercial banks and trust companies will, upon request, be reimbursed by the Company for reasonable and necessary costs and expenses incurred by them in forwarding materials to their customers.

Imperial is expected to incur expenses of approximately \$2 million in connection with the Offer, which includes filing fees, advisory fees, the fees of RBC Capital Markets, the Transfer Agent, the Depositary, legal, translation, accounting and printing fees.

#### 19. CANADIAN STATUTORY RIGHTS

Securities legislation in the provinces and territories of Canada provides Shareholders with, in addition to any other rights they may have at law, one or more rights of rescission, price revision or to damages, if there is a misrepresentation in a circular or notice that is required to be delivered to the Shareholders. However, such rights must be exercised within prescribed time limits. Shareholders should refer to the applicable provisions of the securities legislation of their province or territory for particulars of those rights or consult a lawyer.

# **APPROVAL AND CERTIFICATE**

# November 4, 2022

The board of directors of Imperial Oil Limited has approved the contents of the Offer to Purchase and the accompanying Issuer Bid Circular dated November 4, 2022, and the delivery thereto to Shareholders. The foregoing contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.

/s/ Bradley W. Corson /s/ Daniel E. Lyons

Bradley W. Corson Daniel E. Lyons

Chairman, President and Senior Vice President,
Chief Executive Officer Finance and Administration
and Controller

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

/s/ David W. Cornhill /s/ Miranda C. Hubbs

David W. Cornhill Miranda C. Hubbs

Director Director

## **CONSENT OF RBC CAPITAL MARKETS**

TO: The Board of Directors of Imperial Oil Limited

We consent to the inclusion of our liquidity opinion dated October 31, 2022 as Schedule A to the Circular dated November 4, 2022, which schedule is incorporated by reference in the Circular and consent to the inclusion of our name and reference to our liquidity opinion in the sections titled "Purpose and Effect of the Offer – Background to the Offer", "Purpose and Effect of the Offer – Liquidity of Market", "Dealer Manager" and "Fees and Expenses" of the Circular. Our liquidity opinion was given as of October 31, 2022 and remains subject to the assumptions, qualifications and limitations contained therein. In providing our consent, we do not intend that any Person other than the directors of Imperial Oil Limited will be entitled to rely upon our opinion.

November 4, 2022

/s/ RBC Dominion Securities Inc.

**RBC** Dominion Securities Inc.

# **CONSENT OF STIKEMAN ELLIOTT LLP**

TO: The Board of Directors of Imperial Oil Limited

We consent to the inclusion of our name and reference to our opinion in the section titled "Income Tax Considerations" in the Circular dated November 4, 2022.

November 4, 2022

/s/ Stikeman Elliott LLP

Stikeman Elliott LLP

# SCHEDULE A LIQUIDITY OPINION OF RBC CAPITAL MARKETS

See Attached.

RBC Dominion Securities Inc. Royal Bank Plaza, P.O. Box 50 200 Bay Street, South Tower Toronto, Ontario M5J 2W7 Telephone: 416-842-2000

October 31, 2022

The Special Committee of the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors Imperial Oil Limited 505 Quarry Park Boulevard S.E. Calgary, Alberta Canada, T2C 5N1

To the Special Committee and the Board:

RBC Dominion Securities Inc. ("RBC", "we" or "us"), a member company of RBC Capital Markets, understands that Imperial Oil Limited (the "Company") is proposing to make a substantial issuer bid (the "Substantial Issuer Bid") to acquire up to \$1,500,000,000 in value of the common shares (the "Shares") of the Company by way of a combination of a modified Dutch Auction and a proportionate tender at a price not less than \$72.50 per Share and not more than \$87.00 per Share. Exxon Mobil Corporation ("ExxonMobil") is the beneficial owner of 420,969,855 Shares, which represent approximately 69.6% of all issued and outstanding Shares. RBC understands that ExxonMobil has advised the Company that it intends to make a proportionate tender that will result in ExxonMobil maintaining its proportionate equity ownership in the Company following the completion of the Substantial Issuer Bid. RBC also understands that the terms and conditions of the Substantial Issuer Bid will be set forth in an offer to purchase and issuer bid circular to be mailed to the holders of the Shares in connection with the Substantial Issuer Bid (the "Offer to Purchase"). The terms used herein which are used or defined in the Offer to Purchase and not otherwise defined herein will have the same meaning as used in the Offer to Purchase.

RBC understands that a special committee (the "Special Committee") of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the Company has been constituted to consider the Substantial Issuer Bid and make recommendations thereon to the Board. The Company has retained RBC to provide advice and assistance to the Special Committee and the Board in evaluating the Substantial Issuer Bid, including the preparation and delivery to the Special Committee and the Board of RBC's opinion (the "Opinion") as to whether, as of the date hereof, (i) a liquid market for the Shares exists, and (ii) it is reasonable to conclude that, following the completion of the Substantial Issuer Bid, there will be a market for holders of the Shares who do not tender to the Substantial Issuer Bid that is not materially less liquid than the market that existed at the time of the making of the Substantial Issuer Bid. The Special Committee and the Board have, on a voluntary basis, obtained the Opinion from RBC notwithstanding that such opinion is not required pursuant to Multilateral Instrument 61-101 *Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special Transactions* ("MI 61-101"). In addition, RBC has been retained by the Company to act as dealer manager ("Dealer Manager") in connection with the Substantial Issuer Bid.

## **Engagement**

RBC was formally engaged by the Company through an agreement between the Company and RBC (the "Engagement Agreement") dated as of September 26, 2022 and amended as of October 14, 2022. The terms of the Engagement Agreement provide that RBC is to be paid a fee for its services as financial advisor and Dealer Manager, including fees that are contingent on the outcome of the Substantial Issuer Bid. In addition, RBC is to be reimbursed for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and to be indemnified by the Company in certain circumstances. RBC consents to the inclusion of the Opinion in its entirety and a summary thereof in the Offer to Purchase and to the filing thereof, as necessary, by the Company with the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in each province of Canada and in the United States.

RBC acts as a trader and dealer, both as principal and agent, in major financial markets and, as such, may have had and may in the future have positions in the Shares or other securities of the Company, or any of its associates or affiliates and, from time to time, may have executed or may execute transactions on behalf of such companies or clients for which it received or may receive compensation. As an investment dealer, RBC conducts research on securities and may, in the ordinary course of its business, provide research reports and investment advice to its clients on investment matters, including with respect to the Company, the Shares or the Substantial Issuer Bid.

#### **Credentials of RBC Capital Markets**

RBC is one of Canada's largest investment banking firms, with operations in all facets of corporate and government finance, corporate banking, mergers and acquisitions, equity and fixed income sales and trading and investment research. RBC Capital Markets also has significant operations in the United States and internationally. The Opinion expressed herein represents the opinion of RBC and the form and content herein have been approved for release by a committee of its managing directors, each of whom is experienced in merger, acquisition, divestiture and opinion matters.

#### Scope of Review

In connection with our Opinion, we have reviewed and relied upon or carried out, among other things, the following:

- 1. the most recent draft of the Offer to Purchase (the "Draft Offer to Purchase"), dated October 31, 2022;
- 2. the trading activity, volumes, and price history of the Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange and other alternative trading venues;
- 3. the profile of the distribution and ownership of the Shares, to the extent publicly disclosed or provided to us by the Company;
- 4. the number of Shares proposed to be purchased under the Substantial Issuer Bid relative to the total number of Shares issued and outstanding;
- 5. public information with respect to the Company and the Shares:
- 6. the definition of "liquid market" as outlined in MI 61-101 and certain other parameters in MI 61-101;
- 7. certain precedent issuer bids that were considered relevant;
- 8. discussions with senior management and legal counsel of the Company; and
- 9. such other corporate, industry, and financial market information, investigations and analyses as RBC considered necessary or appropriate in the circumstances.

#### **Assumptions and Limitations**

With the Board's approval and as provided for in the Engagement Agreement, RBC has relied upon the completeness, accuracy, and fair representation of all of the financial and other information, data, advice, opinions, or representations obtained by it from public sources, senior management of the Company, and their consultants and advisors (collectively, the "Information"). The Opinion is conditional upon such completeness, accuracy, and fair presentation of such Information. Subject to the exercise of professional judgment and except as expressly described herein, we have not attempted to verify independently the completeness, accuracy, or fair representation of any of the Information.

Senior officers of the Company have represented to RBC in a certificate delivered as of the date hereof, among other things, that (i) the Information provided orally by, or in the presence of, any officer or employee of the Company or in writing by the Company, any of its affiliates (as such term is defined in National Instrument 62-104 *Take-Over Bids and Issuer Bids* of the Canadian Securities Administrators) or any of their respective agents or advisors, for the purpose of preparing the Opinion was, at the date provided to RBC, and is at the date hereof complete, true and correct in all material respects, and did not and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact, and did not and does not omit to state any material fact necessary to make such Information, or any statement contained therein, not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was provided to RBC, and (ii) since the dates on which the Information was provided to RBC, except as disclosed in writing to RBC, there has been no material change or change in material facts, financial or otherwise, which might reasonably be considered material to the Opinion.

In preparing the Opinion, RBC has made several assumptions, including that all of the conditions required to implement the Substantial Issuer Bid will be met, that there will be no significant change in the holdings of the Shares other than as a result of the Substantial Issuer Bid and that the disclosure provided or incorporated by reference in the Draft Offer to Purchase with respect to the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates and the Substantial Issuer Bid is accurate in all material respects.

The Opinion is rendered on the basis of securities markets, economic, financial and general business conditions prevailing as at the date hereof and conditions affecting the Company and the Shares at the date hereof.

The Opinion has been provided for the use of the Special Committee and the Board and may not be used by any other person or relied upon by any other person other than the Special Committee and the Board without the express prior written consent of RBC. The Opinion is given as of the date hereof and RBC disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting the Opinion which may come or be brought to RBC's attention after the date hereof. Without limiting the foregoing, in the event that there is any material change in any fact or matter affecting the Opinion after the date hereof, RBC reserves the right to change, modify, or withdraw the Opinion.

RBC believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of the analyses or the factors considered by it, without considering all factors and analyses together, could create a misleading view of the process underlying the Opinion. The preparation of an opinion is a complex process and is not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Any attempt to do so could lead to undue emphasis on any particular factor or analysis. The Opinion is not to be construed as a recommendation to any holder of Shares as to whether to tender their Shares to the Substantial Issuer Bid, or as an opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the consideration offered to holders of Shares pursuant to the Substantial Issuer Bid or as a formal valuation of the Shares or of any of the Company's other securities or assets.

For purposes of the Opinion, the phrase "liquid market" has the meaning ascribed thereto in MI 61-101.

## Conclusion

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, RBC is of the opinion that, as of the date hereof, (i) a liquid market for the Shares exists, and (ii) it is reasonable to conclude that, following the completion of the Substantial Issuer Bid, there will be a market for holders of the Shares who do not tender to the Substantial Issuer Bid that is not materially less liquid than the market that existed at the time of the making of the Substantial Issuer Bid.

Yours very truly,

RBC Dominion Securities Inc.

**RBC DOMINION SECURITIES INC.** 

The Letter of Transmittal, certificates for Shares, any other required documents and, if applicable, the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, must be sent or delivered by each depositing Shareholder or the depositing Shareholder's investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee to the Depositary at its address specified below.

Office of the Depositary, for the Offer:



#### COMPUTERSHARE INVESTOR SERVICES INC.

By Regular Mail

Computershare Investor Services Inc. P.O. Box 7023 31 Adelaide Street East Toronto, ON M5C 3H2 Attention: Corporate Actions

By Registered Mail, Hand or Courier

100 University Avenue 8<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1 Attention: Corporate Actions

For inquiries only:
Telephone (outside North America): 1 (514) 982-7555
Toll Free (within North America): 1 (800) 564-6253
Email: corporateactions@computershare.com

Any questions or requests for assistance regarding the Offer may be directed to the Depositary at the addresses and telephone numbers and email specified above. Shareholders also may contact their investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee for assistance concerning the Offer. Additional copies of the Offer to Purchase, the Circular, the Letter of Transmittal and the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery may be obtained from the Depositary. Manually executed photocopies of the Letter of Transmittal will be accepted.

The Dealer Manager for the Offer is:

**RBC Capital Markets** 

Email: ImperialSIB@rbccm.com

The Instructions accompanying the Letter of Transmittal should be read carefully before completing this Letter of Transmittal. Please contact the Depositary or the Dealer Manager or your investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other financial advisor if you have any questions or require assistance in completing this Letter of Transmittal.

Offer to purchase for cash up to C\$1,500,000,000 in value of common shares of Imperial Oil Limited at a purchase price of not less than C\$72.50 and not more than C\$87.00 per common share



## LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

To be used to Deposit
Common Shares
of
Imperial Oil Limited
Pursuant to the Offer (as defined herein)
Dated November 4, 2022

THE OFFER WILL BE OPEN FOR ACCEPTANCE UNTIL 5:00 P.M. (CALGARY TIME)
ON DECEMBER 9, 2022 UNLESS THE OFFER IS WITHDRAWN, EXTENDED OR VARIED
BY THE COMPANY (THE "EXPIRATION DATE")

### The Depositary is:

#### COMPUTERSHARE INVESTOR SERVICES INC.

# By Mail

Computershare Investor Services Inc. P.O. Box 7023 31 Adelaide Street East Toronto ON M5C 3H2 Attention: Corporate Actions

## By Hand, Registered Mail or by Courier:

Computershare Investor Services Inc. 100 University Avenue 8<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto ON M5J 2Y1 Attention: Corporate Actions

#### For Inquiries Only

Email: corporateactions@computershare.com
Toll Free in Canada and the U.S.: 1 (800) 564-6253
Outside North America: 1 (514) 982-7555

This Letter of Transmittal is to be used only if certificates for Shares (as defined below) are to be forwarded with it, pursuant to Section 5 of the Offer, "Procedure for Depositing Shares".

This Letter of Transmittal, properly completed and duly executed, together with all other required documents, must accompany the certificates for the common shares (the "Shares") of Imperial Oil Limited ("Imperial" or the "Company") deposited pursuant to the offer to purchase dated November 4, 2022 (together with any amendments,

supplements or variations thereto, the "Offer") and must be delivered or sent to and received by Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the "Depositary") at one of the addresses set forth above on or prior to the Expiration Date.

The terms and conditions of the Offer are incorporated by reference in this Letter of Transmittal. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Letter of Transmittal have the meanings ascribed to them in the Offer that accompanies this Letter of Transmittal and the accompanying issuer bid circular dated November 4, 2022 (the "Circular"). In the case of any inconsistency between the terms of this Letter of Transmittal and the Offer, the terms of the Offer shall prevail. Shareholders should carefully consider the income tax consequences of having Shares being purchased under the Offer. See Section 13 of the Circular, "Income Tax Considerations" accompanying this Letter of Transmittal. Please also read carefully the instructions set forth below before completing this Letter of Transmittal.

All references to "\$" and "dollars" in this Letter of Transmittal mean Canadian dollars and all references to "U.S. dollars" in this Letter of Transmittal mean United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Shareholders whose certificates are not immediately available or who cannot deliver their certificates and all other required documents with this Letter of Transmittal to the Depositary by the Expiration Date must deposit their Shares according to the guaranteed delivery procedure set forth in Section 5 of the Offer, "Procedure for Depositing Shares". See Instruction 2 in this Letter of Transmittal.

A Shareholder who wishes to deposit Shares under the Offer and who holds such shares through an investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other financial advisor should immediately contact such nominee in order to take the necessary steps to be able to deposit such shares under the Offer. See Section 5 of the Offer, "Procedure for Depositing Shares".

DELIVERY OF THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL TO AN ADDRESS OTHER THAN PROVIDED HEREIN DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A VALID DELIVERY.

AND TO: COMPUTERSHA	RE INVESTOR SERVICES INC. (the "Depos	itary")
of the Offer regarding withdrawal, in conditions contained in the Offer a	sed certificate(s) for common shares (the "Sharevocably accepts the Offer for such shares and the Circular and pursuant to this Letter the details of the Shares to be deposited:	upon the terms and subject to the
(Please Fill	NAME(S) OF REGISTERED OWNER(S) in Exactly as Name(s) Appear(s) on Share Ce	ertificate(s))
	DESCRIPTION OF SHARES DEPOSITED (Attach signed list if necessary)	
Share Certificate Number(s)	Number of shares Represented by Certificate(s)	Number of shares Deposited*
	TOTAL:	
CHECK ONLY ONE BOX TO INDIC	CATE HOW MANY SHARES YOU WISH TO T	ENDER.
☐ ALL ABOVE SHA	ARES; or	
☐ PARTIAL TENDE	R OF ABOVE SHARES.	
number of Shares you wish to will be deemed to have been Proportionate Tender must inc Tender" below. A registered sufficient number of Shares to by multiplying the total number of Shares). A Sharely	han all Shares evidenced by any certificates listed of deposit. Otherwise, the number of Shares evident deposited. See Instruction 5 of this Letter of Traindicate the total number of Shares they own (including Shareholder who makes a Proportionate Tender may be satisfy the Shareholder's Proportionate Tender. The er of Shares owned by the Shareholder by 0.034 holder who makes an invalid Proportionate Tender med to have made a Purchase Price Tender.	ced by all certificates referenced above nsmittal. All Shareholders who make a ng in the DRIP) in Box B "Proportionate ust deposit either all of its Shares or a nis number of Shares can be calculated 3 (rounded down to the nearest whole
DESCRIPTION OF DISTR	RIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLAN ("DRIP") I (Attach signed list if necessary)	POSITIONS DEPOSITED
DRIP Holder Account Number(s)		

IMPERIAL OIL LIMITED ("Imperial" or the "Company")

TO:

# CHECK THE BELOW BOX <u>ONLY</u> IF YOU WISH TO TENDER YOUR ENTIRE DRIP POSITIONS (Excluding Fractions).

# ☐ ALL ABOVE DRIP POSITIONS

If you wish to deposit fewer than all Shares represented by the DRIP positions listed above, you must withdraw that portion of your DRIP position that you intend to deposit from the DRIP and submit the certificate received in respect thereof, together with a Letter of Transmittal. Shareholders should contact the DRIP plan agent, TSX Trust Company, in such circumstance to arrange the withdrawal. See Instruction 5 of this Letter of Transmittal.

# SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD CAREFULLY CONSIDER THE INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF DEPOSITING SHARES PURSUANT THE OFFER. SEE SECTION 13 OF THE CIRCULAR "INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS".

This Letter of Transmittal, properly completed and duly executed, together with all other required documents, must accompany the certificates for the Shares tendered pursuant to the Offer. Any financial institution that is a participant in CDS or DTC may make book-entry delivery of the Shares through the on-line tendering systems of such clearing systems pursuant to which book-entry transfers may be effected by causing the applicable clearing systems to transfer such shares into the Depositary's account in accordance with such clearing system's procedures for such transfer.

Subject to and effective upon acceptance for purchase of the Shares deposited hereby in accordance with the terms of the Offer, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers to, or upon the order of Imperial, all rights, title and interest in and to all Shares deposited hereby pursuant to an Auction Tender or a Purchase Price Tender, or the portion of such Shares subject to purchase pursuant to a Proportionate Tender, and in and to any and all rights, benefits and claims in respect thereof or arising, or having arisen as a result of the undersigned's status as a Shareholder of Imperial and in and to any and all distributions, payments, securities, rights, assets or other interests which may be declared, paid, issued, distributed, made or transferred, or may be payable, issuable, distributable or transferable, on or in respect of such shares or any of them on or after the date upon which the Shares are taken up and paid for pursuant to the Offer (the "Effective Time"), other than any dividends declared with a record date prior to the Effective Time and paid after the Effective Time, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Depositary and any officer of Imperial as attorney-in-fact of the undersigned with respect to such Shares effective from the Effective Time, with full power of substitution (such power of attorney being an irrevocable power coupled with an interest), to:

- (a) deliver certificates for such Shares, together with all accompanying evidences of transfer and authenticity, to or upon the order, of Imperial upon receipt by the Depositary, as the undersigned's agent, of the Purchase Price (as defined below);
- (b) present certificates for such Shares or DRIP positions for cancellation and transfer on the applicable securities register(s) of Imperial for such securities; and
- (c) receive all benefits and otherwise exercise all rights of beneficial ownership of such Shares, subject to the next paragraph, all in accordance with the terms of the Offer.

If the undersigned is tendering Shares held through the DRIP, the undersigned irrevocably appoints TSX Trust Company, acting as administrative agent for the DRIP as his or her agent for the purpose of tendering the Shares in accordance with the instructions set out in this Letter of Transmittal, effective as of the date hereof.

The undersigned hereby represents, warrants and covenants that:

- (a) the undersigned understands that depositing Shares under any one of the procedures described in the Offer and the Instructions hereto will constitute the undersigned's acceptance of the terms and conditions of the Offer, including the undersigned's representation that (i) the undersigned has a "net long position" in shares being tendered or equivalent securities at least equal to the shares tendered within the meaning of Rule 14e-4 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and (ii) such tender of shares complies with Rule 14e-4 under the Exchange Act;
- (b) the undersigned has full power and authority to deposit, sell, assign and transfer the Shares;

- (c) when and to the extent Imperial accepts the Shares for payment, Imperial will acquire good, marketable, and unencumbered title thereto, free and clear of all liens, charges, encumbrances, security interests, claims, restrictions and equities whatsoever, together with all rights and benefits arising therefrom, and the same will not be subject to any adverse claim, provided that any dividends or distributions which may be declared, paid, issued, distributed, made or transferred on or in respect of such Shares to Shareholders of record on or prior to the Effective Time shall be for the account of the undersigned;
- on request, the undersigned will execute and deliver any additional documents that the Depositary or Imperial deems necessary or desirable to complete the assignment, transfer, and purchase of the Shares tendered hereby; and
- (e) the undersigned has received and agrees to all of the terms of this Offer.

The names and addresses of the registered owners should be printed as they appear on the certificates representing Shares deposited hereby. The certificates, the number of Shares that the undersigned wishes to tender, whether the tender is being made as an Auction Tender, a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender, and, if the tender is made as an Auction Tender, the Purchase Price at which such shares are being tendered, should all be indicated in the appropriate boxes. If the tender is being made pursuant to an Auction Tender, the Purchase Price at which such shares are being tendered should be indicated in Box G "Auction Tenders" below. If the tender is being made pursuant to a Proportionate Tender, the total number of Shares owned by the Shareholder MUST be indicated in Box B "Proportionate Tender" below.

The undersigned understands that he or she must indicate whether he or she tenders Shares pursuant to an Auction Tender, a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender by completing the Box A "Type of Tender" below. All Shares tendered by a Shareholder who fails to specify any Auction Tender price for its Shares, or fails to indicate that he or she has tendered its Shares pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender, will be considered to have been tendered pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender. A shareholder who makes an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender.

The undersigned understands that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, the Company will determine the purchase price (the "Purchase Price"), representing a single price per Share (which will not be less than \$72.50 and not more than \$87.00 per Share and in increments of \$0.25 per Share) that it will pay for Shares validly deposited pursuant to the Offer and not withdrawn. The Purchase Price will be the lowest price that enables the Company to purchase that number of Shares pursuant to valid Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders and not withdrawn having an aggregate purchase price not exceeding the Auction Tender Limit Amount, being an amount equal to (i) \$1,500,000,000 less (ii) the product of (A) \$1,500,000,000 and (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate number of Shares owned by Shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders, and the denominator of which is the aggregate number of Shares outstanding at the time of the Expiration Date. For the purpose of determining the Purchase Price, Shares tendered pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price of \$72.50 per Share (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer). If the Purchase Price is determined to be \$72.50 (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer), the maximum number of Shares that may be purchased by the Company is 20.689,655 Shares. If the Purchase Price is determined to be \$87.00 (which is the maximum price per Share under the Offer), the maximum number of Shares that may be purchased by the Company is 17,241,379 Shares. Shares tendered pursuant to a Proportionate Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price per share equal to the Purchase Price. Shares validly deposited pursuant to an Auction Tender will only be taken up if the price specified in the Auction Tender by the depositing shareholder is equal to or less than the Purchase Price. If no Auction Tenders or Purchase Price Tenders are made pursuant to the Offer, no Shares will be purchased by the Company (unless all Shareholders make valid Proportionate Tenders, in which case all Shares purchased will be purchased for \$72.50 per Share).

The undersigned understands that if less than all of the Shares deposited are taken up by the Company (including Shares tendered pursuant to an Auction Tender at prices greater than the Purchase Price and Shares not purchased because of pro-ration), or properly withdrawn before the Expiration Date, the certificate(s) representing its Shares will be returned (in the case of certificates representing Shares all of which are not purchased) or replaced with new certificates representing the balance of Shares not purchased (in the case of certificates representing Shares of which less than all are purchased), promptly after the Expiration Date or the date of withdrawal, without expense to the Shareholder. DRIP positions not purchased, including DRIP positions not purchased due to proration and DRIP positions deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders at prices in excess of the Purchase Price, will be returned to the DRIP account promptly after the Expiration Date or the date of withdrawal, without expense to the Shareholder.

The undersigned understands that a Shareholder who desires to tender different Shares at more than one price under an Auction Tender must complete a separate Letter of Transmittal for each price at which Shares are tendered. A Shareholder may not deposit the same Shares pursuant to more than one method of tender or pursuant to an Auction Tender at more than one price. Shareholders may deposit different Shares pursuant to Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders but cannot make an Auction Tender or Purchase Price Tender as well as a Proportionate Tender. Odd Lot Holders making an Auction Tender or a Purchase Price Tender will be required to tender all Shares owned by the Shareholder. Proportionate Tenders or partial tenders will not be accepted from Odd Lot Holders.

The undersigned understands that if the aggregate purchase price for the Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders (at prices at or below the Purchase Price) and Purchase Price Tenders exceeds the Auction Tender Limit Amount, then the Company shall purchase a portion of the Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders (at or below the Purchase Price) and Purchase Price Tenders, as follows: (i) first, the Company will purchase all Shares tendered at or below the Purchase Price by Odd Lot Holders at the Purchase Price; and (ii) second, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price on a pro-rata basis that portion of the Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders (at or below the Purchase Price) and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price, based on the Purchase Price, equal to (A) the Auction Tender Limit Amount, less (B) the aggregate amount paid by the Company for shares tendered by Odd Lot Holders. See Section 3 of the Offer, "Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders". The Company's determination as to pro-ration shall be final and binding on all parties.

The undersigned recognizes that under certain circumstances set forth in the Offer and the Circular, Imperial may withdraw, extend or vary the Offer or may not be required to purchase any of the Shares tendered hereby or may accept for payment, in accordance with the applicable proration provisions relating to Shares deposited or the terms and conditions relating to the Offer, fewer than all of the Shares tendered hereby. The undersigned understands that certificates for any Shares not deposited or not purchased will be recredited or returned to the undersigned at the address indicated above.

The undersigned understands that acceptance of Shares by Imperial for payment will constitute a binding agreement between the undersigned and Imperial, effective as of the Expiration Date, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer. Such agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Alberta and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.

The undersigned understands that payment for Shares taken up by the Company pursuant to the Offer will be made by depositing the aggregate Purchase Price for such Shares with the Depositary, which will act as agent for Shareholders who have properly tendered Shares in acceptance of the Offer and have not withdrawn them, for the purpose of receiving payment from Imperial and transmitting such payment to such Shareholders. Receipt of payment by the Depositary will be deemed to constitute receipt of payment thereof by persons depositing Shares. Under no circumstances will interest accrue or be paid by Imperial or the Depositary, regardless of any delay in making such payment or otherwise.

The undersigned understands and acknowledges that each of the Company and the Depositary, as applicable, shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any payment to any Shareholder pursuant to the Offer such amount as it is required to deduct or withhold from such payment under the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) (the "**Tax Act**"), or any provision of any applicable federal, provincial, territorial, state, local or foreign tax law, and remit such deduction or withholding amount to the appropriate government entity. To the extent that amounts are deducted or withheld, such deducted or withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of the Offer as having been paid to the Shareholder to whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid, provided that such deducted or withheld amounts are actually remitted to the appropriate government entity.

The undersigned instructs Imperial and the Depositary to issue the cheque for the Purchase Price for such Shares that are purchased pursuant to the Offer as indicated in Box C or D "Payment Instructions" below and mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the address indicated in Box C or D "Delivery Instructions" below unless otherwise indicated in Box C "Hold for Pick-Up" below, subject to the option of Shareholders to elect to receive the Purchase Price in U.S. dollars as described in Box H "Currency Election" below, net in each case of any applicable withholding taxes.

The undersigned understands that cash amounts will be denominated in Canadian dollars and payments of amounts owing to Shareholders whose Shares are taken up will be made in Canadian dollars; however, Shareholders may elect to receive the Purchase Price in U.S. dollars and use the Depositary's currency exchange services to convert such payment into U.S. dollars by checking Box H "Currency Election" below, in which case such Shareholder will have acknowledged and agreed that the exchange rate for one Canadian dollar expressed in U.S. dollars will be based on the rate available from the Depositary on the date of the currency conversion. All risks associated with the

currency conversion from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars, including risks relating to change in rates, the timing of exchange or the selection of a rate for exchange, and all costs incurred with the currency conversion are for the Shareholder's sole account and will be at such Shareholder's sole risk and expense, and neither the Depositary nor Imperial or their affiliates will be responsible for any such matters.

The undersigned recognizes that all authority conferred or agreed to be conferred in this Letter of Transmittal shall survive its death or incapacity and any obligations of the undersigned under this Letter of Transmittal shall be binding upon its heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns. Except as stated in the Offer, this tender is irrevocable.

The undersigned agrees not to vote any of the deposited Shares, or distributions on such Shares consisting of securities, at any meeting and not to exercise any of the other rights or privileges attached to any of such deposited Shares or distributions consisting of securities, or otherwise act with respect thereto. The undersigned agrees further to execute and deliver to Imperial, provided not contrary to any applicable law, at any time and from time to time, as and when requested by, and at the expense of Imperial, any and all instructions of proxy, authorization or consent, in form and on terms satisfactory to Imperial, in respect of any such deposited Shares or distributions consisting of securities. The undersigned agrees further to designate in any such instruments of proxy the person or persons specified by Imperial as the proxyholder of the undersigned in respect of such deposited Shares or distributions consisting of securities.

# BOX A TYPE OF TENDER

CHECK ONLY <u>ONE</u> BOX, IF MORE THAN ONE BOX IS CHECKED, OR IF NO BOX IS CHECKED, THE TENDER WILL BE DEEMED TO BE A PURCHASE PRICE TENDER.

# SHARES ARE BEING TENDERED HEREBY PURSUANT TO:

An Auction Tender	A Purchase Price	a Proportionate Tender
(Complete Box G)	Tender	( <u>Complete Box B</u> )

# BOX B PROPORTIONATE TENDER

In addition to checking "Proportionate Tender" in Box A above, this Box B MUST be completed if Shares are being tendered pursuant to a Proportionate Tender.

A Shareholder who makes a Proportionate Tender will be deemed to have agreed to sell to the Company at the Purchase Price a number of Shares that will result in the Shareholder maintaining its proportionate equity ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer. Registered Shareholders may make a Proportionate Tender and non-registered Shareholders may instruct their nominees to make a Proportionate Tender. All Shareholders who make a Proportionate Tender must indicate the total number of Shares they own below. A registered Shareholder who makes a Proportionate Tender must deposit either all of its Shares or a sufficient number of Shares to satisfy the Shareholder's Proportionate Tender. This number of Shares can be calculated by multiplying the total number of Shares owned by the Shareholder by 0.0343 (rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares). A non-registered Shareholder who wishes its nominee to make a Proportionate Tender must deposit all of its Shares.

If a non-registered Shareholder wishes to become a registered Shareholder in order to make a Proportionate Tender by depositing only a sufficient number of Shares, the Shareholder should immediately contact its investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee in order to take the necessary steps to have its Shares registered in the Shareholder's name prior to tendering Shares pursuant to the Offer. A Shareholder who makes an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender.

Total number of Shares owned by the Shareholder:	

# BOX C PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS (See Instruction 8)

All cash and share entitlement payments will be issued and mailed to your existing registration unless otherwise stated. If you would like your cash or shares dispatched to a different address, please complete BOX D

- MAIL CHEQUE/SHARES TO ADDRESS ON RECORD (DEFAULT)
- □ MAIL CHEQUE/SHARES TO A DIFFERENT ADDRESS (MUST COMPLETE BOX D)
- ☐ HOLD CHEQUE AND/OR SHARES FOR PICKUP AT COMPUTERSHARE TORONTO OFFICE:

Computershare Investor Services Inc. 100 University Ave, 8<sup>th</sup> Floor, Toronto ON

☐ DELIVER FUNDS VIA WIRE\* (COMPLETE BOX L)

# BOX D DELIVERY INSTRUCTIONS (See Instruction 8)

MAIL PAYMENT TO 3rd PARTY ADDRESS\*:

□ CHECK BOX IF SAME AS EXISTING REGISTRATION (DEFAULT)

(ATTENTION NAME)

(STREET NUMBER & NAME)

(CITY AND PROVINCE/STATE)

(COUNTRY AND POSTAL/ZIP CODE)

(TELEPHONE NUMBER (BUSINESS HOURS)

(SOCIAL INSURANCE/SECURITY NUMBER)

\* THE PAYMENT WILL REMAIN IN THE NAME OF THE REGISTRATION

# BOX E ODD LOTS\*

To be completed <u>ONLY</u> if Shares are being tendered by or on behalf of persons owning fewer than 100 Shares as of the close of business on the Expiration Date

The undersigned either (check one):

- ☐ is the owner of fewer than 100 Shares as of the close of business on the Expiration Date, all of which are tendered; or
- □ is a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee that (i) is tendering, for the beneficial owners thereof, Shares with respect to which it is the record owner, and (ii) believes, based upon representations made to it by each such beneficial owner, that such beneficial owner owns an aggregate of fewer than 100 Shares as of the close of business on the Expiration Date and is tendering all such Shares.
- \* Odd Lot Holders may not tender their Shares pursuant to a Proportionate Tender.

# BOX F GUARANTEE DELIVERY

CHECK HERE IF SHARES ARE BEING TENDERED PURSUANT TO A NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY PREVIOUSLY SENT TO THE TORONTO OFFICE OF THE DEPOSITARY AND COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING (please print or type)

" ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' '
Name of Registered Holder
Date of Guaranteed Delivery
Name of Institution which Guaranteed Delivery

# BOX G **AUCTION TENDERS**

In addition to checking "Auction Tender" in Box A above, this Box G <u>MUST</u> be completed if Shares are being tendered pursuant to an Auction Tender.

Check only ONE box to indicate the Auction Tender price. If more than one box is checked, or if no box is checked, all

than Odd Lot I to tender diffe	Holders) may ma	ake multiple Aud different price	ction Tenders b	d pursuant to the ut not in respect ender instruction	of the same Sh	nares. If a Share	holder wishes
Price (in C\$) pe	er Share.						
□ \$72.50	□ \$72.75	□ \$73.00	□ \$73.25	□ \$73.50	□ \$73.75	□ \$74.00	□ \$74.25
□ \$74.50	□ \$74.75	□ \$75.00	□ \$75.25	□ \$75.50	□ \$75.75	□ \$76.00	□ \$76.25
□ \$76.50	□ \$76.75	□ \$77.00	□ \$77.25	□ \$77.50	□ \$77.75	□ \$78.00	□ \$78.25
□ \$78.50	□ \$78.75	□ \$79.00	□ \$79.25	□ \$79.50	□ \$79.75	□ \$80.00	□ \$80.25
□ \$80.50	□ \$80.75	□ \$81.00	□ \$81.25	□ \$81.50	□ \$81.75	□ \$82.00	□ \$82.25
□ \$82.50	□ \$82.75	□ \$83.00	□ \$83.25	□ \$83.50	□ \$83.75	□ \$84.00	□ \$84.25
□ \$84.50	□ \$84.75	□ \$85.00	□ \$85.25	□ \$85.50	□ \$85.75	□ \$86.00	□ \$86.25
□ \$86.50	□ \$86.75	□ \$87.00					
			BO CURRENCY	X H ELECTION			
to convert their		d have such pay	ment made, in U	eholders elect to u.S. dollars by che			
☐ Check here	if you wish to ha	ve your cash enti	tlement paid in U	.S. dollars (US\$)			
U.S. dollars will provider, on the the risk of any to solely borne by transactions. If	I be the rate ava e date on which the fluctuations in sur by the Shareholde	ilable from Comp ne funds are conv ch rate, including er. Computersha ve your payment	outershare Trust verted, which rate risks relating to re Trust Compa in U.S. dollars, y	that (a) the exch Company of Can e will be based or the particular dat ny of Canada wi our certificate(s)	ada, in its capad the prevailing m as and time at wh Il act as principa	eity as foreign exc larket rate on suc lich funds are col al in such curre	change service th date, and (b) nverted, will be ncy conversion
				X I OF RESIDENCE uction 12)			
□ is a	ning Box J repres a non-resident of not a non-residen	Canada for the p	urposes of the Ta				
partnership that		an partnership" a	s defined in the	ned not to be resi Tax Act. If you are ax advisor.			
The remainder	of this Box is for	non-residents of	Canada only:				
	er □ is □ is not entitled to the full			n Canada has en	tered into an inc	ome tax treaty u	nder which the
If the non-reside	ent Shareholder i	s entitled to full b	enefits under suc	ch treaty complete	the following:		
			Country of	Residence			

# BOX J SHAREHOLDER(S) SIGN HERE (See Instructions 1 and 6)

Must be signed by registered owner(s) exactly as name(s) appear(s) on certificate(s) or on a DRIP statement or by person(s) authorized to become registered owner(s) by certificate(s) and documents transmitted with this Letter of Transmittal. If signature is by attorney-in-fact, executor, administrator, trustee, guardian, officer of a corporation or another acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, please set forth the full title. See Instruction 6.

please set forth the full title. See Instruction 6.
Authorized Signature:
Signature(s) of Shareholder or
authorized representative
Name(s):(Please Print)
(Please Print)
Capacity(s):
Address:
(Include Postal Code or Zip Code)
Area Code and Telephone Number:
TIN; SSN; SIN:
Shareholders must provide their Social Insurance No.; U.S. Shareholders must provide their Taxpayer Identification No. or Social Security No. and complete Form W-9. Non-resident Shareholder must complete Form NR-301 (or, in the case of a partnership or hybrid entity, Form NR-302 or NR-303, as applicable) where such Forms have not previously been provided or where details are no longer accurate.
Dated, 2022

# BOX K GUARANTEE OF SIGNATURE(S) (See Instructions 1 and 6) Authorized Signature: Name(s): (Please Print) Title: Name of Firm: Address: (Include Postal Code or Zip Code) Area Code and Telephone Number: Dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2022

# BOX L WIRE PAYMENT

\*PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS A \$100 BANKING FEE ON WIRE PAYMENTS. ALTERNATIVELY, CHEQUE PAYMENTS ARE ISSUED AT NO ADDITIONAL COST.

\*IF WIRE DETAILS ARE INCORRECT OR INCOMPLETE, COMPUTERSHARE WILL ATTEMPT TO CONTACT YOU AND CORRECT THE ISSUE. HOWEVER, IF WE CANNOT CORRECT THE ISSUE PROMPTLY, A CHEQUE WILL BE AUTOMATICALLY ISSUED AND MAILED TO THE ADDRESS ON RECORD, NO FEES WILL BE CHARGED.

ease provide email address and ph	none number in the event t	hat we need to contact you fo	r correcti	ve measures:
MAIL ADDRESS:		PHONE NUMBER: _		
leneficiary Name(s) that appears on the accou	nt at your financial institution – <b>this</b>	MUST be the same name and addre	ss that you	r shares are registered to
eneficiary Address (Note: PO Boxes will not b	e accepted) **City	**Province/State		**Postal Code/Zip Code
eneficiary Bank/Financial Institution				
ank Address	**City	**Province/State		**Postal Code/Zip Code
EASE ONLY COMPLETE THE APPLICABLE BOX	ES BELOW, AS PROVIDED BY YOU	R FINANCIAL INSTITUTION. YOU ARE <u>N</u>	<u>ot</u> require	ED TO COMPLETE ALL BOXES
**Bank Account No.	Bank No. & Tr	ansit No. (Canadian Banks)		ABA/Routing No. (US Banks)
(3 dig	its & 5 digits) (9 digits)			
SWIFT or BIC Code		BAN Number  lly have eight, put 'XXX' for the last three)		Sort Code (GBP)
	Additional Notes and	d special routing instructions:		

# **INSTRUCTIONS**

# Forming Part of the Terms of the Offer

# 1. Guarantee of Signatures.

No signature guarantee is required if:

- (a) this Letter of Transmittal is signed by the registered Shareholder exactly as the name of the registered holder appears on the certificate or DRIP position deposited with this Letter of Transmittal and payment and delivery are to be made directly to such registered holder pursuant to Box C or D above; or
- (b) such Shares are deposited for the account of a Canadian Schedule I chartered bank, a member of the Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program (STAMP), a member of the Stock Exchange Medallion Program (SEMP) or a member of the New York Stock Exchange Inc. Medallion Signature Program (MSP) (each such entity, an "Eligible Institution").

In all other cases, an Eligible Institution must guarantee all signatures on this Letter of Transmittal by completing Box K "Guarantee of Signature(s)". See Instruction 6.

# 2. Delivery of Letter of Transmittal and Certificates — Guaranteed Delivery Procedures.

Certificates for all physically tendered Shares, together with a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal, or, in the case of a book-entry transfer, a Book-Entry Confirmation through the CDSX system (in the case of Shares held in CDS) or an Agent's Message (in the case of Shares held in DTC), and any other documents required by this Letter of Transmittal, should be hand delivered, couriered or mailed to the Depositary at the appropriate address set forth herein and must be received by the Depositary by the Expiration Date.

Shareholders whose certificates are not immediately available or who cannot deliver certificates for Shares and all other required documents to the Depositary by the Expiry Date, may only tender their Shares by or through any Eligible Institution by properly completing and duly executing and delivering a Notice of Guaranteed Delivery substantially in the form provided (or an executed facsimile thereof) by the Company through the Depositary (indicating the type of tender and, in the case of an Auction Tender, the price at which Shares are being tendered) to the Depositary by the Expiry Date, which must include a guarantee by an Eligible Institution in the form set forth in the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, and by otherwise complying with this guaranteed delivery procedure as set forth in Section 5 of the Offer, "Procedure for Depositing Shares". Pursuant to such guaranteed delivery procedure, the certificates for all physically tendered Shares, as well as a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or a manually executed photocopy thereof) or Book-Entry Confirmation or Agent's Message in lieu thereof, relating to such Shares, with signatures guaranteed if so required in accordance with this Letter of Transmittal, and all other documents required by this Letter of Transmittal, must be received by the Toronto, Ontario office of the Depositary before 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on or before the second trading day on the Toronto Stock Exchange after the Expiration Date.

The Notice of Guaranteed Delivery may be hand delivered, couriered, mailed or transmitted by email transmission to the Toronto office of the Depositary listed in the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, and must include a guarantee by an Eligible Institution in the form set forth in the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery. For Shares to be validly tendered pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedure, the Depositary must receive the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery by the Expiration Date.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, payment for Shares tendered and accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer will be made only after timely receipt by the Depositary of certificates for such Shares, a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or a manually executed photocopy thereof) relating to such Shares, with signatures that are guaranteed if so required, and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal or, in the case of a book-entry transfer, a Book- Entry Confirmation through the CDSX system (in the case of Shares held in CDS) or an Agent's Message (in the case of Shares held in DTC).

The tender information specified in a Notice of Guaranteed Delivery will, in all circumstances, take precedence over the tender information that is specified in the related Letter of Transmittal that is subsequently deposited.

The method of delivery of certificates representing Shares and all other required documents is at the option and risk of the depositing Shareholder. If certificates representing Shares are to be sent by mail, registered mail, properly insured, is recommended, and it is suggested that the mailing be made sufficiently in advance of the Expiration Date to permit delivery to the Depositary on or prior to such date. Delivery of a certificate representing Shares will only be made upon actual receipt of such certificate representing such shares by the Depositary.

Under no circumstances will interest be paid by Imperial by reason of any delay in making payment to any person using the guaranteed delivery procedures, including without limitation any delay arising because the Shares to be delivered pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedures are not so delivered to the Depositary, and therefore payment by the Depositary on account of such Shares is not made until after the date the payment for the deposited Shares accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer is to be made by Imperial.

Imperial will not purchase any fractional Shares, nor will it accept any alternative, conditional or contingent tenders except as specifically permitted by the Offer. All tendering Shareholders, by execution of this Letter of Transmittal and delivery of it in the manner prescribed herein, waive any right to receive any notice of the acceptance of their deposit.

### 3. Inadequate Space.

If the space provided in any Box is inadequate, attach a separate signed document to this Letter of Transmittal.

# 4. Indication of Type of Tender and Indication of Price.

- (a) For Shares to be validly tendered, a Shareholder must indicate in Box A "Type of Tender" above whether he or she is tendering Shares pursuant to an Auction Tender (Box G "Auction Tenders"), a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender (Box B "Proportionate Tender").
- (b) Only one box in Box A "Type of Tender" may be checked. If more than one box is checked, or if no box is checked, the Shareholder will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. The same Shares cannot be tendered, unless previously properly withdrawn as provided in the Offer and the Circular, pursuant to Auction Tenders at more than one price. Shareholders may not include the same Shares pursuant to more than one method of tender or pursuant to an Auction Tender at more than one price. Shareholders who desire to tender different Shares at more than one price under an Auction Tender must complete a separate Letter of Transmittal (or make a separate electronic book-entry confirmation) for each price at which Shares are tendered. Shareholders may deposit some of their Shares pursuant to an Auction Tender and deposit different Shares pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender. Shareholders who make an Auction Tender and/or a Purchase Price Tender cannot deposit Shares in a Proportionate Tender. Shareholders who deposit Shares in a Proportionate Tender.
- (c) For Shares to be validly tendered pursuant to an Auction Tender, a Shareholder must check the box indicating the price per Share at which he or she is tendering Shares under Box G "Auction Tenders". Only one box in Box A may be checked. If more than one box is checked, or if no box is checked, the Shareholder will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. Shareholders (other than Odd Lot Holders) may make multiple Auction Tenders but not in respect of the same Shares. If a Shareholder wishes to tender different Shares at different prices, a separate tender instruction by way of Letter of Transmittal (or Book-Entry Confirmation or Agent's Message as the case may be) must be submitted for each such tender. The same Shares cannot be tendered (unless previously withdrawn as provided in Section 6 of the Offer, "Withdrawal Rights") pursuant to Auction Tenders at more than one price.
- (d) No price can be specified by a Shareholder making a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender. If a Shareholder checks "Purchase Price Tender" or "Proportionate Tender" under Box A

"Type of Tender" and indicates a price per Share in Box G "Auction Tenders", there is no proper tender of Shares.

(e) For Shares to be properly tendered pursuant to a Proportionate Tender, the Shareholder must complete Box B "Proportionate Tender" on this Letter of Transmittal indicating the total number of Shares they own. A registered Shareholder who makes a Proportionate Tender must deposit either all of its Shares or a sufficient number of Shares to satisfy the Shareholder's Proportionate Tender. This number of Shares can be calculated by multiplying the total number of Shares owned by the Shareholder by 0.0343 (rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares). A non-registered Shareholder who wishes its nominee to make a Proportionate Tender must deposit all of its Shares. If a non-registered Shareholder wishes to become a registered Shareholder in order to make a Proportionate Tender by depositing only a sufficient number of Shares, the Shareholder should immediately contact its investment dealer, stock broker, bank, trust company or other nominee in order to take the necessary steps to have its Shares registered in the Shareholder's name prior to tendering Shares pursuant to the Offer. A Shareholder who makes an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender.

### 5. Partial Deposits and Unpurchased Shares.

If fewer than all of the Shares evidenced by any certificate are to be tendered pursuant to an Auction Tender or a Purchase Price Tender, fill in the number of Shares which are to be deposited in the column entitled "Number of Shares Deposited". If you desire to deposit only a portion of your DRIP position, you must withdraw that portion of your DRIP position from the DRIP and submit the certificate received in respect thereof, together with a Letter of Transmittal. Shareholders should contact the DRIP plan agent, TSX Trust Company, in such circumstance to arrange the withdrawal. In such case, if any tendered Shares or Shares represented by DRIP positions are purchased, a new certificate for the remainder of the Shares evidenced by the old certificate(s) or DRIP position will be issued and sent to the address on record unless otherwise indicated under Box C "Payment Instructions" or Box D "Delivery Instructions" on this Letter of Transmittal, as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date. Prorated DRIP positions not purchased will be returned to the DRIP.

All Shares represented by the certificate(s) or DRIP positions listed and delivered to the Depositary are deemed to have been deposited unless otherwise indicated. For all Proportionate Tenders, a new certificate for the portion of the Shares that are not purchased pursuant to the Offer will be sent to the registered address on record unless otherwise indicated under Box C "Payment Instructions" or Box D "Delivery Instructions" on this Letter of Transmittal, as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date. Prorated DRIP positions not purchased will be returned to the DRIP.

# 6. Signatures on Letter of Transmittal, Stock Transfer Powers and Endorsements.

- (a) If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by the registered holder(s) of the Shares deposited hereby, the signature(s) must correspond exactly with the name(s) as written on the face of the certificate without any change whatsoever.
- (b) If the Shares are registered in the names of two or more joint owners, each such owner must sign this Letter of Transmittal.
- (c) If any deposited Shares are registered in different names on several certificates, it will be necessary to complete, sign, and submit as many separate Letters of Transmittal (or facsimile of it) as there are different registrations of certificates.
- (d) When this Letter of Transmittal is duly executed by the registered owner(s) of the Shares listed and transmitted hereby, no endorsements of certificate(s) representing such Shares or separate stock powers are required unless payment is to be made, or the certificates or DRIP positions for Shares not tendered by the undersigned or not purchased by the Company, are to be issued, to a person other than the registered owner(s). Any signature(s) required on such certificates or stock powers must be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution. If this Letter of Transmittal is duly executed by a person other than the registered owner of the certificate(s) listed, the certificates or DRIP positions must be endorsed or accompanied by appropriate stock powers, signed exactly as the name(s) of the registered owner(s) appear(s) on the certificate or DRIP position, and signatures on such

certificate(s) or stock power(s) must be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution. An ownership declaration, which can be obtained from the Depositary, must also be completed and delivered to the Depositary. See Instruction 1 in this Letter of Transmittal.

(e) If this Letter of Transmittal or any certificates or stock transfer powers are signed by trustees, executors, administrators, guardians, attorneys-in-fact, officers of corporations or others acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, such persons should so indicate when signing and must submit proper evidence satisfactory to Imperial of their authority so to act.

# 7. Odd Lots.

As described in Section 3 of the Offer, "Number of Shares, Proration and Proportionate Tenders", if Imperial is to purchase less than all Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders by the Expiration Date, the Shares purchased first will consist of all Shares so tendered by any Shareholder who will own beneficially, as of the close of business on the Expiration Date, an aggregate of fewer than 100 Shares and who tenders all of its Shares under Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price or under Purchase Price Tenders. This preference will not be available unless Box E "Odd Lots" is completed. Proportionate Tenders or partial tenders will not be accepted from Odd Lot Holders.

# 8. Special Payment Instructions.

Complete Box C "Payment Instructions" if cheques or new certificates or DRIP positions are to be sent to someone other than the undersigned.

If a cheque in payment for Shares tendered or new certificates are to be held by the Depositary for pick-up by the undersigned or any person designated by the undersigned in writing, Box C "Hold for Pick-Up" on this Letter of Transmittal must be completed.

The undersigned may elect to receive payment for shares tendered via a wire transfer instead of a cheque, by completing Box L – "Wire Payment".

# 9. Lost Certificates

If a share certificate has been lost or destroyed, the shareholder must contact the Transfer Agent and receive a replacement share certificate prior to depositing the Letter of Transmittal with the Depositary. The Transfer Agent can be contacted by phone at 1 (800) 387-0825 or by email at <a href="mailto:lostcertificates@tmx.com">lostcertificates@tmx.com</a>.

# 10. Irregularities.

All questions as to the number of Shares to be taken up, the price to be paid therefor, the form of documents and the validity, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance for payment of any deposit of Shares will be determined by Imperial, in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding on all parties. Imperial reserves the absolute right to reject any deposits of Shares determined by it not to be in proper form or completed in accordance with the instructions in the Offer and in this Letter of Transmittal or the acceptance for payment of or payment for which may, in the opinion of Imperial's counsel, be unlawful. Imperial also reserves the absolute right to waive any of the conditions of the Offer or any defect or irregularity in the deposit of any particular Shares and Imperial's interpretation of the terms of the Offer (including the instructions in the Offer and this Letter of Transmittal) will be final and binding on all parties. No individual deposit of Shares will be deemed to be properly made until all defects and irregularities have been cured or waived. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with deposits must be cured within such time as Imperial shall determine. None of Imperial, the Depositary, the Dealer Manager nor any other person is or will be obligated to give notice of defects or irregularities in notices of withdrawal, nor shall any of them incur any liability for failure to give any such notice. Imperial's interpretation of the terms and conditions of the Offer (including this Letter of Transmittal and the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery) will be final and binding.

# 11. Questions and Requests for Assistance and Additional Copies.

Questions and requests for assistance and additional copies of the Offer, the Circular, the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery and this Letter of Transmittal may be directed to the Depositary, the Dealer Manager or your broker, dealer, commercial bank, or trust company.

The Depositary for the Offer is:

# Computershare Investor Services Inc.

Regular Mail:

Computershare Investor Services Inc. P.O. Box 7023 31 Adelaide Street East Toronto ON M5C 3H2 Attention: Corporate Actions

Telephone (outside North America):
1 (514) 982-7555
Toll Free (within North America):
1 (800) 564-6253
Email: corporateactions@computershare.com

Registered Mail, Hand or Courier

Computershare Investor Services Inc. 100 University Avenue 8<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto ON M5J 2Y1 Attention: Corporate Actions The Dealer Manager for the Offer is:

# **RBC Capital Markets**

Royal Bank Plaza, South Tower 200 Bay Street, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto ON M5J 2W7 Email: ImperialSIB@rbccm.com

# 12. Jurisdiction of Residence.

Each Shareholder depositing Shares to the Depositary must represent as to whether or not such Shareholder is a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the Tax Act by completing Box I "Jurisdiction of Residence".

# 13. Form W-9.

Each U.S. Shareholder depositing Shares to the Depositary is required to provide the Depositary with a correct U.S. taxpayer identification number ("TIN") (generally the Shareholder's social security number or federal employer identification number) and certain other information, on Form W-9, which is attached to this Letter of Transmittal. Failure to timely provide a correct TIN on the form may subject the depositing Shareholder to U.S. federal backup withholding tax on the gross amount of any payments made to the U.S. Shareholder and, in certain cases, penalties.

# 14. Currency of Payment.

All amounts payable under the Offer will be paid in Canadian dollars; however, Shareholders can elect to use the Depositary's currency exchange services to convert such payment into U.S. dollars by checking Box H "Currency Election".

The exchange rate for one Canadian dollar expressed in U.S. dollars will be based on the rate available from the Depositary on the date of the currency conversion. All risks associated with the currency conversion from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars, including risks relating to change in rates, the timing of exchange or the selection of a rate for exchange, and all costs incurred with the currency conversion are for the Shareholder's sole account and will be at such Shareholder's sole risk and expense, and neither the Depositary nor Imperial or their affiliates will be responsible for any such matters.

# 15. Governing Law.

The Offer and any agreement resulting from the acceptance of the Offer will be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Province of Alberta and the laws of Canada applicable therein.

# 16. Forms NR-301, NR-302 and NR-303

If the non-resident Shareholder is the beneficial owner of the tendered Shares <u>and has not previously filed a Form NR-301</u>, NR-302 or NR-303, as applicable, or where the non-resident Shareholder's details on such <u>previously filed form have changed</u>, the non-resident Shareholder must complete the attached Form NR-301 (or, in the case of a partnership or hybrid entity, Form NR-302 or NR-303, as applicable). Non-resident Shareholders who do not properly complete and provide a Form NR-301 (or, in the case of a partnership or hybrid entity, Form NR-302 or NR-303, as applicable), will be assumed to be subject to 25% Canadian non-resident withholding tax rate on any relevant amounts.

# 17. Privacy Notice.

Computershare is committed to protecting your personal information. In the course of providing services to you and our corporate clients, we receive non-public personal information about you-from transactions we perform for you, forms you send us, other communications we have with you or your representatives, etc. This information could include your name, contact details (such as residential address, correspondence address, email address), social insurance number, survey responses, securities holdings and other financial information. We use this to administer your account, to better serve your and our clients' needs and for other lawful purposes relating to our services. Computershare may transfer personal information to other companies in or outside of Canada that provide data processing and storage or other support in order to facilitate the services it provides. Where we share your personal information with other companies to provide services to you, we ensure they have adequate safeguards to protect your personal information. We also ensure the protection of rights of data subjects under the General Data Protection Regulation, where applicable. We have prepared a Privacy Code to tell you more about our information practices, how your privacy is protected and how to contact our Chief Privacy Officer. It is available at our website, www.computershare.com, or by writing to us at 100 University Avenue, 8th Floor Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2Y1. Computershare will use the information you are providing in order to process your request and will treat your signature(s) as your consent to us so doing.

IMPORTANT: This Letter of Transmittal or manually signed photocopy of it (together with certificates for Shares and all other required documents) or the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, where applicable, must be received by the Depositary on or before the Expiration Date unless Shares are properly tendered by a Book-Entry Confirmation through the CDSX system (in the case of Shares held in CDS) or an Agent's Message (in the case of Shares held in DTC) on or before the Expiration Date.

This following is a summary only of certain U.S. tax considerations. Shareholders should consult with their tax advisors regarding the tax consequences with respect to their particular circumstances.

# IMPORTANT U.S. TAX INFORMATION FOR U.S. HOLDERS

In order to avoid backup withholding of U.S. federal income tax on payments pursuant to the Offer, a U.S. Shareholder tendering Shares must, unless an exemption applies, provide the Depositary with such Shareholder's TIN (i.e., Social Security Number or Employer Identification Number), certify under penalties of perjury that such TIN is correct, and provide certain other certifications by completing the Form W-9 included in this Letter of Transmittal. If a U.S. Shareholder does not provide such Shareholder's correct TIN or fails to provide the required certifications, the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") may impose a penalty of \$50 U.S. dollars on such Shareholder and payment to such Shareholder pursuant to the Offer may be subject to backup withholding currently at a rate of 24%. All U.S. Shareholders tendering Shares pursuant to the Offer should complete and sign the Form W-9 to provide the information and certification necessary to avoid backup withholding (unless an applicable exemption exists and is proved in a manner satisfactory to Imperial and the Depositary).

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Rather, the amount of the backup withholding can be credited against the U.S. federal income tax liability of the person subject to the backup withholding, provided that the required information is given to the IRS. If backup withholding results in an overpayment of tax, a refund can be obtained by the Shareholder upon filing a U.S. federal income tax return.

Certain Shareholders (including, among others, corporations, individual retirement accounts and certain foreign individuals and entities) are generally not subject to backup withholding but may be required to provide evidence of their exemption from backup withholding. Exempt U.S. Shareholders should indicate their exempt status on the Form W-9. Shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisors to determine whether they are exempt from backup withholding and associated reporting requirements.

ALL U.S. SHAREHOLDERS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS TO DETERMINE HOW THE FOREGOING BACKUP WITHHOLDING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS APPLY TO THEM WITH REGARD TO THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

# Imperial Oil Limited





8th Floor, 100 University Avenue Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1 Telephone 1-800-564-6253 www.computershare.com



MR A SAMPLE **DESIGNATION (IF ANY)** ADD 1 ADD 2 ADD 3 ADD 4 ADD 5

|-||--||---||---||--||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---||---|



Holder Account Number



Date Issued: DD MM YYYY

Use a black pen. Print in CAPITAL letters inside the grey areas as shown in this example.

ADD 6







# Form W-9 Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification

Dear Shareholder:

Our records indicate that your U.S. Social Security Number or Employer Identification Number is not certified. If this Form W-9 is not completed and returned, your account may be subject to backup withholding at the applicable tax rate on all dividends and sale proceeds.

For joint tenant accounts, the TIN provided must belong to the first owner listed above to avoid backup withholding.

# Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN)

Enter your TIN for the above registered name and address in the appropriate box. For individuals, this is your Social Security number (SSN).

For other entities, it is your Employer Identification Number (EIN). COMPLETE ONLY ONE BOX.

OR OR	Social Security Number	-	Employer Identification Number
		OR	

Federal Tax Classification Note: For a single-member LLC that is disregarded, check the appropriate box below for the tax classification of the single-member owner.

Check	appropriate box (required)	); check		(es:	iibei oi	WIIGI.	
	Individual/ Sole Proprietor or Single- Member LLC		C Corporation	S Corporation		Partnership	Trust/ Estate

**Limited Liability Company** or

# Other Classification

If you are an LLC or Other Classification, do not complete this form. You must complete an IRS Form W-9. This form can be found on the IRS website at www.irs.gov. See "Limited Liability Company or Other Classification" on the back of this form for more information.

**C** Exemptions

# **Exempt Payee Code (if any)**

If you are exempt from backup withholding, enter in this box any code that may apply to you. See Exempt Payee Codes on the back of this form.

# **Exemption from FATCA Reporting Code (if any)**

If you are exempt from FATCA Reporting, enter in this box any code that may apply to you. See Exemption from FATCA Reporting Codes on the back of this form.

# D Certification

Under penalties of perjury, I certify that:

- 1. The number shown on this form is my correct Taxpayer Identification Number, and
- 2. I am not subject to backup withholding because: (a) I am exempt from backup withholding, or (b) I have not been notified by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that I am subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has notified me that I am no longer subject to backup withholding, and
- 3. I am a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person (defined on reverse).
- 4. The FATCA code(s) entered on this form (if any) indicating that I am exempt from FATCA reporting is correct (defined on reverse).

Certification Instructions. You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding because you have failed to report all interest and dividends on your tax return.

Date (mm/dd/yyyy)

This form must be signed and dated for us to accept as proper contification

ilis ioiiii iliust be	signed and dated for us to accept as proper certification
Sign Here	Signature of U.S. Person - Please keep signature within the box
<u> </u>	

/	/	
/	/	

Send form to Computershare. Do not send to the IRS.



4 U S W 9





# How to complete this form

# **Backup Withholding**

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) requires us to withhold taxes for the applicable rate of backup withholding for U.S. persons without a W-9 tax certification who are not otherwise exempt. Parties acting as disbursement agents, such as Computershare, must withhold and pay to the IRS the applicable tax rate of such payments under certain conditions. This is called "backup withholding." Payments that may be subject to backup withholding include interest, dividends, broker and barter exchange transactions, and royalties. Supplying us with your correct Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN), and signing this form will generally allow you to receive your payments without being subject to backup withholding. Failure to supply your TIN, or supplying us with an incorrect TIN, could result in a \$50.00 penalty being assessed by the IRS. Receipt of a completed Form W-9 will discontinue backup withholding unless otherwise required.

### **Taxpayer Identification**

Social Security Number (SSN) - If you are completing this on behalf of one of these parties, include the appropriate Social Security Number, as indicated below.

- 1. Individual (The Individual)
- Two or more individuals (joint account) (The actual owner, or if combined funds, the first individual on the account)
- Custodian account of a minor (Uniform Gift to Minors Act or Uniform Transfers to Minors Act) (The minor)
- a. The usual revocable savings trust (Grantor is also trustee)
   (The grantor-trustee)
  - So-called trust account that is not a legal or valid trust under state law (The actual owner)
- 5. Sole proprietorship (The owner)
- 6. Grantor trust filing under Optional Form 1099 Filing Method 1 (The grantor)

# Employer Identification Number - If you are completing this on behalf of one of these entities, include the appropriate Employer Identification Number, as indicated below.

- 7. Disregarded entity not owned by an individual (The owner)
- 8. A valid trust, estate, or pension trust (Legal entity)
- Corporation or LLC electing corporate status on Form 8832 or Form 2553 (The corporation)
- Association, club, religious, charitable, educational or other tax exempt organization (The organization)
- 11. Partnership or multi-member LLC (The partnership)
- 12. A broker or registered nominee (The broker or nominee)
- Account with the Department of Agriculture in the name of a public entity (The public entity)
- Grantor trust filing under the Form 1041 Filing Method or the Optional Form 1099 Filing Method 2 (The trust)

# **Limited Liability Company or Other Classification**

If you are a Limited Liability Company or Other entity, complete an IRS Form W-9 found on the IRS website <a href="www.irs.gov">www.irs.gov</a>. Be sure to include the information required in the IRS instructions for a Limited Liability Company (LLC) or for Other entities on page 2. Return the completed form to the address below.

# **Exempt Pavee Code**

Generally, individuals (including sole proprietors) are not exempt from backup withholding. Corporations are exempt from backup withholding for certain payments, such as interest and dividends. Corporations are not exempt from backup withholding for payments made in settlement of payment card or third party network transactions. Note: if you are exempt from backup withholding, you should still complete this form to avoid possible erroneous backup withholding.

- An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a), any IRA, or a custodial account under section 403(b)(7) if the account satisfies the requirements of section 401(f)(2)
- 2. The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities
- A state, the District of Columbia, a possession of the United States, or any of their political subdivisions or instrumentalities
- 4. A foreign government or any of its political subdivisions or instrumentalities
- A corporation
- A dealer in securities or commodities required to register in the United States, the District of Columbia, or a possession of the United States
- A futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
- 8. A real estate investment trust
- An entity registered at all times during the tax year under the Investment Company Act of 1940
- 10. A common trust fund operated by a bank under section 584(a)
- A financial institution
- 12. A middleman known in the investment community as a nominee or custodian
- A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 4947

# **Exemption from FATCA Reporting**

The following codes identify payees that are exempt from reporting under FATCA. These codes apply to persons submitting this form for accounts maintained outside of the United States by certain foreign financial institutions. Therefore, if you are only submitting this form for an account you hold in the United States, you may leave this field blank.

- An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a) or any individual retirement plan as defined in section 7701(a)(37)
- B. The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities
- A state, the District of Columbia, a possession of the United States, or any of their political subdivisions or instrumentalities
- A corporation the stock of which is regularly traded on one or more established securities markets, as described in Reg. section 1.1472-1(c)(1)(i)
- E. A corporation that is a member of the same expanded affiliated group as a corporation described in Reg. section 1.1472-1(c)(1)(i)
- F. A dealer in securities, commodities, or derivative financial instruments (including notional principal contracts, futures, forwards, and options) that is registered under the laws of the United States or any state
- G. A real estate investment trust
- H. A regulated investment company as defined in section 851 or an entity registered at all times during the tax year under the Investment Company Act of 1940
- I. A common trust fund as defined in section 584(a)
- J. A bank as defined in section 581
- K. A broker
- L. A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 4947(a)(1)
- M. A tax exempt trust under a section 403(b) plan or section 457(g) plan

# **Definition of a U.S. Person.** For federal tax purposes, you are considered a U.S. person if you are:

- · An individual who is a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien,
- A partnership, corporation, company, or association created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States,
- · An estate (other than a foreign estate), or
- A domestic trust (as defined in Regulations Section 301.7701-7).

# Please return the completed form to:

Computershare 100 University Avenue, 8th Floor, Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1

Privacy Notice: Computershare is committed to protecting your personal information. In the course of providing services to you and our corporate clients, we receive non-public personal information about you-from transactions we perform for you, forms you send us, other communications we have with you or your representatives, etc. This information could include your name, contact details (such as residential address, correspondence address, email address), Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN), survey responses, securities holdings and other financial information. We use this to administer your account, to better serve your and our clients' needs and for other lawful purposes relating to our services. Computershare may transfer personal information to other companies in or outside of Canada that provide data proceding and storage or other support in order to facilitate the services it provides. Where we share your personal information with other companies to provide services to you, we ensure they have adequate safeguards to protect your personal information. We also ensure the protection of rights of data subjects under the General Data Protection Regulation, where applicable. We have prepared a Privacy Code to tell you more about our information practices, how your privacy is protected and how to contact our Chief Privacy Officer. It is available at our website, www.computershare.com, or by writing to us at 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2Y1.

You are required to provide your TIN if we require it for income reporting. Computershare may also ask for your TIN as an identification-security measure if you call or write to request service on your account; however you may decline this usage.

# THIS IS NOT A LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL



# **NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY**

To Deposit
Common Shares of Imperial Oil Limited
Pursuant to the Offer (as defined herein)
Dated November 4, 2022

THE OFFER WILL BE OPEN FOR ACCEPTANCE UNTIL 5:00 P.M. (CALGARY TIME) ON DECEMBER 9, 2022 UNLESS THE OFFER IS WITHDRAWN, EXTENDED OR VARIED BY THE COMPANY (THE "EXPIRATION DATE")

As set forth in Section 5 of the Offer, "Procedure for Depositing Shares", this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery or one substantially equivalent hereto must be used to deposit common shares (the "Shares") of Imperial Oil Limited ("Imperial" or the "Company") pursuant to the offer to purchase dated November 4, 2022 (together with any amendments, supplements or variations thereto, the "Offer"), if a Shareholder wishes to deposit Shares pursuant to the Offer and cannot deliver certificates for such shares, or the book-entry transfer procedures cannot be completed, prior to the Expiration Date, or time will not permit all required documents to reach Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the "Depositary") by the Expiration Date. This Notice of Guaranteed Delivery may be hand delivered, couriered, mailed or transmitted by e-mail transmission to the Toronto office of the Depositary set forth below. See Section 5 of the Offer, "Procedure for Depositing Shares". PLEASE DO NOT PASSWORD PROTECT THE DOCUMENTS WHEN SENDING VIA E-MAIL TRANSMISSION.

Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery have the meanings ascribed to them in the Offer that accompanies this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.

Offices of the Depositary, Computershare Investor Services Inc., for this Offer:

By Mail: By Hand, Registered Mail or by Courier:

Computershare Investor Services Inc. P.O. Box 7023 31 Adelaide Street East Toronto, ON M5C 3H2 Attention: Corporate Actions Computershare Investor Services Inc. 100 University Avenue 8th Floor Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1 Attention: Corporate Actions

# By Email:

depositoryparticipant@computershare.com

### COMPUTERSHARE INVESTOR SERVICES INC.

Telephone: 1 (514) 982-7555 Toll Free: 1 (800) 564-6253 TO: Imperial Oil Limited ("Imperial" or the "Company")

AND TO: Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the "Depositary")

Delivery of this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery to any address, or e-mail transmission of this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery to an e-mail address, other than as set forth above does not constitute a valid delivery.

This Notice of Guaranteed Delivery is not to be used to guarantee signatures. If a signature on the Letter of Transmittal is required to be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution (as defined in the Offer), such signature must appear on the applicable space on the Letter of Transmittal.

The terms and conditions of the Offer are incorporated by reference in this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery have the meanings ascribed to them in the Offer and the accompanying issuer bid circular dated November 4, 2022 that accompanies this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.

The undersigned hereby tenders to Imperial the Shares indicated below pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedure as set forth in Section 5 of the Offer, "Procedure for Depositing Shares", receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, in the manner indicated below upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Offer, including the provisions relating to proration described therein.

The undersigned understands that the tender information specified in this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery will, in all circumstances, take precedence over any inconsistent tender information that is specified in the related Letter of Transmittal that is subsequently deposited.

NAME(S) OF REGISTERED OWNER(S)						
	(Please Fill in Exactly as Name(s) Appear(s) on Share Certificate(s))					

Certificate Number(s) – If Available	Number of Shares Represented by Certificate(s)	Name of Shareholder (please print)

# DO NOT SEND SHARE CERTIFICATES WITH THIS FORM

The Eligible Institution which completes this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery must communicate the guarantee to the Depositary and must deliver (i) the Letter of Transmittal and certificates for Shares to the Depositary, or (ii) in the case of a book-entry transfer, a Book-Entry Confirmation through the CDSX system (in the case of Shares held in CDS) or an Agent's Message (in the case of Shares held in DTC), to the Depositary within the time period shown herein. Failure to do so could result in a financial loss to such institution.

The undersigned understands and acknowledges that payment for Shares deposited and accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer will be made only after timely receipt by the Depositary of certificate(s) for such Shares, a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or a manually executed photocopy thereof) or, in the case of a book-entry transfer, a Book-Entry Confirmation through the CDSX system (in the case of shares held in CDS) or an Agent's Message (in the case of shares held in DTC), relating to such Shares, with the signatures guaranteed if required, and all other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal before 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on or before the second trading day on the TSX after the Expiration Date. The undersigned also understands and acknowledges that under no circumstances will interest accrue or be paid by the Company or the Depositary to persons depositing Shares regardless of any delay in making payment for any Shares or otherwise, including any delay in making payment to any person using the guaranteed delivery procedures, and that payment for Shares deposited pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedures will be the same as that for Shares delivered to the Depositary on or prior to the Expiration Date, even if the Shares to be delivered pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedures set forth in Section 5 "Procedure for Depositing Shares" of the Offer are not so delivered to the

Depositary at such date and, therefore, payment by the Depositary on account of such Shares is not made until after the date the payment for the deposited Shares accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer is to be made by the Company.

The undersigned recognizes that all authority conferred or agreed to be conferred in this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery shall survive its death or incapacity and any obligations of the undersigned under this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery shall be binding upon its heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns. Except as stated in the Offer, this tender is irrevocable.

The undersigned understands that it should indicate whether the Shares are deposited pursuant to an Auction Tender, a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender by completing Box A captioned "Type of Tender". If you do not make a valid Auction Tender, Purchase Price Tender or Proportionate Tender, you will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender.

BOX A TYPE OF TENDER														
CHECK ONLY ONE BOX; IF MORE THAN ONE BOX IS CHECKED, OR IF NO BOX IS CHECKED, THE TENDER WILL BE DEEMED TO BE A PURCHASE PRICE TENDER														
			SHAR	RES ARE	BEING	TENDER	RED I	HEREBY	PURS	SUANT TO	) <i>:</i>			
☐ An Auction Tender ☐ A Purchase Price Tender ☐ A Proportionate Tender  (Complete Box C)														
	BOX B ODD LOTS*													
To be completed <u>ONLY</u> if Shares are being tendered by or on behalf of persons owning fewer than 100 Shares as of the close of business on the Expiration Date.														
The unders	igned ei	ther (chec	k one	e):										
☐ is the ow	ner of fe	ewer than	100 S	Shares as	of the	close of b	usine	ss on the	Expir	ation Date	e, all c	of which ar	e ten	dered; or
□ is the owner of fewer than 100 Shares as of the close of business on the Expiration Date, all of which are tendered; or □ is a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee that (i) is tendering, for the beneficial owners thereof, Shares with respect to which it is the record owner, and (ii) believes, based upon representations made to it by each such beneficial owner, that such beneficial owner owns an aggregate of fewer than 100 Shares as of the close of business on the Expiration Date and is tendering all such Shares. *Odd Lot Holders may not tender their Shares pursuant to a Proportionate Tender.														
						ВО	хс							
Price (in C\$	) per Sh	nare:			A	UCTION	TENI	DERS						
In addition to checking "Auction Tender" in Box A above, this box MUST be completed if Shares are tendered pursuant to an Auction Tender.									tendered					
Check Only <u>ONE</u> Box. If more than one box is checked, or if no box is checked, all Shares identified above will be deemed to have been tendered pursuant to the Purchase Price Tender. Shareholders (other than Odd Lot Holders) may make multiple Auction Tenders but not in respect of the same Shares. If a Shareholder wishes to tender different Shares at different prices, a separate tender instruction by way of Letter of Transmittal must be submitted for EACH such tender.														
□ \$72.50 □ \$74.50 □ \$76.50 □ \$78.50 □ \$80.50 □ \$82.50 □ \$84.50 □ \$86.50		\$72.75 \$74.75 \$76.75 \$78.75 \$80.75 \$82.75 \$84.75 \$86.75		\$73.00 \$75.00 \$77.00 \$79.00 \$81.00 \$83.00 \$85.00 \$87.00		\$73.25 \$75.25 \$77.25 \$79.25 \$81.25 \$83.25 \$85.25		\$73.50 \$75.50 \$77.50 \$79.50 \$81.50 \$83.50 \$85.50		\$73.75 \$75.75 \$77.75 \$79.75 \$81.75 \$83.75 \$85.75		\$74.00 \$76.00 \$78.00 \$80.00 \$82.00 \$84.00 \$86.00		\$74.25 \$76.25 \$78.25 \$80.25 \$82.25 \$84.25 \$86.25

		X D Y ELECTION	
services to convert their paym		ent made, in U.S. o	to use the Depositary's currency exchange dollars by checking the box below. If you do
☐ Check here if you wish to h	nave your cash entitlement paid	d in U.S. dollars (U	JS\$)
expressed in U.S. dollars will foreign exchange service prov market rate on such date, and time at which funds are conve act as principal in such curr	Il be the rate available from C vider, on the date on which the f d (b) the risk of any fluctuations erted, will be solely borne by the rency conversion transactions.	omputershare Tru unds are converte in such rate, inclu shareholder. Con If you wish to re	ne exchange rate for one Canadian dollar last Company of Canada, in its capacity as d, which rate will be based on the prevailing ding risks relating to the particular date and imputershare Trust Company of Canada will eceive your payment in U.S. dollars, your must be delivered to the Depositary.
Dated:	Telephone (Business Hours):		Signature:
Email:	Address:		
J.S. financial institution (inclubraticipant in the Securities of Signature Program (MSP) or the standard set of the standard set of the securities of the securities of the securities of the security of the case of a book-entry transfer, an Agent's Message (in the case ime) on the second trading date.	ding most U.S. banks, saving Fransfer Agents Medallion Pro- he Stock Exchanges Medallion e certificate(s) representing the ed and duly executed Letter of a Book-Entry Confirmation thro se of Shares held in DTC), and a y on the Toronto Stock Exchan	member firm of a s and loan associated (STAMP), a Program (SEMP) of Shares deposited Transmittal (or making the CDSX system of the Expiremental (SEMP) of the CDSX system of the Expiremental (SEMP) of the CDSX system of the Expiremental (SEMP) of the Expiremental (	recognized stock exchange in Canada or a siations and brokerage houses) which is a the New York Stock Exchange Medallion) guarantees to deliver to the Depositary at ed hereby, in proper form for transfer, with anually signed photocopy thereof) or, in the stem (in the case of Shares held in CDS) or documents, on or before 5:00 p.m. (Calgary
Name of Firm		Authorized Sig	nature
Address of Firm		Name	
			(Please type or print)
		Title	
		Dated	, 2022

Postal Code or Zip Code Area Code and Tel. No. This announcement is neither an offer to purchase nor a solicitation of an offer to sell the common shares of Imperial Oil Limited. The Offer (as defined below) is made solely by the Offer to Purchase, dated November 4, 2022, and the accompanying Issuer Bid Circular, and the related Letter of Transmittal, and Notice of Guaranteed Delivery and any amendments or supplements thereto. The Offer is not being made to holders of the Shares (as defined below) in any jurisdiction in which the making or acceptance of offers to sell the Shares would not be in compliance with the laws of that jurisdiction. In any jurisdiction where the securities, blue sky, or other laws require the Offer to be made by a licensed broker or dealer, the Offer shall be deemed made on behalf of Imperial Oil Limited by the Dealer Manager (as defined below) or one or more brokers or dealers registered under the laws of such jurisdiction.



Notice of Offer to Purchase for Cash
by
Imperial Oil Limited
of
Up to C\$1,500,000,000 in Value of its Common Shares
At a Purchase Price of
Not Less Than C\$72.50 per Common Share
And Not More Than C\$87.00 per Common Share

Imperial Oil Limited, a Canadian corporation (the "Company"), is offering to purchase for cancellation a number of the Company's common shares (each, a "Share"), having an aggregate purchase price not exceeding C\$1,500,000,000 pursuant to: (i) auction tenders in which the tendering shareholders specify the number of Shares being tendered at a specified price (the "Auction Price") of not less than C\$72.50 and not more than C\$87.00 per Share in increments of C\$0.25 per Share (the "Auction Tenders"), (ii) purchase price tenders, in which the tendering shareholders do not specify a price per Share, but rather agree to have a specified number of Shares purchased at the Purchase Price (as defined below) to be determined pursuant to the Offer to Purchase (as defined below) (the "Purchase Price Tenders"), or (iii) proportionate tenders, in which the tendering shareholders do not specify a price per Share, but rather agree to have a number of Shares purchased at the Purchase Price to be determined pursuant to the Offer to Purchase that will result in them maintaining their respective proportionate Share ownership (the "Proportionate Tenders), upon the terms and subject to the conditions described in the Offer to Purchase, dated November 4, 2022 (the "Offer to Purchase"), and the accompanying Issuer Bid Circular (the "Issuer Bid Circular") and the related Letter of Transmittal (the "Letter of Transmittal") and notice of guaranteed delivery (the "Notice of Guaranteed Delivery") (which together, as they may be amended and supplemented from time to time, constitute the "Offer").

THE OFFER WILL EXPIRE AT 5:00 P.M., CALGARY TIME, ON DECEMBER 9, 2022, OR AT SUCH LATER TIME AND DATE TO WHICH THE OFFER MAY BE EXTENDED BY THE COMPANY (THE "EXPIRATION DATE"), UNLESS WITHDRAWN.

The Offer is not conditional upon any minimum number of Shares being properly deposited under the Offer. The Offer is, however, subject to other conditions as set forth in the Offer to Purchase.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Offer, the Company will determine a single price per Share (the "Purchase Price"), not less than C\$72.50 and not more than C\$87.00 per Share (in increments of C\$0.25 per Share),

that the Company will pay for Shares properly tendered to and not properly withdrawn from the Offer, taking into account the Auction Prices and the number of Shares deposited pursuant to Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders. The Purchase Price will be the lowest price that enables the Company to purchase that number of Shares pursuant to valid Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price not to exceed an amount (the "Auction Tender Limit Amount") equal to (i) C\$1,500,000,000 less (ii) the product of (A) C\$1,500,000,000 and (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate number of Shares owned by shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders, and the denominator of which is the aggregate number of Shares outstanding at the time of the Expiration Date. All Shares the Company purchases in the Offer will be acquired at the same purchase price regardless of whether any shareholder tenders at a lower price. For the purpose of determining the Purchase Price, Shares tendered pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price of \$72.50 per Share (which is the minimum price per Share under the Offer). Shares tendered pursuant to a Proportionate Tender will be considered to have been tendered at a price per Share equal to the Purchase Price. Shares tendered by a Shareholder pursuant to an Auction Tender will not be purchased by the Company pursuant to the Offer if the price per Share specified by the Shareholder is greater than the Purchase Price. However, because of "odd lot" priority and proration described in the Offer to Purchase, the Company may not purchase all of the Shares tendered at or below the Purchase Price if the aggregate purchase price for Shares validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to Auction Tenders at Auction Prices at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders (the "Auction Tender Purchase Amount") is greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount. Shares not purchased in the Offer will be recredited or returned to the depositing shareholders at the Company's expense promptly after the Expiration Date of the Offer. The Company reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to change the purchase price range per Share and to increase or decrease the value of Shares sought in the Offer, subject to applicable law.

As of October 31, 2022, there were 604,842,373 Shares issued and outstanding. At the maximum purchase price of C\$87.00 per Share, the Company could purchase 17,241,379 Shares if the Offer is fully subscribed, which would represent approximately 2.9% of the issued and outstanding Shares as of October 31, 2022. At the minimum purchase price of C\$72.50 per Share, the Company could purchase 20,689,655 Shares if the Offer is fully subscribed, which would represent approximately 3.4% of the issued and outstanding Shares as of October 31, 2022. The Shares are listed and posted for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the "TSX") under the symbol "IMO" and have unlisted trading privileges on the NYSE American LLC ("NYSE American") under the symbol "IMO". Shareholders are urged to obtain current market quotations for the Shares before deciding whether and at what purchase price or purchase prices to tender their Shares.

The Company expressly reserves the right, in its sole discretion, at any time and from time to time, to extend the period of time during which the Offer is open or to vary the terms and conditions of the Offer by giving written notice, or oral notice to be confirmed in writing, of extension or variation to Computershare Investor Services, Inc., the depositary for the Offer (the "Depositary"), and by causing the Depositary to provide to all shareholders, where required by law, as soon as practicable thereafter, a copy of the notice in the manner set forth in the Offer to Purchase. Promptly after giving notice of an extension or variation to the Depositary, but, in the case of an extension, no later than 9:00 A.M., Calgary time, on the next Business Day (defined herein as any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, a statutory holiday in Calgary, Alberta or Toronto, Ontario and a United States federal holiday) following the last previously scheduled or announced Expiration Date, the Company will make a public announcement of the extension or variation and provide or cause to be provided notice of such extension or variation to the TSX, NYSE American and the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authorities.

The Offer will expire at 5:00 P.M., Calgary time, on December 9, 2022, unless the Company exercises its right, in its sole discretion, to extend the period of time during which the Offer will remain open. Beneficial owners should be aware that their broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee may establish its own earlier deadlines for participation in the Offer. Accordingly, beneficial owners wishing to participate in the Offer should contact their broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee as soon as possible in order to determine the times by which such owner must take action in order to participate in the Offer.

In accordance with the instructions to the Letter of Transmittal, shareholders wishing to tender Shares must indicate whether he or she tenders Shares pursuant to an Auction Tender, a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender. If electing to tender his or her Shares pursuant to an Auction Tender, the tendering shareholder must specify the number of Shares that it wishes to sell and the price, not greater than C\$87.00 nor less than C\$72.50 per Share, at

which he or she is willing to sell his or her Shares to the Company in the Offer. All Shares tendered by a shareholder who fails to specify any Auction Tender price for its Shares, or fails to indicate that he or she has tendered its shares pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender or a Proportionate Tender, will be considered to have been tendered pursuant to a Purchase Price Tender. A shareholder who makes an invalid Proportionate Tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a Purchase Price Tender. Shareholders wishing to tender Shares must follow the procedures set forth in the Offer to Purchase, Issuer Bid Circular and in the related Letter of Transmittal (and, if applicable, the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery).

The Purchase Price will be payable in Canadian dollars; however, shareholders may elect to receive the Purchase Price in United States dollars as described in the Offer. The risk of any fluctuation in exchange rates, including risks relating to the particular date and time at which funds are converted, will be borne solely by the shareholder wishing to receive payment in United States dollars.

If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is less than or equal to the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price all Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders. If the Auction Tender Purchase Amount is greater than the Auction Tender Limit Amount, the Company will purchase a portion of the Shares so tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders, as follows:

- *first*, the Company will purchase all Shares tendered at or below the Purchase Price by shareholders who own fewer than 100 Shares (the "Odd Lot Holders") at the Purchase Price; and
- second, the Company will purchase at the Purchase Price on a pro rata basis that portion of the Shares tendered pursuant to Auction Tenders at or below the Purchase Price and Purchase Price Tenders having an aggregate purchase price, based on the Purchase Price, equal to (A) the Auction Tender Limit Amount, less (B) the aggregate amount paid by the Company for Shares tendered by Odd Lot Holders. Regardless of proration, the Company will always purchase at the Purchase Price, payable in cash (subject to applicable withholding taxes, if any), a number of Shares from shareholders making valid Proportionate Tenders that results in such tendering shareholders maintaining their respective proportionate Share ownership in the Company following completion of the Offer (subject to nominal differences due to the quantity of Shares purchased from such shareholders being rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares to avoid the purchase of fractional Shares). Shareholders making Proportionate Tenders will be prorated in a separate proration pool from Shareholders making Auction Tenders and/or Purchase Price Tenders. Such proration will be based on the number of Shares necessary for such Shareholders to maintain their existing ownership percentages.

Payment for Shares accepted for payment pursuant to the Offer will be made only after timely receipt by the Depositary of (i) the share certificates for all Shares proposed to be taken up in proper form for transfer, together with a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or a manually executed photocopy thereof) or, in the case of a book-entry transfer, a Book-Entry Confirmation or an Agent's Message (each as defined in the Offer to Purchase), as applicable, in lieu thereof relating to such Shares, with signatures that are guaranteed if so required in accordance with the Letter of Transmittal, and (ii) any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal.

In the event of proration of Shares deposited pursuant to the Auction Tenders and Purchase Price Tenders, the Company will determine the proration factor and pay for those deposited Shares accepted for payment as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date. However, the Company does not expect to be able to announce the final results of any such proration until approximately three (3) Business Days after the Expiration Date.

Deposits of Shares are irrevocable, except that Shares may be withdrawn by the shareholder (a) at any time if the Shares have not been taken up by the Company before actual receipt by the Depositary of a notice of withdrawal in respect of such Shares, (b) at any time before the expiration of ten (10) days from the date that a notice of change or variation (unless (i) the Company has taken up the Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer before the date of the notice of change or variation, or (ii) the variation consists solely of an increase in the consideration offered for those Shares pursuant to the Offer where the time for deposit is not extended for greater than ten (10) days) has been given

in accordance with the terms of the Offer to Purchase; or (c) at any time if the Shares have been taken up but not paid for by the Company within three (3) Business Days of being taken up.

For a withdrawal to be effective, a written or printed copy of a notice of withdrawal must be actually received by the Depositary by the applicable date specified above at the place of deposit of the relevant Shares. Any such notice of withdrawal must be signed by or on behalf of the person who signed the Letter of Transmittal or Notice of Guaranteed Delivery in respect of the Shares being withdrawn or, in the case of shares tendered in accordance with the procedures for book-entry transfer described in the Offer to Purchase, any notice of withdrawal must be signed by such participant in the same manner as the participant's name is listed on the applicable Book-Entry Confirmation or on the applicable Agent's Message, and must specify the name of the person who deposited the shares to be withdrawn, the name of the registered holder, if different from that of the person who deposited such shares, and the number of shares to be withdrawn. If the certificates for the Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer have been delivered or otherwise identified to the Depositary, then, prior to the release of such certificates, the depositing shareholder must submit the serial numbers shown on the particular certificates evidencing the shares to be withdrawn and the signature on the notice of withdrawal must be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution (as defined in the Offer to Purchase), except in the case of shares deposited by an Eligible Institution. All questions as to the form and validity (including time of receipt) of notices of withdrawal will be determined by the Company, in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding. None of the Company, the Depositary, RBC Capital Markets, as dealer manager (the "Dealer Manager"), or any other person shall be obligated to give any notice of any defects or irregularities in any notice of withdrawal and none of them shall incur any liability for failure to give any such notice.

Generally, if a shareholder is a Resident Shareholder (as defined in the Offer to Purchase), Shares will be considered to be capital property to the Resident Shareholder provided that the Resident Shareholder does not hold the Shares in the course of carrying on a business and has not acquired the Shares in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. A Resident Shareholder whose Shares might not otherwise qualify as capital property may, in certain circumstances, make an irrevocable election under subsection 39(4) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the "Tax Act") to have the Shares and every other "Canadian security", as defined in the Tax Act, owned by such Resident Shareholder in the taxation year of the election and in all subsequent taxation years deemed to be capital property. Resident Shareholders are advised to consult their own tax advisors to determine if this election is appropriate in their particular circumstances.

A Resident Shareholder who disposes of Shares pursuant to the Offer will be deemed to receive a taxable dividend on a separate class of shares comprising the Shares so sold equal to the excess of the amount paid by the Company for the Shares, being the Purchase Price, over their paid-up capital for purposes of the Tax Act. The Company estimates that on the Expiration Date the paid-up capital per Share should not exceed \$1.75 for purposes of the Tax Act. As a result, the Company expects that a Resident Shareholder who disposes of Shares under the Offer will be deemed to receive a taxable dividend. The exact quantum of the deemed dividend cannot be guaranteed.

A Non-Resident Shareholder (as defined in the Offer to Purchase) who disposes of Shares pursuant to the Offer will be deemed to receive a dividend equal to the excess of the amount paid by the Company for the Shares, being the Purchase Price, over their paid-up capital for Canadian income tax purposes. As a result, the Company expects that Non-Resident Shareholders who dispose of Shares under the Offer will be deemed to receive a dividend. The Company estimates that on the Expiration Date the paid-up capital per Share should not exceed \$1.75 for purposes of the Tax Act. The exact quantum of the deemed dividend cannot be guaranteed. Any such dividend will be subject to Canadian withholding tax at a rate of 25% or such lower rate as may be provided under the terms of an applicable Canadian tax treaty.

Generally, the purchase of shares from a shareholder that is a U.S. Holder (as defined in the Issuer Bid Circular) will be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a consequence of any such purchase, a U.S. Holder will, depending on the U.S. Holder's particular circumstances, be treated either as having sold its Shares or as having received a distribution in respect of such Shares.

All shareholders should read carefully the Offer to Purchase and the accompanying Issuer Bid Circular for additional information regarding the income tax consequences of participating in the Offer and should consult their financial and tax advisors.

The Board of Directors has approved the Offer. However, none of the Company, the Special Committee (as defined in the Offer to Purchase) or the Board of Directors, the Dealer Manager or the Depositary makes any recommendation to any shareholder as to whether to deposit or refrain from depositing Shares under the Offer. Shareholders are urged to evaluate carefully all information in the Offer, consult their own financial, legal, investment and tax advisors and make their own decisions as to whether to deposit Shares under the Offer, how many Shares to deposit and whether to specify a price and, if so, at what price to deposit such Shares. No director or officer of the Company has advised the Company that he or she intends to deposit Shares under the Offer.

The information required to be disclosed by Rule 13e-4(d)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is contained in the Offer to Purchase and is incorporated herein by reference. The Company is also filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission an Issuer Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO, which includes certain additional information relating to the Offer.

Copies of the Offer to Purchase, accompanying Issuer Bid Circular and the related Letter of Transmittal and Notice of Guaranteed Delivery are being mailed to all holders of the Shares, including brokers, dealers, commercial banks and trust companies whose names, or the names of whose nominees, appear on the Company's shareholder list or, if applicable, who are listed as participants in a clearing agency's security position listing for subsequent transmittal to beneficial owners of Shares. The Offer is explained in detail in those materials.

Questions or requests for assistance may be directed to the Depositary or the Dealer Manager, at their respective addresses, telephone numbers and emails, as applicable and as set forth below. Copies of the Offer to Purchase, accompanying Issuer Bid Circular, the Letter of Transmittal, the Notice of Guaranteed Delivery and other related materials will be furnished promptly by the Depositary at the Company's expense. Shareholders may also contact their broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee or trust company for assistance concerning the Offer.

# The Depositary for the Offer is:

# **Computershare Investor Services Inc.**

Regular Mail

Computershare Investor Services Inc. P.O. Box 7023 31 Adelaide Street East Toronto, ON M5C 3H2 Attention: Corporate Actions

By Registered Mail or Hand Carrier

100 University Avenue 8th Floor Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1 Attention: Corporate Actions

Telephone (outside North America): 1 (514) 982-7555 Toll-Free (within North America): 1 (800) 564-6253 Email: corporateactions@computershare.com

The Dealer Manager for the Offer is:

# **RBC Capital Markets**

Royal Bank Plaza, South Tower 200 Bay Street, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto, ON M5J2W7 Email: ImperialSIB@rbccm.com

November 4, 2022

# FORM 51-102F3

# MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT

# 1. Name and Address of Company:

Imperial Oil Limited ("**Imperial**" or the "**Company**") 505 Quarry Park Blvd, S.E. Calgary, Alberta T2C 5N1

# 2. Date of Material Change:

October 31, 2022

# 3. News Release:

The Company issued a press release on October 31, 2022, which was disseminated through the facilities of Business Wire and subsequently filed on SEDAR.

# 4. Summary of Material Change:

On October 31, 2022, the Company announced the terms of its substantial issuer bid (the "Offer") pursuant to which the Company will offer to purchase for cancellation up to C\$1,500,000,000 of its common shares (the "Shares"). Subject to obtaining certain exemptive relief under applicable securities laws in the United States, the Offer will proceed by way of a modified Dutch auction that includes the ability for shareholders to participate via a proportionate tender. The modified Dutch auction procedure will have a tender price range from C\$72.50 per Share to C\$87.00 per Share. Imperial has obtained routine exemptive relief from Canadian securities regulatory authorities with respect to the proportionate take-up and extension requirements of the Offer.

The Offer is expected to commence on November 4, 2022 and remain open for acceptance until 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 9, 2022, unless withdrawn, extended or varied by Imperial.

# 5. Full Description of Material Change:

On October 31, 2022, the Company announced the terms of the Offer pursuant to which the Company will offer to purchase for cancellation up to C\$1,500,000,000 of its Shares. Subject to obtaining certain exemptive relief under applicable securities laws in the United States, the Offer will proceed by way of a modified Dutch auction that includes the ability for shareholders to participate via a proportionate tender. The modified Dutch auction procedure will have a tender price range from C\$72.50 per Share to C\$87.00 per Share. Imperial has obtained routine exemptive relief from Canadian securities regulatory authorities with respect to the proportionate take-up and extension requirements of the Offer.

The Offer is expected to commence on November 4, 2022 and remain open for acceptance until 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 9, 2022, unless withdrawn, extended or varied by Imperial.

The Offer will be for up to approximately 3.4 percent of Imperial's total number of issued and outstanding Shares (based on a purchase price equal to the minimum purchase price per Share and 604,842,373 Shares issued and outstanding as at the close of business on October 31, 2022).

Exxon Mobil Corporation ("ExxonMobil"), Imperial's majority shareholder, advised Imperial that it will make a proportionate tender in connection with the Offer in order to maintain its proportionate Share ownership at approximately 69.6 percent following completion of the Offer.

Holders of Shares wishing to tender to the Offer may do so pursuant to: (i) auction tenders in which the tendering shareholders specify the number of Shares being tendered at a specified price of not less than C\$72.50 per Share and not more than C\$87.00 per Share in increments of C\$0.25 per Share; (ii) purchase price tenders in which they will not specify a price per Share, but will rather agree to have a specified number of Shares purchased at the Purchase Price, as defined below; or (iii) proportionate tenders in which they will agree to sell, at the Purchase Price, a number of Shares that will result in them maintaining their proportionate Share ownership in Imperial following completion of the Offer. Shareholders who validly tender Shares without specifying the method in which they are tendering their Shares, or who make an invalid proportionate tender, including by tendering an insufficient number of Shares, will be deemed to have made a purchase price tender. For purposes of determining the Purchase Price, shareholders who make, or who are deemed to have made, a purchase price tender will be deemed to have tendered their Shares at the minimum price of C\$72.50 per Share.

The purchase price to be paid by Imperial for each validly deposited Share taken up by the Company (the "Purchase Price") will be determined upon expiry of the Offer and will be based on the number of Shares validly deposited pursuant to auction tenders and purchase price tenders, and prices specified by shareholders making auction tenders. As a result, Imperial's shareholders who tender their Shares (other than ExxonMobil and shareholders who make proportionate tenders) will set the Purchase Price for the Offer. The Purchase Price will be the lowest price (which will not be less than C\$72.50 per Share and not more than C\$87.00 per Share) that enables the Company to purchase Shares up to the maximum amount available for auction tenders and purchase price tenders, determined in accordance with the terms of the Offer. Shares deposited at or below the Purchase Price as finally determined by Imperial will be purchased at such Purchase Price. Shares that will not be taken up in connection with the Offer, including Shares deposited pursuant to auction tenders at prices above the Purchase Price, will be returned to the shareholders.

If the aggregate purchase price for Shares validly tendered pursuant to auction tenders and purchase price tenders is greater than the amount available for auction tenders and purchase price tenders (after taking into consideration the proportionate tenders), Imperial will purchase Shares from the shareholders who made purchase price tenders or tendered at or below the Purchase Price as finally determined by Imperial on a pro rata basis, except that "odd lot" holders (shareholders who own fewer than 100 Shares) will not be subject to proration.

Imperial expects to mail the formal offer to purchase, issuer bid circular, letter of transmittal, notice of guaranteed delivery and other related documents (collectively, the "Offer Documents") containing the terms and conditions of the Offer, instructions for tendering Shares, and the factors considered by Imperial, the special committee of its board of directors (the "Special Committee") and its board of directors (the "Board of Directors") in determining to approve the Offer, among other considerations, on or about November 4, 2022. The Offer Documents will be filed with the applicable securities regulators in Canada and the United States and will be available free of charge on SEDAR at <a href="www.sec.gov">www.sec.gov</a>. Shareholders should carefully read the Offer Documents prior to making a decision with respect to the Offer.

The Offer will not be conditional upon any minimum number of Shares being tendered. The Offer will, however, be subject to other conditions described in the Offer Documents and Imperial will reserve the right, subject to applicable laws, to withdraw, extend or vary the Offer, if, at any time prior to the payment for deposited Shares, certain events occur.

The Board of Directors has approved the making of the Offer and the price range for the purchase of Shares thereunder upon the recommendation of the Special Committee. However, none of Imperial, the Special Committee, the Board of Directors, the dealer manager or the depositary makes any recommendation to any shareholder as to whether to deposit or refrain from depositing Shares under the Offer. Shareholders are urged to evaluate carefully all information in the Offer, consult their own financial, legal, investment and tax advisors and make their own decisions whether to deposit Shares under the Offer, how many Shares to deposit, whether to deposit Shares pursuant to the same tender option or different tender options and whether to specify a price or prices and, if so, at what price or prices to deposit such Shares.

This material change report does not constitute an offer to buy or the solicitation of an offer to sell Shares. An offer to buy the Shares will only be made pursuant to Offer Documents to be filed with the applicable securities regulators in Canada and the United States which remains subject to obtaining the necessary exemptive relief under applicable securities laws in the United States. The Offer will be optional for all shareholders, who will be free to choose whether to participate, how many Shares to tender and, in the case of auction tenders, at what price to tender within the specified range. Any shareholder who does not deposit any Shares (or whose Shares are not repurchased under the Offer) will realize a proportionate increase in equity interest in Imperial, to the extent that Shares are purchased under the Offer.

Imperial has retained RBC Capital Markets to act as financial advisor and dealer manager in connection with the Offer and Computershare Investor Services Inc. ("Computershare") to act as depositary. Any questions or requests for information may be directed to Computershare at 1 (800) 564-6253 (Toll Free within North America) or 1 (514) 982-7555 (outside North America) or to RBC Capital Markets as dealer manager for the Offer at <a href="mailto:ImperialSIB@rbccm.com">ImperialSIB@rbccm.com</a>.

# 6. Reliance of Subsection 7.1(2) of National Instrument 51-102:

Not Applicable

# 7. Omitted Information:

Not Applicable

# 8. Executive Officer:

For further information, please contact:

Ian Laing

Vice President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary

Telephone: (587) 476-3740

# 9. Date of Report:

November 4, 2022

# Forward-Looking and Cautionary Statements

Statements of future events or conditions in this release, including projections, expectations and estimates are forward-looking statements (collectively, "Forward-looking statements"). Forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as believe, anticipate, intend, propose, plan, expect, future, continue, likely, may, should, will and similar references to future periods. Forward-looking statements in this release include, but are not limited to, references to the aggregate amount of Shares to be purchased for cancellation under the Offer; the structure of the bid including a modified Dutch auction procedure and proportionate tender; the terms and conditions and tender price range; timing for mailing the Offer Documents, commencement and expiration; and ExxonMobil's intent to make a proportionate tender.

Forward-looking statements are based on the Company's current expectations, estimates, projections and assumptions at the time the statements are made. Actual future financial and operating results, including expectations and assumptions concerning demand growth and energy source, supply and mix; commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and general market conditions; production rates, growth and mix; project plans, timing, costs, technical evaluations and capacities, and the Company's ability to effectively execute on these plans and operate its assets; that the necessary exemptive relief to proceed with the Offer under applicable securities laws in the United States will be received on the timeline anticipated; ExxonMobil making a proportionate tender in connection with the Offer; progression of COVID-19 and its impacts on Imperial's ability to operate its assets; applicable laws and government policies, including restrictions in response to COVID-19; and capital and environmental expenditures could differ materially depending on a number of factors. These factors include global, regional or local changes in supply and demand for oil, natural gas, and petroleum

and petrochemical products and resulting price, differential and margin impacts, including foreign government action with respect to supply levels and prices and the impact of COVID-19 on demand; the receipt, in a timely manner, of regulatory approvals; availability and allocation of capital; unanticipated technical or operational difficulties; operational hazards and risks; availability and performance of third-party service providers, including in light of restrictions related to COVID-19; management effectiveness and disaster response preparedness, including business continuity plans in response to COVID-19; currency exchange rates; political or regulatory events, including changes in law or government policy in response to COVID-19; general economic conditions; and other factors discussed in Item 1A risk factors and Item 7 management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations of Imperial's most recent annual report on Form 10-K and subsequent interim reports on Form 10-Q.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve a number of risks and uncertainties, some that are similar to other oil and gas companies and some that are unique to Imperial. Imperial's actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by its Forward-looking statements and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on them. Imperial undertakes no obligation to update any Forward-looking statements contained herein, except as required by applicable law.

# SC TO (Form Type)

# **IMPERIAL OIL LIMITED**

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

# Table 1 - Transaction Valuation

	Transaction		Amount of
	Valuation	Fee rate	Filing Fee
Fees to Be Paid	\$1,099,050,000.00(1)	0.00011020	\$121,115.31
Fees Previously Paid			
<b>Total Transaction Valuation</b>			\$1,099,050,000.00
<b>Total Fees Due for Filing</b>			\$121,115.31
<b>Total Fees Previously Paid</b>			
<b>Total Fee Offsets</b>			
Net Fee Due			\$121,115.31

<sup>(1)</sup> The transaction value is estimated for purposes of calculating the amount of the filing fee only. The repurchase price of the Common Shares, as described in the Schedule TO, is C\$1,500,000,000. The repurchase price has been converted into U.S. dollars based on an exchange rate on October 31, 2022, as reported by the Bank of Canada, for the conversion of Canadian dollars into U.S. dollars of C\$1 equals US\$0.7327.